

Life After War: Education as a Healing Process for Refugee and War-Affected Children

2012



Manitoba Education Cataloguing in Publication Data

Life after war [electronic resource] : education as a healing process for refugees and war-affected children

ISBN: 978-0-7711-5319-8

1. Children and war—Psychological aspects.

2. Immigrant children-Education

3. Immigrant youth—Education.

- 4. Refugee children—Education.
- 5. Refugees—Education.
- 6. Youth and war-Psychological aspects.
- I. Manitoba. Manitoba Education.

371.82691

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{G}}$  2012, the Government of Manitoba, represented by the Minister of Education.

Manitoba Education School Programs Division Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

Every effort has been made to acknowledge original sources and to comply with copyright law. If cases are identified where this has not been done, please notify Manitoba Education. Errors or omissions will be corrected in a future edition. Sincere thanks to the authors, artists, and publishers who allowed their original material to be used.

All images found in this document are copyright protected and should not be extracted, accessed, or reproduced for any purpose other than for their intended educational use in this document.

Any websites referenced in this document are subject to change

Print copies of this resource can be purchased from the Manitoba Text Book Bureau (stock number 80682). Order online at <www.mtbb.ca>.

This resource is also available on the Manitoba Education website at <www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/diversity/educators/publications.html>.

Available in alternate formats upon request.

## Published by Manitoba Education 2012

This project is the result of the work of a network of immigrant and refugee serving agencies and organizations who felt that educators would benefit from support materials that dealt with the psychosocial and educational needs of children and youth from refugee and immigrant backgrounds. Manitoba Education wishes to thank Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism (formerly Manitoba Immigration and Labour) for providing the initial support for this document and the many individuals who contributed to its development. Many educators, advocates for immigrant and refugee communities in Manitoba, and professionals involved in social and health development have contributed to the development of this document. Most importantly, it has been inspired by the thousands of refugee children and families who have made Manitoba their new home in the last decade. Their courage, resiliency, and hopes and dreams have inspired educators and Manitobans from all walks of life and continue to do so.

## Acknowledgements

This document draws on Canadian, Australian, American, and international research, educational literature, and support materials that have been developed with the intent of improving the educational and life outcomes of children and young people who have been forced to seek asylum in or immigrate to distant lands because of war, conflict, and displacement. While best efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy of the information in this publication, readers are reminded that it is a guide only. It is important that teachers and other professionals using this resource remain vigilant to their professional responsibilities, and exercise their professional skill and judgement at all times.

### **Companion Publications**

Two companion documents have been published separately but were developed as part of this initiative. These are:

- Life After War: Professional Development, Agencies, and Community Supports
- War-Affected Children: A Comprehensive Bibliography

## Image Credits

© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. (cover, top left). Used with permission.

- © Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. (cover, top right). Used with permission.
- © Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. (cover, bottom left). Used with permission.
- © Goto, T. (photographer). 2012. (cover, bottom right). Used with permission.

## **Project Team and Contributors**

Project Leader/Writer	
Tony Tavares	Diversity Education and International Languages Consultant, Manitoba Education*
Writer (2011)	
Isle Slotin	EAL Specialist, Independent Consultant
Contributors and Advisors	
Rudy Ambtman	Psychologist, Former Director Manitoba Child Guidance Clinic
Joanna Blais	Director, Program and Student Services Branch, Manitoba Education*
Shari Block	Consultant, Program and Student Services Branch, Manitoba Education*
Darryl Gervais	Director, Instruction, Curriculum, and Assessment Branch, Manitoba Education*
Simi Jerez	Program Coordinator, Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism*
Paul Kambaja	Canada-Congo Charitable Foundation; Teacher, Grant Park High School
David Rice-Lampert	Formerly with Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism*
Claudette Laurie	English Language Arts Consultant, Bureau de l'éducation française, Manitoba Education*
Tim Mackay	Principal, Nordale School; Formerly Principal, René Deleurme Centre
Margot Morrish	Director Strategic Policy and Program Support, Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism*
Val Noseworthy	Middle Years Consultant, Manitoba Education*
Val Pierce	EAL/Literacy Teacher, Grant Park High School
Cindy Petriw	Teacher, Intensive Newcomer Support Centre, Renée Deleurme School
Liz Robinson	Director Integration Services, Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism*
Jan Stewart	Professor, University of Winnipeg
Diana Turner	EAL Consultant, Manitoba Education*
Georgina Vazquez	Policy and Program Analyst, Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism*
Jim Wolf	Talking Oaks Counselling Services
Jon Young	Professor, Faculty of Education, University of Manitoba

\* Please note that at the time of the collaboration between Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism and Manitoba Education, the departments were referred to as Manitoba Immigration and Labour and Manitoba Education, Citizenship and Youth, respectively.

## **Contents**

#### Introduction 1

How do issues concerning refugee and war-affected children fit into the current social, political, and educational context? 1

What is the purpose of this resource? 3

How is this document organized? 4

Companion documents 5

#### Part 1: Immigration and Settlement of Newcomers of Refugee Origins 6

What is the refugee situation worldwide? 6 What are some of the important trends in immigration to Manitoba? 7 What does the term "refugee" mean? 9

Why is it important to distinguish refugees from other immigrants? 10

How do refugees come to Canada and Manitoba? 10

What are some important facts about refugee immigration to Manitoba? 11

Where do refugees settle? 13

Do unaccompanied or orphaned youth resettle as refugees? 14

#### Part 2: The Effects of War and Resettlement 15

What do the terms trauma and child traumatic stress mean? 15

What is resiliency? What are protective and risk factors? 16

What are some of the common challenges refugees experience because of war or conflict? 20

What about refugee families and those left behind? 21

What are some of the common experiences and characteristics of refugee children and youth? 21

What role do religion and spirituality play? 26

Is there a model that may be helpful for understanding the major categories of challenges experienced by children who come to Canada from refugee backgrounds? 27

Why do we need to consider the whole child in developing supports for newcomer and refugee learners? 29

- What do we need to consider regarding the assessment of war-affected and English as an additional language learners? 31
- What are the elements of good educational practice with respect to learners from refugee and disrupted education backgrounds? 32
- What are some of the curriculum strategies and classroom practices that are appropriate for learners with EAL and disrupted education backgrounds? 37

#### Part 3: Supporting Student Success in the Classroom 40

What can schools and teachers do to strengthen resiliency? 40 What can we do to help learners overcome blocks to learning? 41 How do we recognize learners who need more robust and intensive interventions? 43 How do we assess levels of risk? 44 How should educators respond to disclosure? 45 What is the importance of play and creative activities? 46 How does storytelling help in the healing process? 48 Do after-school and summer programs matter? 50 What are some examples of promising initiatives for higher needs refugee learners? 51

What are some examples of promising initiatives from other jurisdictions? 53

#### Part 4: How do we support teachers and staff working with refugee children and families? 55

What is vicarious trauma? 55How do I know if I am experiencing vicarious trauma? 57What can I do to prevent burnout and vicarious trauma? 59What can our school do to prevent vicarious trauma or help people cope with it? 59

#### Part 5: Helping Refugee Children and Youth in Schools 61

How can we use a bioecological framework to support refugee and war-affected learners? 61 What do we need to consider in developing effective policies and plans for these learners? 65 What is a whole-school approach? 66 Why do we need a whole-school approach? 68 What is a refugee readiness school audit and how can it help us develop a school plan? 69

## Part 6: Learning More About Refugee and War-Affected Learners and Families—A Bibliography of Selected Web-Based and Text Resources 70

Child soldiers—Children and war 70 Children and creative interventions 73 Cultural diversity 74 Mental health and supports for war-affected children and families 75 Refugees: General information 78 Resiliency 79 Stories and literary resources by and about refugees 81 Schools helping students affected by trauma 84 Supporting refugee children and youth, programming models, and resources 88 Talking to children 93

Vicarious trauma, secondary trauma, and compassion fatigue 94

#### Blackline Masters 96

Blackline master 1: Common stress and protective factors affecting young people of refugee background 96 Blackline master 2: Common strengths and challenges reflected by immigrant youth 97 Blackline master 3: A planning checklist for schools, families, and communities 98

#### References 101

## Introduction

We can, whenever and wherever we choose, successfully teach all children whose schooling is of interest to us...we already know more than we need to do that. Whether or not we do it must finally depend on how we feel about the fact that we haven't so far. (Edmonds, 1979, p. 23)

# How do issues concerning refugee and war-affected children fit into the current social, political, and educational context?



iStock. Teacher and students in a classroom. File 3962686.

The multicultural face of Canada is constantly changing and evolving because of immigration and other societal and demographic factors. This document is in line with contemporary publications which have sought to raise the collective awareness of the changing nature of our diversity and the value of this diversity, through family and community traditions and experiences. Educators throughout Manitoba and in other jurisdictions have endeavoured to respond appropriately to the needs of an increasingly diverse student population in many schools. However, at times some have struggled with the reality of teaching in a context that is emotionally demanding and necessitates excellent cross-cultural and multilingual teaching skills and competencies.

Of the more than 43.7 million refugees and displaced persons globally in conflict or war zones, over half are children and young people. Canada is one of 16 countries with an established refugee resettlement program. This has resulted in up to16,000 refugee children and young adults (24 and under) resettling to Canada each year. During the 2006 to 2010 period, total refugee immigration to Canada ranged from 25,000 to 32,000 persons each year. Soon after arrival in Canada, school-aged children and youth enrol in the education system.

In many schools, newcomer families, children, and youth are often from refugee or war-affected origins or backgrounds. Many of these individuals come from refugee camps, or directly from war-affected communities or countries. These families come seeking a peaceful place to rebuild their lives and the opportunity to grow and flourish. They face many challenges in their quest, which tests their resiliency and ability to survive in their new social, cultural, and physical environments.

1 billion children are deprived of one or more services essential for survival and development 500 million – 1.5 billion children have been affected by war 18 million children are living with the affects of displacement From the <u>State of the World's Children</u> (2010) Executive Report, UNICEF

#### Every refugee I meet is my teacher. (R. Mollica, 2008)



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Although most schools in Manitoba have had experience with students from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, many have not yet worked with students of refugee or waraffected experience. While this document necessarily makes some generalizations about the experiences, culture, language, levels of education, and resettlement experiences of these students, it is important that students be treated as individuals with their own unique story and experiences.

Educators and others who work with students with refugee and war-affected experiences find it to be an enriching and fulfilling experience. Although the work can be challenging and complex,

the wealth of life skills, different perspectives, strong survival skills, and motivation that these students bring with them and demonstrate in the resettlement process is inspiring. In order to help meet the related challenges and to support students appropriately in acquiring a good education and rebuilding their lives, all school staff need a good understanding of these students' backgrounds and the possible influence of trauma on their learning.

> The terms trauma and child traumatic stress are defined in Part 2 of this document. Click here if you wish to see those definitions now.

Experience and research have gradually raised awareness of the short- and long-term effects of grief and trauma on families, which may affect several generations. This has led to many service providers focusing their attention on war-affected newcomer children and youth, and their families. While many Canadian families have experiences with trauma and grief issues in their family histories, remembrance of war and personal experiences as victims of torture or other forms of violence are very recent and relatively new for many newcomer families. Many come to Canada directly from present-day war and conflict zones and many have lived in camps for displaced persons for extensive periods. Not surprisingly, many have fresh memories of grief and losses that other Canadians have only seen in a more distant past.

Many students with refugee experiences have had their education extensively disrupted in their country of origin and education facilities in refugee camps are generally quite limited. In times of war and extensive civil conflict, schooling is all too often one of the first casualties. In light of these experiences and the many transitions these children and young people have undergone, their capacity for learning will be affected.

The challenges which await them upon arrival to Manitoba may include © Internews Network. March 3, 2006. Darfur an unfamiliar social system in which they need to find housing, medical facilities, employment or income support, and education. They may



Refugee Children Smile, CC license. <www.flickr.com/photos/internews/3311033079/>.

experience alienation, anxiety, malnutrition, and the complexities and interconnections of low socioeconomic status and poor health. They may have problems with literacy, numeracy, and other academic foundational knowledge and skills. In addition to such practical challenges, as many are coming from systems which may have been oppressive they will also need to develop trust and a feeling of safety in a new cultural context. Forced by persecution to leave their own countries and even

countries of asylum, they arrive in Manitoba with multiple losses, great personal changes, grief, traumatic stress, and very little information about Canada. Therefore, education is vital for newcomers with refugee experiences, whatever their age. For parents and older youth, first priorities may include: language support and training; finding employment (which often is not in their area of experience and expertise) to support the household after the initial sponsorship period ends; adapting and absorbing many clues as well as much information and learning through their exposure to the dominant culture.



© United Nations Photo. April 1, 1999. Kukes, Albania. UN Photo/x Kosovo refugees. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

For children and youth, their experiences at school and in the neighbourhood are their first introduction and experience of living in Canada. Sponsors, hosts, and settlement agencies provide much support at first and play an important role in easing the transition to school, and welcoming the children in their new schools. Newcomers from war-affected origins and backgrounds will benefit from educational initiatives that are inclusive, that recognize and respond to their educational needs, and that offer a welcoming environment.

However, while inclusive, welcoming, and positive school experiences will help with the integration of the new students and contribute to the healing, these alone are insufficient for many students coping with the damage caused by war and their refugee experiences. Unimaginable experiences of violence, loss, and grief leave deep wounds that take time to uncover and heal. In addition, new wounds are created by the stress, grief, and guilt that result from leaving behind surviving family members in refugee camps, in difficult and unsafe conditions, needing further sponsorship, or needing help to return to their country of origin. Not surprisingly, the path to self-sufficiency and a fulfilling new life for the family at times challenges the natural resiliency of children and youth. It is important to recognize that refugee and war-affected children and youth will reflect a spectrum of responses to the stress and traumatic events they experienced before and during resettlement. Many exhibit enormous resiliency, while others may be severely traumatized and exhibit a range of post-traumatic stress responses.

## What is the purpose of this resource?

*Life After War: Education as a Healing Process for Refugee and War-Affected Children* is a resource that seeks to help strengthen the capacity of school communities at all levels (early, middle, and senior years) to provide an appropriate and supportive school environment for refugee and war-affected learners and their families: an environment that will nurture their mental health and well-being, and that will enhance their educational and life outcomes. This resource provides a summary and a discussion of the research and the experiences of educators concerning the following:

- common experiences and needs of war-affected learners
- appropriate programming and practices
- promising programming models and strategies

This resource also promotes partnerships and collaboration between refugee families, immigrant and refugee serving organizations and agencies, and the school community.

It is intended to be a practical guide for educators working with and providing educational supports to newcomer students and families with war-affected backgrounds. It includes a summary of research and important information on newcomers from For information concerning EAL curriculum, see Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade 12 Curriculum Framework for English as an Additional Language (EAL) and Literacy, Academics, and Language (LAL). refugee and war-affected backgrounds and some practical ideas and suggestions for increasing school capacity and implementing appropriate programming, as well as a list of resources that are available to educators. It aspires to encourage and assist educators in creating new partnerships and circles of support and solidarity for war-affected families and children through grassroots programming that honours and respects newcomers and listens to their voices about their world, their needs, and their solutions.

## How is this document organized?



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 462320. January 24, 2011. Forobaranga, Sudan. UN Photo/Albert Gonzalez Farran. Darfur classroom. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

The document is divided into six parts.

- **Part 1: Immigration and Settlement of Newcomers of Refugee Origins** provides information on refugees worldwide and immigration and settlement patterns in Manitoba.
- Part 2: The Effects of War and Resettlement provides a summary of the effects of war, displacement, and resettlement on the mental health and general well-being of children and families. Resiliency as well as protective and risk factors are discussed. Finally, the major challenges facing newcomers, which may affect their ability to successfully integrate and learn, are explored.
- Part 3: Supporting Student Success in the Classroom provides some practical suggestions, ideas, and resources for schools and educators to consider in developing and improving school and classroom programming for newcomer children and youth from refugee and war-affected backgrounds. Topics covered include building resiliency; information on good practices and examples of promising programming; dealing with disclosure, storytelling; and the importance of after-school and summer programs.
- Part 4: Supporting Teachers and Staff Working with Refugee Children and Families discusses the impact on teachers and school staff of working with refugee and war-affected children.
- Part 5: Helping Refugee Children and Youth in Schools focuses on whole-school approaches, refugee readiness audits, and planning for action. Topics covered are whole-school approaches; building resiliency; information on good practices and examples of promising programming; dealing with disclosure, storytelling; and the importance of after-school and summer programs.
- Part 6: Learning More About Refugee and War-Affected Learners and Families provides information on web-based and other resources for educators wishing to continue their professional learning with respect to the topics and themes covered in this resource.

## Companion documents

Two companion documents have been published separately but were developed as part of this initiative. These are:

- Life After War: Professional Development, Agencies, and Community Supports
- War-Affected Children: A Comprehensive Bibliography



© Internews Network. August 8, 2011. Information assessment in Dadaab. CC license. <www.flickr.com/photos/internews/6141261925/>.

## Part 1: Immigration and Settlement of Newcomers of Refugee Origins

## What is the refugee situation worldwide?

According to the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees <u>A Year of Crises: UNHCR Global</u> <u>Trends 2011</u> report:

• By the end of 2011, **42.5 million people were forcibly displaced worldwide** because of conflict and persecution. This represented a small drop of 0.8 million from 2010. Of these, 15.2 million were refugees, 26.4 million were internally displaced persons (IDPs), and 895,000 were individuals seeking asylum whose applications had not yet been decided by the end of the reporting period.



- The year 2011 was notable for a series of major refugee crises resulting from conflicts in Côte d'Ivoire, Libya, Somalia, and Sudan, which forced more than 800,000 refugees to seek asylum in neighbouring countries, the highest number in over a decade. In total, 4.3 million people were newly displaced in 2011.
- Some **7.1 million refugees were stuck in protracted situations** at the end of 2011, just a small drop from 2010 (7.2 million). They were living in 26 different countries.
- **Developing countries hosted four-fifths of the world's refugees.** The 48 Least Developed Countries provided asylum to almost 2.3 million refugees.
- Females constituted 48 % of the world's refugees, as well as 50 % of all IDPs and returnees. Children below the age of 18 accounted for 46% of refugees and 34 % of asylum-seekers.
- During 2011, UNHCR submitted to various nations more than 92,000 refugee cases for resettlement, with 62,000 departing with UNHCR assistance. Canada settled 27,877 refugees and Manitoba settled 1303 refugees (representing 6 per cent of Canada's government-assisted and 14 per cent of Canada's privately sponsored refugees).
- Worldwide, more than 876,100 people submitted an individual application for asylum or refugee status in 2011, an increase of 30,300 from 2010.
- Globally, more than 17,700 asylum applications were lodged by unaccompanied or separated children in 69 countries in 2011. The applications came mostly from Afghan and Somali children. This represented an increase of 2,100 applications from 2010.

(United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2011a)

### What are some of the important trends in immigration to Manitoba?\*

Since 2002, Manitoba has received approximately 104,000 immigrants, of which 15,942 arrived in 2011. Of these, 12,342 came as provincial nominees, 1,419 came as family class, 1303 came as refugees (444 government-assisted and 795 privately sponsored), 809 came as skilled workers/federal economic class, and 89 came that did not fall under any of these four groups.



#### IMMIGRATION TO MANITOBA IN THE PAST DECADE

#### **Composition of Immigration to Manitoba**

Manitoba's immigrants are from diverse origins. In 2011, 68 % of Manitoba's new permanent residents arrived from Asia and the Pacific; however, immigration from Africa and the Middle East represented 17 % of the new residents and surpassed immigration from Europe and the United Kingdom (9 %). (See page 12 for top source countries for refugees.)



\* Statistics and charts on pages 7 and 8 were provided by Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism.

Immigrants to Manitoba are much younger than the average population and an almost equal number of men and women immigrate on an annual basis. In 2011, the median age of immigrants was 28 years while the median age of Manitobans was 38.4 years (2011 Census).



#### MANITOBA PERMANENT RESIDENTS BY AGE AND GENDER - 2011

For more Canadian immigration facts and statistics, see <<u>www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/menu-fact.asp</u>>. For more Manitoba immigration facts and statistics, see <<u>www.gov.mb.ca/labour/immigration/publications.html</u>>.

#### What does the term refugee mean?

Today, to be recognized as having refugee status, a person must have left his or her own country or be unable to return to it "owing to a well-founded fear of persecution for reason of race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group or political opinion."

#### (United Nations, 1951)

"A child soldier is any person under 18 years of age who is part of any kind of regular or irregular armed force or armed group in any capacity, including but not limited to cooks, porters, messengers and anyone accompanying such groups, other than family members. The definition includes girls recruited for sexual purposes and for forced marriage. It does not, therefore, only refer to a child who is carrying or has carried arms."

#### (UNICEF, 1997)

A *Refugee claimant* is a person who has made a claim for protection in Canada as a refugee. This term is more or less equivalent to the term asylum-seeker, which is often used internationally. A refugee claimant therefore is someone whose legal status as a refugee in Canada awaits determination and may or may not be a refugee. Refugee claimants in Canada are eligible for basic social assistance and emergency health care.

(Canadian Council for Refugees)



© United Nations Photo. December 1, 2001. Roghani Refugee Camp, Chaman, Pakistan. UN Photo/Luke Powell. Afghan refugees. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

The term *refugee*, which in legal terms has a specific meaning, is used throughout this resource.

A "refugee claimant" is someone who has crossed an international border in search of safety and wishes to be legally recognized as being a refugee. A refugee claimant must undergo a legal process to determine whether they should be considered a refugee and be given asylum in the receiving country. Having come of their own initiative, a refugee claimant must meet the same criteria as all refugees in order to stay.

In this resource, we use the term refugee as well as "war-affected". By war-affected, we generally refer to those who may not legally be recognized as being a refugee but have had similar experiences and whose lives have been significantly affected and disrupted by war and conflict. The term *war-affected* includes children and youth who may have been child soldiers and those who experienced internal displacement, violence, deprivation of food and shelter, sexual assault, abduction, and/or psycho-social trauma as a result of war and conflict.

## Why is it important to distinguish refugees from other immigrants?

The distinction between refugees and other migrants is an important one. While other migrant groups arrive with their families as a matter of choice, refugees arrive through no choice of their own. While other migrants freely choose to come to Canada, refugees were forced to leave their homes and countries and arrive carrying the scars of their experiences that drove them into flight. Many young refugees come with emotional, physical, and psychological developmental difficulties. They may have undergone a number of traumatic experiences before arriving in Canada, including torture and trauma, persecution, violent civil discord, arbitrary abductions, sexual abuse, the loss of loved ones, imprisonment, disease and starvation, or periods spent in refugee camps or Third World countries.

The refugee experience may have a detrimental and powerful impact on a young person's ability to learn. For many young refugees, issues of grief, loss and trauma have a profound effect and may result in depression and emotional problems. For some there may be loss of trust toward adults and officials. The effects of torture and trauma overlay with experiences of culture shock resulting in anxiety, anger, depression, and social isolation. Taking into consideration what effects the experiences of pre- and post-displacement for a refugee child or youth is the beginning point for developing supports for the learner.

## How do refugees come to Canada and Manitoba?



© UNHCR. Redfern, J. November 21, 2008. Playing children. <www.flickr.com/photos/unhcr/3048228986/in/set-72157609627549530/>. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Most refugee newcomers in Manitoba come to Canada through government, private group, or family sponsorship. War-affected persons, who share some refugee-like experiences, may also enter under one of these streams of migration. Newcomers who have been sponsored through one of these sponsor groups arrive in Canada as "landed immigrants." In other words, they have all the rights and privileges of any other immigrant who has been accepted by Canada. Along with the many resources of settlement agencies in Manitoba, there will likely be volunteer supporters or hosts; a small sponsorship group (often from a faith community); and for some, family members or friends, and community associations of those who have arrived earlier from the same countries or ethnic groups. Financial sponsorship from

family, government, or the sponsoring community usually lasts for the first year. This period of sponsorship is usually a time of more intensive support from refugee serving agencies and sponsors.

*Refugee claimants* are another source of refugee immigration to Canada. In 2010, there were **102,124** refugee claimants in Canada and **473** in Manitoba (Citizenship and Immigration Canada, 2011). Refugee claimants are allowed to remain in Canada on a temporary basis (Minister's permit) until their request to be recognized as refugees has been completed and a determination of their status is made. Usually, some restrictions are placed on the refugee claimants and they do not have all the same rights as *a landed immigrant* or other citizen of Canada. However, school-age children are eligible to be enrolled in the school system during the refugee determination process.

Refugee claimants who are deemed not to meet the requirements for refugee status and have exhausted all legal avenues of appeal will usually be deported back to their country of origin. Conversely, refugee claimants who are determined to meet the criteria for refugee status will then be granted permission to remain in Canada as a landed immigrant.

## What are some important facts about refugee immigration to Manitoba?\*

The section that follows provides an overview of trends and information pertaining to refugees who arrived in Manitoba in a given period. The information was used with permission of Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism.



In 2011, 6 per cent of Canada's government-assisted refugees (GARs) (444) and 14 per cent of Canada's privately sponsored refugees (PSRs) (795) settled in Manitoba.

Note that some provincial nominees may be affected by war or displaced because of conflict or other events prior to arriving in Canada; however, they do not immigrate with refugee status.

Government-assisted refugees (GARs) are selected abroad for resettlement to Canada as convention refugees under the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act or as members of the Convention Refugees Abroad Class and receive resettlement assistance from the federal government (CIC).



\* Statistics and charts on pages 11, 12, and 13 were provided by Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism.



Manitoba: Government-Assisted Refugees										
	2009		2010		2011					
AGE GROUP	male	female	male	female	male	female				
0 to 4	21	25	21	26	18	26				
5 to 9	35	33	37	22	27	30				
10 to 14	40	37	30	28	27	23				
15 to 19	40	38	25	36	24	27				
20 to 24	30	23	29	26	34	27				
25 to 29	13	20	17	28	22	22				
30 to 34	15	21	14	19	18	13				
35 to 39	14	16	12		12	18				
40 to 44	8	12	10	11	11	12				
45 to 49		11	11	14	11	8				
50+	21	13	23	17	15	19				

In 2011, 51 per cent of all GARs were female and, of these, 47 per cent were under 19 years of age. During the 2009–2011 period, 865 GARs of 0 to 24 years of age settled in Manitoba.

Privately sponsored refugees (PSRs) are selected for resettlement in the Convention refugee abroad class, the source country class, or the country of asylum class and are privately sponsored by organizations, individuals, or groups of individuals.



In 2011, 40 per cent of the PSRs were female and 28 per cent of all PSRs were under 19 years of age. During the 2009–2011 period, 884 PSRs of 0 to 24 years of age settled in Manitoba.

Manitoba: Privately Sponsored Refugees									
	2009		2010		2011				
AGE GROUP	male	female	male	female	male	female			
0 to 4	30	22	35	21	35	36			
5 to 9	27	25	22	21	28	24			
10 to 14	32	27	16	20	24	28			
15 to 19	24	17	22	10	32	22			
20 to 24	31	26	36	31	68	42			
25 to 29	65	38	46	41	93	60			
30 to 34	54	31	45	31	94	43			
35 to 39	30	28	41	14	58	24			
40 to 44	12	9	24	11	34	19			
45 to 49	14	7	9	8	8	9			
50+	16	11	6		5	9			

## Where do refugees settle?



© Afghani youth voices. August 11, 2011. DSC00459. <www.flickr.com/photos/afghanyouthvoices/6045268716/ in/set-72157627436908300/>. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Initially, newcomers may have little choice as to where they may settle, as their destination is largely dependent on being accepted by the host country and finding suitable sponsorship. Newcomers will be attracted to countries and areas where a community of compatriots or members of their ethnic, cultural, linguistic, or faith group exist, or where other family members have settled. Often, refugees apply to several countries to be accepted for sponsorship.

Once they arrive in the host country, they initially settle in areas determined by the host country. It is not uncommon for newcomers to move frequently after settling in a new city or community as they seek better conditions or move to be closer to employment, family members, or ethnic/community facilities and services.

Refugee settlement agencies and sponsoring groups provide some assistance in helping refugees to settle. Orientation sessions are offered and settlement workers and volunteers help refugees find housing and initial employment, and also help them register students in schools and access other essential services. English as an Additional Language classes are delivered by a variety of agencies. There are also support groups and other services. Short-term financial assistance for housing and essential services is provided by government or community sponsors to assist in the settlement process.

As refugees settle and begin to become more familiar with the social, health, and educational systems, refugee families and individuals are expected to become more independent and to access services from mainstream institutions and service providers.

## Do unaccompanied or orphaned youth resettle as refugees?



 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Because of safety concerns, some children are brought to Canada without their parents. These youth may be immigrating independently or as orphans. While their numbers are relatively small, they are a real presence in our schools and communities, and must be considered. In some countries, children and youth are conscripted into training for military indoctrination and duties, and some become child soldiers. They may have great difficulty in locating family again. Many more have lost parents who died or disappeared while fleeing dangers. Some have witnessed their parent's deaths due to war, illness, or

dangerous circumstances. Families have been separated because of individuals belonging to persecuted groups in their countries of origin and, at times, on the willingness of both parents to come to yet another country of asylum. Some come with the hope of reunification in Canada, but, this is delayed because parents are applying from different countries.

Such children and youth may have special circumstances, such as foster parenting by other family members and sponsorship with fostering as part of the financial and living arrangements in Manitoba. Unaccompanied youth may require specialized, supportive housing that takes into account all of the pressures upon them in the adaptation and settlement process.

Finding affordable room and board and networks of special support may make a crucial difference for completing educational goals.



© United Nations Photo. December 23, 2009. Abu Shouk, Sudan. UN Photo/Albert Gonzalez Farran. Children at IDP Camp playful during UNAMID patrol. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

"I think about what I have been through and this gives me more determination to do well in life." A 19 year-old male former child soldier from Kono (just promoted to his final year of secondary school)

(Betancourt, 2011, p. 37)

For information on the Government of Canada's current policies concerning health and other services for refugees see <<u>www.cic.gc.ca/english/refugees/outside/arriving-healthcare.asp</u>>. However, the document *Working With Immigrant Communities: A Guide for Service Providers* (2008) is still helpful. The resource is available online at <<u>www.serc.mb.ca/resource-library/working-immigrant-communities-guide-service-providers-improving-access-project-2008</u>>.

## Part 2: The Effects of War and Resettlement

### What do the terms trauma and child traumatic stress mean?

For the purpose of this document, we have adopted the definition of trauma and child traumatic stress of the National Child Traumatic Stress Network (NCTSN) as found in the NCTSN resource: Defining Trauma and Child Traumatic Stress. Retrieved from <<u>www.nctsnet.org/content/defining-trauma-and-child-traumatic-stress</u>>. For ease of reference, the definitions are reproduced in this document exactly as they appear on the NCTSN website.

#### Trauma

Children and adolescents experience trauma under two different sets of circumstances.

Some types of traumatic events involve (1) experiencing a serious injury to yourself or witnessing a serious injury to or the death of someone else, (2) facing imminent threats of serious injury or death to yourself or others, or (3) experiencing a violation of personal physical integrity. These experiences usually call forth overwhelming feelings of terror, horror, or helplessness. Because these events occur at a particular time and place and are usually short-lived, we refer to them as **acute traumatic events**. These kinds of traumatic events include the following:

- School shootings
- Gang-related violence in the community
- Terrorist attacks
- Natural disasters (for example, earthquakes, floods, or hurricanes)
- Serious accidents (for example, car or motorcycle crashes)
- Sudden or violent loss of a loved one
- Physical or sexual assault (for example, being beaten, shot, or raped)

In other cases, exposure to trauma can occur repeatedly over long periods of time. These experiences call forth a range of responses, including intense feelings of fear, loss of trust in others, decreased sense of personal safety, guilt, and shame. We call these kinds of trauma **chronic traumatic situations**. These kinds of traumatic situations include the following:

- Some forms of physical abuse
- Long-standing sexual abuse
- Domestic violence
- Wars and other forms of political violence

#### **Child Traumatic Stress**

Child traumatic stress occurs when children and adolescents are exposed to traumatic events or traumatic situations, and when this exposure overwhelms their ability to cope with what they have experienced.

Depending on their age, children respond to traumatic stress in different ways. Many children show signs of intense distress—disturbed sleep, difficulty paying attention and concentrating, anger and irritability, withdrawal, repeated and intrusive thoughts, and extreme distress—when confronted by anything that reminds them of their traumatic experiences. Some children develop psychiatric conditions such as posttraumatic stress disorder, depression, anxiety, and a variety of behavioural disorders.

While some children "bounce back" after adversity, traumatic experiences can result in a significant disruption of child or adolescent development and have profound long-term consequences. Repeated exposure to traumatic events can affect the child's brain and nervous system and increase the risk of low academic performance, engagement in high-risk behaviours, and difficulties in peer and family relationships. Traumatic stress can cause increased use of health and mental health services and increased involvement with the child welfare and juvenile justice systems. Adult survivors of traumatic events may have difficulty in establishing fulfilling relationships, holding steady jobs, and becoming productive members of our society. Fortunately, there are effective treatments for child traumatic stress.

National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (n.d.). *Defining Trauma and Child Traumatic Stress*. Reproduced from <<u>www.nctsnet.org/content/defining-trauma-and-child-traumatic-stress</u>>.

## What is resiliency? What are protective and risk factors?

Children and youth may be particularly prone to dangers and traumatic experiences in times of war. After experiencing trauma, it is normal for them to manifest strong emotional and even physical reactions; however, with time these usually diminish. Refugee children and youth's short and long-term responses to traumatic events are complex and variable factors may influence a newcomer's psychological wellbeing. Furthermore, refugee children and youth also have resources to draw upon (resiliency) which ensure that they are seldom overcome by a single traumatic event.

Following are some of the factors that affect how they will come to terms with their traumatic experiences and being a refugee:

- the duration and intensity of traumatic events
- the child's age
- the child's personality and character
- the quality of child care
- the refugee youth's experience in a new country

#### Resilience

- Resilience is a dynamic process characterized by positive development in spite of significant adversity.
- Severe adversity does not necessarily have a major or lasting effect on adaptive behaviours.
- Maladaptive profiles emerge when adversity is high and protective resources are weak.
- Low protective resources rather than adversity in itself result in maladaptation.

(Montgomery, 2010, pp. 477-489)

Some factors—adverse or risk factors—make it more likely that problems will arise. Protective or success factors help safeguard a child against psychological distress.

While the number and severity of the traumatic events children may experience are important, they do not necessarily result in worse psychological outcomes. Many war-affected children that have experienced high numbers of traumatic incidents demonstrate high levels of resilience and do not develop lasting patterns of distress (Bonanno and Mancini, 2008). Conversely, for some, the experience of even one incident of severe war-related violence or sexual assault may constitute a profoundly traumatic and life-altering event (American Psychological Association, 2010).

Resilience in children has been conceptualized in various ways. One definition of resilience is health despite adversity (Masten, 2001). However, there is an emerging, more dynamic conceptualization of resilience which emphasizes that resiliency is a process. From this perspective, resilience is the outcome or result of negotiations between individuals and their environments that allows them to access the psychological, social, cultural, and physical resources that may sustain their well-being in situations or conditions commonly and collectively viewed as adverse (Ungar, 2008).

A resilient child will perform competently and has the ability to adapt under stress, especially in the context of severe hardships and disadvantageous life circumstances (Crawford et al, 2005). From this perspective, resilience is not a personal characteristic or trait but, rather, the **individual's response to adversity** (Luthar and Cicchetti, 2000) and ability to draw on environmental and other protective factors. Resilience is a measure of the way children use and develop their resources to positively respond and adapt to life situations and challenges (Yates, Egeland, and Sroufe, 2003).



iStock. Suriname, pointing at a globe. File 12349372.

The following three types of factors are commonly considered important with respect to resiliency and protecting the child from developing maladaptive behaviours and patterns:

- individual factors such as experiences, personality, intelligence, sociability, effective coping strategies, and other characteristics of the child
- relational factors such as a supportive family environment, close relationships, interpersonal interactions over time, cohesion, structure, emotional support, secure attachment, and a close bond to at least one caregiver
- social factors or external support factors such as positive, appropriate teaching and learning experiences; close affirmative relationships (good peer relations and positive relations with other adults); an external social group with a supportive ethos and behavioural style

(Rutter, 2000; Masten, 2001; Fraser, 2004; Waaktaar & Christie, 2000; Waaktarr, 2004; Luthar & Cicchetti, 2000; Werner & Smith, 1992)



(Eggerman and Panter-Brick, 2010)

While research related to immigrant children and families has demonstrated and identified the adverse factors related to exposure to war-related trauma (armed conflict, displacement, and resettlement) and their consistent links or relationships between children's development and overall psychological wellbeing, the research is relatively limited regarding the protective factors, positive experiences, and coping strategies of these children and youth.

There is, however, a variety of research related to protective factors drawn upon by non-immigrant children. As a result, "resiliency theory" that draws on this research has become the cornerstone for building programming for youth from a 'strengths' perspective or approach. A 'strengths' approach focuses on working with clients to identify and build upon the strengths, skills, and resources that they bring to their situation. While this research on non-immigrant children is valuable as a beginning point to understand the strengths paradigm, the application to immigrant and refugee children is less clear. The lack of research on resiliency with regard to immigrant, refugee, and war-affected children limits the possibilities of applying this approach in designing policy and programming.

Nevertheless, the small body of work that has emerged concerning the resiliency, mental well-being, and coping skills of immigrant, refugee, and war-affected youth is promising (Ahearn and Athey, 1991; McEwen, 2007; National Child Traumatic Stress Network, 2003). There is emerging recognition in the literature and from clinical experience that war-affected children demonstrate tremendous resilience (Garmezy, 1988; Klingman, 2002). In addition , there is an increasing interest in the research about the idea that biological processes caused by access to love and continuous and personalized care in a child's development are of great importance for the long-term development of health and well-being (Cloninger, 2004; Gerhardt 2004; Lewis et al, (2001).



iStock. Portrait Hmong baby. File 11517549.

For a summary of protective and risk factors, click on the following link: <u>Blackline Master 1:</u> <u>Common Stress and Protective Factors Affecting Young People of Refugee Background</u>.

There is still much to learn about the multiple factors, in addition to exposure to trauma, that contribute to both risk and resilience in the adjustment of refugee children and families over time (Betancourt and Kahn, 2008).

Nevertheless, when working with immigrant and refugee children and youth, it is important to identify risk factors and it is equally important to identify the protective factors that are present in the family, peer group, and school environment. This perspective has shifted the focus away from individual deficits to individual strengths, competencies, and capacities and is a critical step in understanding resilience within the context of the individual and the family (Brooks, 1994).



iStock. Outdoor portrait of young cheerful attractive Indian mother and daughter. File 5455952.

Another aspect of resiliency is the cultural and religious resources that children and youth have available to them that help mediate their experiences of a crisis and aid in their recovery from devastating loss. An appreciation of such resources should form the basis of psychosocial responses and protection mechanisms for immigrant and refugee youth.

The anthropology of hope also links well-being with social structures, but receives comparatively less attention. Ideologies of hope have significance for individual and collective resilience, social identity, and social dynamics across successive generations... Hage (2003) forcefully argued that in contexts of marked inequality, society is a mechanism not only for the distribution of social opportunities, but also for the distribution of social hope: access to resources reduces or encourages dreams of social mobility. Such hope is about "one's sense of the possibilities that life can offer... Its enemy is a sense of entrapment, of having nowhere to go, not a sense of poverty." (Eggerman and Panter-Brick, 2010, p. 20)

The ability to cope with trauma and misfortune is often promoted through cultural training in resilience and risk management during adolescence. Ceremonial traditions that focus on transitions from childhood, as an example, can prove to be a source of strength in times of crisis. For example, research related to the mental health of unaccompanied Somalia children demonstrated that the protective factors mitigated the effects of war.

"Interviews conducted with young Somali refugees living in three cities in Canada (Montreal, Ottawa, and Toronto) highlighted the sources of resilience and protection. The Somalis' experiences are an accumulation of nomadic tradition, beliefs, and myths as well as exile and migration to the West. For the young Somalis, forced exile was not benign. However, in the context of their traditional upbringing, which includes sending boys off to learn about nomadic pastoral existence, the experience of exile becomes less weighted with negative attributes. Moreover, young Somalis' capacity to recuperate quickly from exile was attributed by the interviewees to their training, from an early age, to survive in harsh conditions away from home." (Rousseau, Said, Gagné, and Bibeau, 1998)

For many children, religion or spirituality is a central part of their identity, and the associated beliefs, practices and social networks offer important tools for coping with adversity. Children learn to manage stress or come to terms with grief through praying. A sense of personal security and well-being may be restored by appealing to the belief that a wise and benevolent creator is in control of their fate. Some children

are encouraged to find meaning in suffering and

see it as an opportunity for growth or redemption. Religion and spirituality also provide specific activities for actively coping with stress and loss, such as prescribed mourning and burial rituals. Finally, religious institutions often provide children with their first point of contact with the larger community and serve to welcome them fully into the social world of their family, community, and society (Wessells and Strang, 2006).

## A 2009 report, *Silent Suffering: The psychosocial impact of war*, *HIV and other high-risk situations on girls and boys in West and*

*HIV and other high-risk situations on girls and boys in West and Central Africa*, on a five-country study by Plan International and Family Health International (FHI) provides some important insights concerning resiliency. The study examined some of West Africa's most vulnerable children and provided some evidence of the factors that build resiliency, even in the harshest and most violent conditions. The researchers interviewed more than 1,000 adolescents in Cameroon, Burkina Faso, Sierra Leone, Liberia, and Togo. Their aim was to assess the mental health and psychological needs of the children, and the protective factors that allowed these children to cope with often extreme and difficult experiences. Many of the children that were part of the study had experienced conflict, human trafficking, or the loss of a parent. This is what they found:



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 20834. June 12, 2003. Harar, Ethiopia. UN Photo/Eskinder Debede. Primary school classroom. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

"Our study illustrated several internal or individual factors that build up and maintain the resilience of children and help them to carry on even in circumstances of long-lasting and extreme adversity. Besides hope, dreams and faith [...], these factors were:

- self-esteem
- feeling in control
- a sense of belonging
- connection to community values

In addition to the internal factors, there were different external factors at [a] family or community level that make children strong. These were:

- a solid relationship with a caregiver
- relationships with peers
- sufficient food, clothing, shelter
- access to education and healthcare
- a close link to their culture, and participation in traditional rituals"

(Morgan and Behrendt, 2009)

Over the past decade, children were conscripted into armed forces and armed groups in 87 countries...

At any given time, approximately 250,000-300,000 children are involved in armed forces worldwide...

(Betancourt, 2011, p. 8)

# What are some of the common challenges refugees experience because of war or conflict?



© United Nations Photo. May 1, 1998. Borkeza, Liberia. U Photo/John Isaac. Refugees in Liberia. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

Refugees face many challenges because of their experiences with war and conflict, their forced displacement, their flight from war or persecution, and their resettlement experiences. They often have suffered significant disruption, trauma, and stress prior to being forced out of their homes or communities. Access to schools, shelter, and food may be very limited during their displacement or flight. Forced displacement or flight may be very arduous physically and emotionally. Deprivation of food, shelter, medical care, and other necessities, as well as exposure to parasites and disease, are quite common during displacement or flight. Refugees have often experienced severe physical and emotional stressors and children are increasingly recruited and used by armed groups

and armies. Torture and other forms of physical and psychological abuse are common before and during flight, and sometimes even after flight in initial places of asylum.

Refugee camps or temporary places of asylum may offer only minimal services and support. Some camps are not secure and may be quite violent. Refugees may be repeatedly traumatized or subjected to violence and deprivation of the necessities of life.

## What about refugee families and those left behind?

As defined earlier, refugees are people who have survived persecution in their home countries. For those who manage to flee from war, their recent experiences may still have been horrific. Although many are grateful to be alive and given asylum in a peaceful country, they may face many stresses related to Canada's immigration and settlement policies, and issues related to family members left behind.

Newcomers who have found safety in Manitoba often feel a great responsibility for missing family members or those left behind or in other places of asylum. One of the primary stressors resettled refugees face is the constant reminders of the difficulties that family and close ones left behind may be experiencing. This is especially true in our contemporary world where international news coverage and communication technologies allow for almost instantaneous information about major events, famines, catastrophes, and conflicts. Children, parents, and extended family members left behind may be living in difficult circumstances in refugee camps, other countries of asylum, or in the country or region of conflict from which the newcomers fled in the first place.

Another stressor is the difficulties that may occur in reunification with family members left behind. The process for reunification may be quite difficult with many delays and disappointments. Newcomers may find it difficult, at least initially, to meet financial and other criteria for sponsoring family members left behind. Unaccompanied youth must reach the age of 18 years before sponsoring their parents and other family members when no other sponsorship assistance can be found. Many individuals and families send their limited surplus funds to family members left behind as part of their loyalty and personal support. Some newcomers do without food and clothing and adequate shelter to help family members and friends. Family resources often thin out after the initial immigration support allowances conclude and the full expense for rental accommodation is born by the newcomer family. Additionally, refugees are expected to begin repaying the airfare and medical check-up loan from the federal government within the first year of arrival.

For others, looking for, finding, and contacting family members that may have survived but whose whereabouts are unknown are a major and ongoing concern. In times of conflict and civil breakdown, families are often separated and information about each family member's status and survival may be difficult, if not impossible to obtain. Years may pass before accurate information may become available and families are able to establish contact.

# What are some of the common experiences and characteristics of refugee children and youth?



© United Nations Photo. June 8, 2009. Kabul, Afghanistan. UN Photo/Fardin Waezi. Afghan primary school children attend classes. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

In this section, a number of experiences and characteristics common to many children and youth from refugee backgrounds are discussed. While these generalizations are useful, it is important to recognize that refugees are a diverse group who have a wide range of educational, social, and political histories; individual experiences; and personal characteristics, which determine their short-term and long-term needs. There are four common experiences or challenges that refugee children and youth experience.

#### Interrupted schooling and experience in camps

The majority of young people from refugee backgrounds enrolling in Manitoba's schools will have experienced some disruption to their education prior to arrival in Canada. Some will have experienced the difficult, often insecure and harsh conditions in refugee camps. They are almost certain to have been exposed to disease, malnutrition, lack of medical care, and high levels of stress. It is also equally certain that they will not have had adequate, appropriate, and continuous access to schooling in their countries of origin and of asylum. Disruption in their schooling is a direct result of their refugee experience and the longer the disruptions and the absence of the most basic of services and conditions, the greater the likelihood that their lives have been broken by war and displacement. Therefore, it is critically important that educators and service providers understand that low levels of education among young Canadians from refugee backgrounds typically correlate with long-term exposure to traumatic experiences. (Victoria Department of Education and Early Childhood Development, 2008)

Although primary schooling may be offered in camps, many children do not attend for a number of reasons: they may be needed to queue for food at distribution points, they may be ill or have inadequate clothing or money for materials to allow them to attend, or they may be prevented from doing so due to gender biases. The quality of the schooling that may be available also varies enormously. Others may have experienced several interruptions in their schooling and restarts in one or more school systems as they may have spent time in a number of different countries before arriving in Canada. As a result, even though they may have attended some form of school in a number of places, their schooling will have been severely disrupted such that they are likely to lack literacy and other learning skills. Children from refugee backgrounds who have limited literacy in their home or first language will experience greater

challenges in learning English. Because they have not experienced schooling, they often have to develop the concepts needed to understand abstract academic concepts or the language which describes them. On the other hand, some gifted newcomers are selftaught or had family members who were able to provide educational support.

Not surprisingly, many learners from refugee backgrounds find it difficult to adapt to school life and integrate. Their limited schooling or lack thereof means that they have not experienced the socialization that comes with attending school. They may not know how to be organised. They may find it difficult to sit for extended periods in the Every change of country threw me unprepared into whole new languages and sharply different habits of mind. Each time, I made a child's forlorn, often vain, attempt to adapt.

(Ali, 2010)

classroom and may also find it difficult to concentrate. Cultural and social norms of refugee camps or of their countries of origin may also be quite different and they may have some difficulty in understanding, adapting to, and dealing with the norms of behaviour prevalent in Canadian schools and society.

### Exposure to Trauma



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 180277. June 5, 2008. Zam Zam, Sudan. UN Photo/Tim McKulka. Displaced Sudanese, El Fasher. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

For many students, the trauma related to the refugee experience will also interfere with their capacity to learn. As such, it will take them longer to learn English. Refugee children and youth may have experienced a multiplicity of different stressful events in the past and may continue to do so in the present. The majority of newcomer children and youth are able to cope with these stressors most of the time. Children and adults may be extremely resilient and overcome most of the negative effects of the many traumatic events and experiences in their lives. Many refugee children and their families are survivors with great motivation and

22

desire to succeed and overcome challenges. They may have suffered and witnessed traumatic events, but not suffered trauma: they have been traumatized but not incapacitated.

Children and youth are particularly vulnerable during periods of war and social conflict. Learners from refugee or war-affected backgrounds have often lived through some terrible experiences. In the last decades, millions of children have witnessed and felt the terrible effects of war. The recent developments in warfare have made it much more dangerous for children. Millions of children have been killed, disabled, left homeless, or separated from their parents, and many millions have been psychologically traumatized.

Children experience many different types of trauma during war and conflict. The list that follows summarizes these.

- Intense war operations, civil war, bombings, shootings, and executions
- Destruction of homes, landmarks, cities, villages, and countryside
- Violent death of family or friends
- Separation from family, friends, and neighbours
- Physical injury, wounds, beatings, and deprivations
- Arrests of members of their families, or fear of discovery or arrest
- Being arrested, detained, or even tortured

- Being forced to join the army or militias, or being subjected to indoctrination
- Sexual trauma and rape, observing the rape of loved ones
- Serious shortages of food, water, or other daily necessities
- Betrayal by governments, neighbours, and other authorities
- Hostility and culture shock in new communities and countries
- Material deprivation in the present circumstances

Children, as well as adults, will often try to suppress memories of horrific experiences rather than confront them when they are deeply disturbing or overwhelming. However, many trauma researchers believe that the repression of such memories and feelings is at the heart of short- and long-term suffering. Time alone does not heal trauma. A child must be helped to express suffering and to confront bad memories, with the support and guidance of an empathetic and informed adult. The very act of talking, writing, or drawing about, or acting out traumatic events is a way for a child to begin to heal and to start on the road to recovery.

Every culture has its own way of dealing with traumatic experiences. Much also depends on the family circumstances of the children, as well as on their age and the nature of their exposure to traumatic events. In all cultures, one of the most important factors is the cohesion of the family and community, and the degree of nurture and support that children receive. Indeed, one of the most significant war traumas of all, particularly for younger children, is simply separation from parents—often more distressing than the war activities themselves.

Adolescents face particular problems. Adolescence is a time of life when children undergo many physical and emotional changes. This makes them, in some ways, more vulnerable than younger children since they are much more aware of the significance of the events occurring around them. It is not uncommon for aid and settlement workers, as well as educators, to report adolescents who have a 'weeping crisis', talk about or attempt suicide, are in a state of depression, and demonstrate increased levels of aggression and delinquency.

While most children and youth are able to overcome the trauma related to war and the refugee experience, some youth remain emotionally unsettled and psychologically vulnerable. A small number of newcomer children and youth present at risk behaviours and require specialized support from school guidance services, child guidance clinics, or some of the other specialized referrals such as those listed in the last part of this booklet. Some may only require short-term support and services while others may have more complicated and numerous symptoms which may require longer-term supports and services.

Recent longitudinal research (Montgomery, 2010) suggests that

- the cumulative effect of traumatic experiences appears to be more important than the specific war and organized violence related experiences
- the traumatic experiences prior to arrival do not seem to be of primal importance for recovery during the period in asylum
- attending school or work is a very important aspect of the process of recovery of children and youth

#### Loss

Newcomer children and youth may have lost their parents and other key caregivers, their siblings, their extended family, and their friends. They may have lost physical items such as their home, their material possessions, and their favourite toys. Exile also results in the loss of familiar surroundings, familiar ways of doing things, and perhaps their parents' full attention and support in their new country. The loss experienced takes different forms. They may have

- experienced a loss of childhood and all that this entails; including loss of play, loss of parents and family, and loss of continuous caregivers
- suffered, with their parents, a severe drop in their standard of living and status as educated, professional, and influential people as they begin a new life in entry-level work
- lost the love and care of adults in their life due to death, or because parents and caregivers are emotionally absent (as a result of managing their own multiple experiences with grief, losses and changes, and challenges) or are physically absent (due to separations here and abroad)

Conflict increases the vulnerability of those who are already vulnerable, especially children. A child needs a family and a community that provide a nurturing and protective environment. The effects of war on the young can be devastating. In 2008, the number of children who had been forced to flee their homes, either as refugees crossing an international border or as internally displaced persons (IDPs), stood at 18 million. Conflicts, which today are often internal in nature, spare no one. Children are imprisoned, raped, maimed for life, and even killed. Armed conflict tears families apart, forcing thousands of children to fend for themselves and to care for very young siblings.

(International Committee of the Red Cross, 2009)

© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 442508. August 30, 2009. Sari Pul, Afghanistan. UN Photo/Eric Kamalstein. Afghan former refugee at UNHCR returnee camp in Sari Pul, Afghanistan. CC license. <www.flickr.com/photo/un-photo/4843308691>.



#### Transitions: Post-Flight and Resettlement Challenges

Children, from refugee backgrounds, and their families arrive in Canada with great hope and expectations for a safer and better life. However, the resettlement process and the challenges of integrating into a new environment, culture, and community can be quite stressful for children and their families. These may include the following:

- Continued separation from loved ones: uncertainty regarding the whereabouts of family members or friends left behind; potential reports of bad news from their country of origin
- Poverty: may be living without some basic necessities that Manitobans take for granted (such as sufficient resources for shelter, food, clothing, transportation and cars, entrance fees for activities, and so forth) and may find difficulty in continuing studies because of family responsibilities, lack of resources, and lack of benefits
- *Language skills*: speak little or no English or French upon arrival in Canada, while perhaps speaking several languages from the countries or regions of origin, or the place of first asylum
- Lack of knowledge of their educational, social, and legal rights and responsibilities, and are faced with racial and ethnic discrimination: may suffer bullying or isolation, and institutionalized or personal racism in the school and community which often stems from a subtle lack of knowledge about the newcomers' culture, religion and family customs, educational histories, and individual experiences; racism happens at many levels, even among well-intentioned helpers
- Developmental, physical, and health issues: as a result of extended periods of malnutrition, lack of water, exposure to disease and parasites, and lack of medical care; post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and possibly other anxiety disorders
- Upheaval in family roles: many children and youth, because of being acculturated more quickly in schools and work, become the family translators and experience role reversals with usual caregivers out of cultural necessity and concern for family members who may be more marginalized in rates of adjustment

Children may feel that they have been 'let down' by parents and other responsible adults who have been caught up and disempowered by war and persecution. Exile and resettlement may bring about changes in a child's relationship with his or her parents. They may see their parents as being vulnerable or dependent. This may result in a lack of trust or faith in adults, parents, or authority figures.



© United Nations Photo. March 1, 1999. Blace. UN Photo/R. LeMoyne. Kosovo refugees. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.



© United Nations Photo. July 1, 2001. Tesseney, Eritrea. UN Photo/Jorge Aramburu. United Nations mission in Eritrea and Ethiopia (UNMEE). CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

I stowed away in a great steel boat, but the horror stowed away inside me. When I left my homeland I thought that I had escaped----- but out on the open sea, I started to have nightmares. I was naive to suppose I had left my country with nothing. It was a heavy cargo that I carried. (Cleave, 2008) There are a number of Internet resources that provide insights into the experiences of refugee and war-affected youth.

<u>Beyond the Fire: Teen Experiences of War</u> is an interactive website dedicated to the stories of fifteen refugee teenagers (from eight different countries), who experienced war and fled their homes. To help bring their stories to life, photographs of family and loved ones are included. The website also briefly describes the events in each country in order to explain how the conflict developed. The life stories of these fifteen refugee teenagers are good examples of the experiences that refugee youth encounter abroad before settling in a new country.

<u>Mapping Memories</u> is a bilingual project collaboration in which personal stories and a range of media tools (video, sound walks, mapping, and photography) are used to better understand the experiences of youth with refugee experience in Montreal. Resources available from the site include Mapping Memories (a book/DVD of first-person narratives by youth with refugee experiences), videos, and educator resources.

<u>Starting Again: Stories of Refugee Youth</u> is an online video produced by School's Out Washington, which partnered with documentary filmmaker Jill Freidberg of Corrugated Films to produce a film chronicling the lives of refugee youth in Washington State. The film highlights four youth from Burma, Nepal/Bhutan, Russia, and Somalia.

The <u>Documentary Project for Refugee Youth</u> was a workshop led by Raeshma Razvi, which sought to explore the refugee condition through photography, video, interviews, and journal writing. Twelve teenaged refugees from Africa and Europe met weekly for three years, using creative projects as a means to work through their past and make sense of their new future in New York City. The site provides some of the works produced and the stories of the participants.

For more information on resources related to child soldiers, children, and war, click here.

For a summary of the strengths and challenges reflected by refugee and war-affected children, click on <u>Blackline Master 2: Common Strengths and Challenges Reflected by Immigrant Youth</u>.

### What role do religion and spirituality play?

Newcomers to Canada may come from diverse faiths, belief systems, and religious traditions or practices. This is an important aspect of the multicultural face of Manitoba and of newcomers of refugee origins. For some newcomers, religious persecution or conflict forced them to flee their home country: the experience or threat of sustained persecution and organized violence made them fearful for their survival. Similarly, poorly understood faith differences and internalized biases often form part of subtle and unintentional prejudice and discrimination these newcomers may face in the host nations and communities.



iStock. World religions. File 4343342.

Spirituality or religious beliefs as well as beliefs about life may be severely shaken through the painful accumulation of traumatic stress in the lives of children, youth, and their families affected by war. Ultimately, each person in such circumstances must find their own answers and meaning about the problems of suffering and the horrors they may have witnessed or experienced. Traumatic experiences can challenge beliefs about the value of life, humanity, and one's faith. For some, war deepens and strengthens their spirituality and faith, while for others, it leads to doubts, inner conflict, questions, or even the elimination of once deeply held spiritual and religious beliefs. These questions of spirituality, faith, and religion are part of the complexities of dealing with the affects of war and trauma.

# Is there a model that may be helpful for understanding the major categories of challenges experienced by children who come to Canada from refugee backgrounds?

Jan Stewart (2011) developed a model for understanding and considering the major adjustment challenges that refugee children who come to Canada may experience. It is a reflection of her research and work with refugee children and educators in Canada and abroad. A description of the model follows.

At the center of the model, Stewart places the individual and the core characteristics (human capacity, hope, and resilience) which mediate the effects of the array of challenges they encounter. Individuals will possess protective factors which emerge and provide a means for coping and dealing with the challenges they experience. (Stewart, 2011, p. 126)

Surrounding the individual are the six basic needs of the individual (food, clothing, shelter, safety, belonging, power) that emerged from her research and are present at the pre-migration, trans-migration, and post-migration stages of the individual's life.

In the next layer of Stewart's 2011 model are four **intermediary categories** of challenges: **basic communication**, **cultural adjustments**, **acclimatization** (adjustment to the physical and natural environment), and **support connection** (links to the ecological system; e.g., support worker, reception centre counsellor, teacher, etc.). (Stewart 2011, p. 128)

At the extremity of the model, Stewart places the four **major dimensions of the challenges** they may experience: **educational**, **economic**, **psychological**, and **environmental**. The image that follows is a graphic adaptation, created by Tony Tavares (Consultant, Manitoba Education), based on Stewart's model. (View Stewart's model on page 127 of her book, *Supporting Refugee Children: Strategies for Educators*.)



From her research, Stewart (2011) found that students were generally able to deal with both the intermediary and major challenges they experienced. They "are not passive victims; they are active agents who negotiate, compromise, and forge ahead despite adversity." (Stewart, 2011, p. 129) While not all students experience the same level of success and individuals often face challenges in different ways, she found that in most cases, the "outlook was positive". (Stewart, 2011, p. 129) In addition, she found that the success of refugee children and students can greatly be enhanced by removing "the barriers and challenges we impose on students so that they have a chance at success." (Stewart, 2011, p. 129) She suggests that initiatives that combat racism and provide financial support for refugee and war-affected learners to attend school, and that develop and provide culturally and linguistically appropriate programs are a "good place to begin".

# Why do we need to consider the whole child in developing supports for newcomer and refugee learners?



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Newcomer and refugee children in many aspects are just like all children. They reflect a similar range of characteristics, gifts, needs, and aspirations. In many ways, they benefit from the same programming and instructional approaches that create effective and safe learning environments for children in general. Refugee children can be extremely resilient and reflect enormous ability to adapt to new and challenging environments. They also, however, have specific needs related to their immigrant and refugee experiences.

"Adolescence and young adulthood are times of transition when many changes take place" (Department of Victorian

Communities, 2005). Thus, refugee youth arrive in Canada at a particularly important time in their personal development and this can contribute to them being a particularly vulnerable group, which may result in marginalization in their schools and community. Their marginalization may lead to negative and destructive behaviours, exploitation by gangs, and other undesirable outcomes.

The challenges confronted during this stage include identity formation, gaining independence, finding their place in the community, dealing with religious beliefs, developing relationships with peers and family, determining life goals, and discovering their sexuality. These challenges play an important role in a young person's development.

Schools can "create learning environments and spaces for participation, communication, relationships, friendships, belonging, and learning about one and others. To this end, what are required are systematic, whole-school approaches addressing school policy, organisational procedure, pedagogy, and curricula which are informed by understandings of post and pre-displacement issues." (Matthews, 2007) As well, drawing on support from outside school resources (whether they be health services, social service agencies, grass roots community organizations, ethnic/cultural groups, or faith groups) will enhance service delivery and support for the refugee learner.



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved

In developing programming for newcomer students, it is important to consider three aspects of learner characteristics and needs as follows:

- Linguistic: First Language and English Language Fluency and Literacy—It is important to consider a learner's first and English language development. For learners with limited experience and exposure to English, their first language skills will provide important information on the nature of EAL and educational programming required. Students with limited first language literacy will require support that is more intensive and may progress more slowly.
- Academic Background and Experiences: Some refugee children may have had their schooling interrupted for extended or significant periods or were not able attend a formal school at all. Other children may have transited through several different educational systems and languages of instruction. Other newcomer children may have very complementary or equivalent educational experiences to those available to Canadian students.

- Learner Experiences and Personal Characteristics: There are a range of individual or personal experiences and characteristics or factors which may significantly affect a learner's ability and readiness to learn. These include
  - learning styles and preferences: learners will exhibit different preferences about how they learn that may be influenced by their cultural backgrounds and prior experiences
  - learning disabilities: some learners may experience learning disabilities that are related to differences in the brain, which affect how information is received, processed, or communicated, which may be difficult to identify as learning disabilities due to linguistic factors

For further information on learning disabilities and English as an additional language learners see:

- Centre for Applied Linguistics. English language learners with special needs. <u>ELLs with Special Needs</u>—CAL Resource Guide Online <<u>www.cal.org/twi/rgos/special.html</u>>.
- Fraine, N., & Mcdade, R. (2009). Reducing bias in psychometric assessment of culturally and linguistically diverse students from refugee backgrounds in Australian schools: A process approach. *Australian Psychologist*, 44, 16–26.
- Laing, S., & Kamhi, A. (2003). Alternative assessment of language and literacy in culturally and linguistically diverse populations. [PDF] Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 34, 44–56.
- Pearl Pirie (2003). Assessing learning disabilities in ESL.
   <<u>www.teslontario.net/uploads/research/ESLLDStrategies.pdf</u>>.
- Regional Educational Laboratory. *Misidentification of English language learners as students with disabilities*. "How Do We Identify Learning Disabilities in English Language Learners?". <<u>http://archive.relnei.org/newsletters.php?nlid=27&nlapno=2</u>>.
- physical characteristics and health: newcomer children may have significant health and physical issues because of war, violence, or deprivation of food, shelter, and access to health care
- culture shock and socio-emotional well-being: the adaptation to a new culture, social environment, lifestyle, and climate may present an enormous challenge for many newcomers. As a result, some may become quite alienated and overwhelmed by the whole experience. Culture shock may result in depression and feelings of isolation
- mental health: the immigration and adaptation to a new culture combined with the effects of trauma
  may result in significant short- and long-term mental health issues. Post-traumatic stress reactions
  may severely hamper students' abilities to learn and communicate
- educational and personal aspirations: newcomer students reflect a diversity of interests and career aspirations. They may not be familiar with the educational system and the opportunities available. They may also underestimate the time required to learn a new language and meet their academic goals. Teachers need to be aware of personal and cultural biases that may limit their expectations of certain groups of learners
# What do we need to consider regarding the assessment of war-affected and English as an additional language learners?

The appropriate educational assessment of war-affected learners is a complex and challenging task because of the many factors which can affect those learners, and the linguistic and cultural barriers that may limit or impede effective communication and assessments. Educators need to be cautious in their use of assessment and screening tools. The literature on this topic points to the insufficient number of assessment and screening tools appropriate for young children from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, and the fact that the most commonly used tools were not developed for use with these populations (Lyman, Njoroge, and Willis, 2007).

Gokiert, *et al.* (2010) state that, "In Canada, many of the standardized tools that are used have been normed on Euro-American populations and may not be valid for use with



© Mataparda. January 7, 2009. Sin nombre—No name. CC license. <www.flickr.com/photos/liferfe/3174963103/in/ photostream>.

children from diverse cultural groups (Gladstone et al., 2008; Padilla, 2001). This makes examining child development a challenging process in families marginalized by income, cultural, and language barriers. Parents of immigrant and refugee children have culturally-influenced knowledge and experiences that are not well understood by mainstream providers and that may not be captured through traditional screening and assessment tools." (Gokiert et al 2010, pp.10–11)

There are also concerns related to

- cultural biases that are present in intelligence tests and other assessment tools (Rhodes, Ochoa, and Ortiz, 2005)
- invalid outcomes/results related to the linguistic complexity of assessments and from assessments designed for native English language learners (Abedi, 2011; Abedi, 2012; Abedi & Gándara, 2006)

For further information on the educational assessment of war-affected and refugee learners, see:

- Espinosa, L. M., & López, M. L. (2007). Assessment considerations for young English language learners across different levels of accountability. The National Early Childhood Accountability Task Force, Retrieved from <<u>http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-</u> <u>analysis/reports/2007/08/11/assessment-considerations-for-young-english-language-learnersacross-different-levels-of-accountability</u>>.
- Gottlieb, G. (2006). Assessing English language learners—Bridges from language proficiency to academic achievement. Illinois Resource Centre.
- Ortiz, S. O. (2004). Comprehensive assessment of culturally and linguistically diverse students: A systematic, practical approach for nondiscriminatory assessment. Retrieved from <www.nasponline.org/resources/culturalcompetence/ortiz.pdf>.
- Rhodes, R. L., Ochoa, S. H., & Ortiz, S. O. (2005). Assessing culturally and linguistically diverse students: a practical guide. New York: Guilford Press.
- Schon, J., Shaftel, J., & Markham, P. (2008). Contemporary issues in the assessment of culturally and linguistically diverse learners. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 24(2), 163–189. Retrieved from <<u>https://www.cete.ku.edu/sites/cete.drupal.ku.edu/files/docs/Publications/2008/2008\_issues\_in\_</u> assessment.pdf>.

# What are the elements of good educational practice with respect to learners from refugee and disrupted education backgrounds?

Refugee and war-affected learners face many challenges, which may be conceptualized as falling into four major categories: educational, environmental, economic and psychosocial challenges (Stewart, 2011). Stewart (2011) suggests that society and refugee-serving agencies and institutions can contribute to the successful integration and long-term well-being of these students by removing barriers and developing appropriate programming and supports. Drawing on Stewart's (2011) and others' work, Tony Tavares (Consultant, Manitoba Education) created the following four diagrams to show some examples of initiatives or actions that help remove barriers or address the four categories of challenges. (Stewart 2011, p. 147 & 148, charts 5.2 and 5.3; American Psychological Association, 2010.)

s that help address educational challenge
Mentoring and tutoring programs
Reception centres and programs
Age-appropriate language/literacy/numeracy programs to address educational gaps
Re-entry programs for school leavers/drop-outs
Financial supports—bursaries and scholarships for academic, sports, and artistic development
Career awareness and planning
 Pre-service and in-service EAL and diversity training of teachers
Parental outreach and participation initiatives
 Complementary provincial, divisional, and school policies and action plans
After-school and summer school programs
Refugee learners mentoring and tutoring others
 Leadership seminars, institutes on poverty, diversity, and neighbourhood development
Internationally educated teacher programs
Diverse and multilingual teachers
Funding and support for learners with disrupted education

## Initiatives that help address educational challenges

## Initiatives that help address environmental challenges

**Community/school partnerships** 

Community liaison and school-based settlement workers

Designated teachers, counsellors, and advisors

**Designated student advocates** 

Timely, fair, culturally and linguistically appropriate assessments

Multi-agency and coordinated partnerships and initiatives

Support for community groups and infrastructure

Sustained antiracism and diversity strategies, action plans, and initiatives

Multilingual and multimedia information and resources

Parent support programs (effective parenting, drug and gang awareness, etc.)

Parent education and employment programs

## Initiatives that help address economic challenges

Stay-in school incentive programs (e.g., Bright Futures, Pathways to Education)

Preparing students for independent living

Information on work skills and employment rights

After-school, evening, and day community-based, and workplace EAL for parents

Reduction of financial pressures on families, (lowinterest loans, subsidizing settlement costs, etc.)

Technology-based communication and supports

Internships and career planning

School-based breakfast and nutrition programs

Clothing and school supply programs

Student employment programs (summer and schoolyear)

## Initiatives that help address psychosocial challenges

Preventive programs and counselling

Group support initiatives to assist school and community integration

Reception and on-going screening to identify psychosocial challenges

Arts-based programs (videography/photography, theatre, dance, music/drumming, and graffiti/painting/sculpting)

Sports and recreation-based programming (e.g., drop-ins, inner-city soccer teams, school YMCA-YWCA programs)

Training of student services and clinics on refugee issues/supports

Translators/interpreters and bilingual services

Language and literacy programs that draw on professionals to help identify and respond to psychosocial needs

Conflict management and mediation training and programs for all students

Integrated healthy living supports (emotional, health, and spiritual care)

In addition to these broader initiatives, the local school and classroom can do a great deal to create a welcoming, appropriate, and supportive environment. Some examples follow.

#### Examples of effective classroom practices

- Strong leadership on the part of school administrators, which includes mobilizing resources to support the acquisition of basic skills by all students
- Teachers who believe they are responsible for students' learning and capable of teaching them effectively
- High expectations for student learning and behaviour on the part of administrators and teachers, and active communication of these expectations to students
- Creation of an environment of safety, trust, and mutual respect
- Safe, orderly, and well-disciplined, but not rigid, school and classroom environments
- Teachers who are adept at adapting instructional strategies and materials in response to diverse learning styles and needs
- Provision of incentives, reinforcement, and rewards to enhance student-learning motivation and acknowledge achievements; regular, frequent monitoring of student progress and provision of feedback
- Teachers who make a practice of not assuming or generalizing about newcomer students; rather, they are open to viewing each student as an individual and to learning about each one's uniqueness
- Staff professional learning initiatives which are focused on school improvement and influenced by teachers themselves
- Use of time, personnel, money, materials, and other resources in support of the school's priority goals
- Active involvement and use of parents for instructional support, classroom help, and input into governance decisions
- Coordination among staff of different programming serving the same children
- Use of cooperative learning structures (rather than competitive)
- Computer-assisted instructional activities, which supplement and complement traditional teacher-directed instruction
- Peer and cross-age tutoring
- Provision of early childhood education programming
- The use of small learning units within large schools (e.g., school-within-a-school) and other alternative learning initiatives
- Promotion policies that allow accelerated remedial instruction or transition classrooms as alternatives to retention
- Provision of support targeted to the learning needs of those students who are retained in grade; coordination between school and community resources as needed to support children in need of services outside the school
- Diversity education, which is integrated into the overall school curriculum; belief of belonging, learning, and growing can be further explored at <<u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/diversity/educators/index.html</u>>
- Recruitment and hiring of minority teachers
- Learning activities to reduce racial and ethnic prejudice
- Personnel, material, and activities to meet the needs of language minority students

\*For more information on effective classroom practices, see <u>Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade 12 Curriculum Framework</u> <u>for English as an Additional Language (EAL) and Literacy, Academics, and Language (LAL) Programming</u> as well as <u>Towards Inclusion: Supporting Positive Behaviour in Manitoba Classrooms</u> (Manitoba Education, 2011).

#### What are some of the curriculum strategies and classroom practices that are appropriate for learners with EAL and disrupted education backgrounds?

In Manitoba, students who have EAL and learning gaps are often referred to as needing foundational Literacy, Academics, and Language (LAL), to emphasize that educational programming must not only develop language skills, but also literacy and basic academic concepts in order for them to transition into regular EAL and content-area learning. Students who have not had schooling opportunities will require longer and more



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

intensive support for learning than EAL students with age-appropriate education. Furthermore, the older students are when they commence school, the greater the support needed.

The <u>Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade 12 Curriculum Framework for English as an Additional</u> <u>Language (EAL) and Literacy, Academics, and Language (LAL) Programming</u> discusses the educational needs of these students in more detail (sections 5 and 6) and sets out a continuum of LAL development that can guide planning for individual students.

All students, no matter what their prior schooling, should have the opportunity to develop their potential, preparing for the same educational and workplace opportunities as their Canadian-born peers. Although many of the approaches and practices that are effective for EAL learners in general can work well for LAL learners, research and experience with learners with limited formal schooling indicate that a number of other components are essential for providing an effective and appropriate programming. These components include

□ *theme-based curriculum* that is intellectually challenging and fills gaps in foundational learning through age-appropriate topics and processes (Gibbons, 2009); foundational academic concepts and skills, as well as common school-based activities and tasks, such as reading a graph or map may need to be taught, but students also need to develop higher-level thinking skills and the associated language

extended or double periods of EAL instruction

- smaller classrooms (lower student to teacher ratios) that allow for more individualized support from the classroom teacher(s)
- curriculum and learning experiences that *draw on students' backgrounds, life experiences, and concrete, real-world skills* (Freeman and Freeman, 2003)
- **collaborative activities** (student-student and teacher-student) that provide more opportunities for meaningful interaction and the shared construction of knowledge
- □ *scaffolded instruction for language and content*—through visuals, manipulatives, models, graphic organizers, think-alouds, sentence frames, and so on, building step-by-step in manageable chunks toward independent learning; scaffolding begins with assessing the kinds of support students need to work independently just ahead of their current level and then, as that level is achieved, moving the scaffolds ahead to the next level—scaffolding always moves students ahead

- □ *a balanced approach to literacy development* that weaves together bottom-up and top-down processing, providing access to the written language they will find in their new environment in and out of school; often learner-generated texts, (e.g., the Language Experience Approach) based on individual or shared class experiences, can be a vehicle for connecting learners' lives and oral language development with bottom-up reading skills (Vinogradov, 2009)
- explicit instruction of literacy skills, strategies, and knowledge of different kinds of texts required for academic purposes; this should include substantial coverage in the key components of reading, such as phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, vocabulary, and text comprehension, and provide extensive modeling (August et al, 2007; Calderón, 2007; Tuchman, 2010)
- □ *a strong focus on numeracy skills*, which are often below the grade expectations; mathematical concepts, thinking, and the associated mathematical and language skills are essential foundations for learning and living in today's developed world
- □ *incorporation of arts* as a vehicle of expression and a medium of learning; students may express a far greater sense of their self and their learning through non-verbal representation, whether dance, visual arts, music, or drama; drumming and jazz chants may scaffold language learning, and drawing may scaffold writing; for example, students may together form a living model of a cell structure with each one acting out a component; students who come from traditional oral societies may have sophisticated oral and non-print communication skills based on art, dance, singing, music, or other elements; these may provide a basis for the development of literacy and academic skills
- ❑ socialization into formal schooling; students with limited formal schooling may need orientation to the expectations and practices of formal classrooms and schools, even though they may be well-developed informal learners (Williams, 2010); other researchers point to the mismatch of cultural values and expectations around schooling experienced by many LAL learners entering North American schools as another significant factor (De Capua & Marshall, 2011a; De Capua & Marshall, 2011b; De Capua *et al.*, 2009; De Capua *et al.*, 2007); they argue that this cultural dissonance is largely responsible for the lack of educational success that older students in particular experience; students need instructional approaches that build bridges between their own understanding of schooling and the new expectations and values that are part of their current school environment
- "school readiness" and study skills; students may need explicit instruction and modelling of skills and learning strategies that are assumed present in students of their age, such as sequencing, classification, comparison, using reference tools, taking notes, transferring information from one context to another, organizing a binder, and following a timetable
- *expanded learning opportunities*, through *after-school, tutoring, weekend, and summer programming*, to continue filling gaps in learning and consolidate current learning; first language support and mentoring by older students who are role models of successful academic engagement can reinforce the work of the school
- *a teacher or school team* that has responsibility for *monitoring the student's progress* and sense of well-being within the school and encouraging the home-school connection
- □ *help with goal setting*; students new to Canada, but especially those from families that do not have connections to established communities ("social capital"), are often not aware of the huge range of career opportunities available and the varied pathways to them, some of which begin in high school; students need help in setting short- and long-term goals and developing a realistic plan to achieve them, as well as seeing the connection between schooling and future educational and career choices

- □ support toward *developing an identity of competence* (Manyak, 2004a & 2004b); often students experience frustration with the complexity of the educational challenges facing them; they need to see small successes from the beginning in order to begin to build confidence in themselves as learners; students need to develop resiliency and persistence to achieve their goals
- □ *time, patience, and long term supports*; students and their families will have to deal with many other challenges in their lives, in addition to the challenges of learning a new language, academic content and subjects taught in that new language, and a new culture and ways of doing things, all the while trying to catch up with their age peers; it is important that schools recognize the need for sufficient time and duration of supports that will truly allow students to succeed; both learners and teachers will need to be patient to see the rewards of their efforts

Students who come from refugee and war-affected backgrounds can be very successful in their schooling, but they will need a whole-school approach that is attuned to individual needs and provides both appropriate programming and adequate time to progress toward their goals.

Teachers in some schools have worked with specialized agencies like the Cross-Cultural Counselling Unit of Mount Carmel Clinic to learn how to provide supportive learning conditions. Teachers are trained to recognize distress symptoms and to access professional assistance when needed. They are also trained to evaluate the suitability of topics, resources, and activities for use with these learners and to implement appropriate classroom strategies (e.g., working with aggression, distress, and inattention).



© United Nations Photo. October 6, 2008. Dili, Timor-Leste. UN Photo/Martine Perret. World mental health day observance. CC license. <<www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

## Part 3: Supporting Student Success in the Classroom

#### What can schools and teachers do to strengthen resiliency?

#### Factors Supporting Success

Researchers with the *Good Starts Study*, a longitudinal study of 120 young refugee people in Australia, found that boys and girls from refugee backgrounds succeed when several factors are present. Interestingly, although both boys and girls benefit from some similar factors, equally important are the gender differences. The factors that support success are as follows:

#### Factors Supporting Boys' Success

- strong supportive family (especially a parent) and positive ways to deal with family conflict
- stability of housing
- family employment
- teachers who care about them and are helpful and supportive
- having an adult mentor or role model in the school environment that boys can turn to for advice
- opportunities to become involved in school and community activities including sport and arts, and safe places to "hang out" with friends
- © Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.
- achievement of English language and literacy
- being able to participate in, feel part of, and feel valued by the wider community

(Refugee Health Research Centre, 2007, Broad sheet # 1)

#### Factors Supporting Girls' Success

- teachers who provide individual recognition of girls' achievements and successes in school
- having an adult in the school environment that girls can turn to for help and advice and who provides general support, positive interactions, and encouragement
- having good peer relationships and supportive friends at school
- tutoring and educational support that is available during school hours, not only after school where family responsibilities may compete



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

- families that are supportive of girls' school attendance and find ways to help girls balance family and school demands
- external support and resources for families so that girls are not overburdened with family
  responsibilities of caring for younger siblings or advocating for the family with regards to
  housing, health, and other settlement issues

(Refugee Health Research Centre, 2007, Broad sheet # 3)

The school can play a very important part in helping to minimize adverse factors and maximize protective factors. Providing emotional support for refugee children and youth is an integral part of any school's EAL/Newcomer policy.

Growing Up in a New Country: A Positive Youth Development Tool Kit for Working with Refugees and Immigrants (<<u>www.brycs.org/documents/upload/GrowingUpInANewCountry-Web.pdf</u>>) from Bridging Refugee Youth and Children's Services (BRYCS) is a useful resource for considering how a focus on resiliency can be built into programming. BRYCS developed this resource to support service providers in their efforts to develop effective and quality programming for the newcomer youth in their

communities. BRYCS promotes a "strengths approach" to working with refugee children and youth which has lead to growth in the use of the "Positive Youth Development" approach—or one that emphasizes helping kids grow into successful and mature adults rather than just preventing problem behaviours.

## What can we do to help learners overcome blocks to learning?

Research suggests that emotional and psychological trauma can have a damaging and long-lasting impact on the brain (Bremmer, 1999). The damage caused by trauma can have significant consequences for learning and for the psycho-social well-being of affected individuals. Physical trauma to the brain (traumatic brain injury), suffered as a result of war or other experiences, may also cause an array of physical, cognitive, social, emotional, and behavioural effects. (Langlois, *et al.*, 2006) In addition, individuals who have experienced unresolved childhood trauma will be more susceptible to trauma as adults. (Middlebrooks & Audage, 2008)

Many strategies can be used in schools and the classroom to overcome blocks to learning. Some of these strategies are summarized in the table that follows.

In a TESOL Language Curriculum Development Series (2006), Slotin and Macpherson described a year-long content-based EAL Human Rights unit taught to grades 7 to 9 newcomer and refugee students. As the students were acquiring information about their rights (many of whom experienced regimes that did not recognize human rights during their pre-migration), they came to the understanding that with rights also come responsibilities. They became actively involved with fundraising for victims of the 2004 Tsunami. It gave them satisfaction knowing that they could be of help and that no donation was too small. Potocky-Tripodi (2002) noted that refugees and immigrants coming from situations of war or violence are at high risk for feelings of guilt. Referred to as survivor's guilt, a newcomer may ask themselves repeatedly why they survived. They will do whatever they can to make it up to those left behind by sending money or clothing, or making a commitment to bringing the remaining family members to Canada as soon as they can. Refugee children and youth are not in a position of offering the financial support that an adult may be able to but, through human rights activities that involve projects for developing countries including fundraising for things such as school kits, mosquito netting, building wells, and so forth, they feel that they too are contributing and giving back.

Emotional blocks to learning and their features	Strategies
Anxiety <ul> <li>poor concentration</li> <li>memory problems</li> <li>restlessness</li> <li>going blank</li> </ul> Withdrawal, grief, and lepressed mood <ul> <li>loss of interest</li> <li>anger</li> <li>lack of motivation</li> <li>lack of energy</li> <li>sadness</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Provide a safe, structured, and predictable environment.</li> <li>Explain changes, rules, and expectations.</li> <li>Prepare students, or explain alarming and strange noises.</li> <li>Provide an alternative, quiet place to the schoolyard.</li> <li>Be flexible about participation.</li> <li>Use writing, art, and dance for expression of feelings.</li> <li>Ask students if something is troubling them.</li> <li>Allow a graded approach to unfamiliar activities.</li> <li>Allow exemptions from very difficult tasks.</li> <li>Set achievable goals.</li> <li>Provide a caring and supportive environment.</li> <li>Show genuine interest.</li> <li>Provide for one-on-one discussions.</li> <li>Provide opportunities for pleasure, play, and laughter.</li> <li>Encourage a small group or paired learning environment.</li> <li>Praise effort.</li> <li>Invite people from different countries into the classroom.</li> <li>Facilitate language acquisition for communication.</li> </ul>
Inger	<ul><li>Promote physical activity.</li><li>Explain limit setting.</li></ul>
low frustration tolerance aggressive behaviour	<ul> <li>Discuss anger in one-on-one situations.</li> <li>Discover what is troubling the student.</li> <li>Acknowledge legitimate problems or provocations.</li> <li>Address causes such as bullying.</li> <li>Allow for appropriate expression of difficulties by telling somebody, or through storytelling or drama.</li> </ul>
Guilt and shame withdrawal anger	<ul> <li>Communicate respectfully (e.g., correct pronunciation of names</li> <li>Provide attention.</li> <li>Respect privacy.</li> <li>Allow for gradual participation.</li> <li>Be a model of a caring adult who respects the strengths of students.</li> </ul>

#### How do we recognize learners who need more robust and intensive interventions?



Kabul, Afghanistan. UN Photo/Eskinder Debede. Afghan students back to school. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

Schools can play a very important role in helping refugee and war-affected learners in healing and improving their psychosocial well-being. It is, however, important to recognize that some learners may need more intensive interventions and support. Positive and appropriate educational programming may help but may simply be insufficient for some.

While not all refugee children are former child soldiers or were exposed to frequent incidents of violence, a follow up study on the reintegration of former child soldiers in Sierra Leone points to some important considerations for all war-affected children. The study reaffirmed that sustained access to education remains an important consideration for the well-being of former child

soldiers. They "found that staying in school was associated with improved pro-social attitudes and behaviors." (Betancourt *et al.*, 2010, p. 15)

However, the study also demonstrated the limitations of schooling as a protective factor and the need for clinical and other therapeutic interventions. Overall, the "study identified only a few protective factors that might assist the recovery of former child soldiers who have experienced the most severe and cumulative forms of war trauma. In fact, the magnitude of the effects of war-related stressors, particularly surviving rape and being involved in killing, were much larger than the positive effects of protective factors such as staying in school and experiencing improvements in community acceptance. Our finding that the stress-adjustment effects in this sample are generally weaker than the stress accumulation effects has important public health implications. It suggests that we have a long way to go before being able to fully mitigate the effects of particularly toxic stressors such as rape and involvement in killing in the lives of war-affected youth." (Betancourt et al, 2010, p 15)

The Queensland Program of Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma in <u>A school counselling</u> <u>guide to working with students from refugee and displaced backgrounds (2007)</u> provides the following advice:

"It is important that students experiencing distress as a direct or indirect result of their refugee background be identified as early as possible so that assistance can be offered. It should be noted that a lack of obvious negative responses does not automatically mean that there has been no negative impact on the student's mental health. The effects of trauma are often delayed until the initial resettlement period has been completed, and can even manifest a number of years later, so it is important to be aware of the persistence and severity of symptoms."

The Queensland Program of Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma offers additional educational resources for schools at <<u>http://qpastt.org.au/resources/for-schools/</u>>.

The following questions can assist in such a risk assessment:

- How does the student relate with other students?
- Do the student's life experiences prior to living in [Canada] find expression through play, art, or acting?
- Does the student have difficulty in remembering daily activities, routines, or tasks?
- Does the student appear to experience mood swings?
- Is the student able to concentrate on a set task?
- Does the student appear frightened or fidgety?
- Are there any recurrent themes in the student's drawings?
- What are the student's strengths (e.g., coping mechanisms, abilities, interests, etc.)?

If the risk assessment determines that the student is at high risk, a pro-active course of action may need to be planned. If needed, consultation with, or referral to, another agency may also be considered.

#### How do we assess levels of risk?



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Generally, the literature suggests that selective or targeted screening of immigrant and refugee students may be a more efficient and appropriate approach to identifying children with potential problems (Birman and Chan, 2008). Birman and Chan also suggest that settings familiar to immigrant and refugee students, such as EAL classrooms, after-school programs, and summer camps, may be appropriate sites for selective screening.

Birman and Chan (2008) provide a very useful review of various screening tools and their efficacy and effectiveness, the types of screeners, and the assessment process with respect to immigrant and refugee populations (See <u>Dina Birman and Wing Yi Chan. Issue Brief #1:</u> Screening and Assessing Immigrant and Refugee Youth in School-Based <u>Mental Health Programs. Spring 2008.</u>). They found that various screening instruments have been developed or identified for use in schools, but few have been used extensively with refugee and immigrant populations. Nevertheless, because of the few options that exist, the existing tools may be useful when used appropriately.

One notable effort to develop a useful screening tool is the Boston Children's Hospital, Center for Refugee Trauma and Resilience (CHCRTR), which developed a web-based tool, Refugee Services Toolkit (RST). The RST helps service providers understand the experience of refugee children and families, identify the needs associated with these individual's mental health, and ensure that they are connected with the most appropriate available interventions. Educators may find the Toolkit useful for

- identifying risk factors
- exploring possible interventions
- identifying resources

The Toolkit allows users to assess all four core stressors (traumatic stress, resettlement stress, acculturation stress, and isolation stress) or choose a specific core stressor. The information on the Toolkit and how to use it may be accessed online at <<u>www.chcrtr.org/toolkit/></u>.

When a student manifests repeated patterns of distress, it is important to find the appropriate intervention for the student, The Boston Children's Hospital Center for Refugee Health and Human Rights provides a free online course Caring for Torture Survivors. The course is for individuals who want to learn about survivors of torture and refugee trauma, as well as the health consequences of torture, uprooting, and other human rights violations. Participants will also learn how to approach survivors and recognize clinical signs and symptoms in order to screen, treat, and support individuals at risk. (See www.bcrhhr.org/.)

the student's family, and, quite possibly, the student's community. In recent years, there has been a movement away from the standard western mental health services model. Miller and Rasco (2004) indicate that,

services are often underutilized because they are culturally alien to most refugees, the majority of whom come from non-Western societies and bring with them culturally specific ways of understanding and responding to psychological distress. Therefore, intervention needs to take into consideration the constellation of systems that impact on the daily lives of newcomer children and youth (see *Bronfenbrenner's bioecological framework*). Interventions may look quite different to what one is accustomed to from a traditional western psychological approach. For example, sand play, art, music, storytelling, drama, and relaxation therapies, to name a few, have become important tools in assisting newcomer children and youth with their resettlement and acculturation process.

#### How should educators respond to disclosure?

It should be expected that from time to time students' stories or disclosures of violent or traumatic experiences will come out in the classroom spontaneously or during the course of a classroom activity or school event. These may take different forms such as drawing disturbing pictures, bringing in articles or photographs, and, for those whose English language skills are more developed, bringing up stories or referring to personal experiences in the classroom or in their groups. In such situations, it is important that the teacher makes the child feel comfortable about telling the story that they wish to share and expresses empathy for the child. It is also equally important that other children who may be present and participating in the sharing event are respectful and express their empathy (Birman, 2005).

One of the most important activities that a teacher can do to help is talk with newcomer children and youth. Listen to what they say and take their communication seriously. A sympathetic listener can be enormous support and comfort. To be effective in doing this an educator or supporting adult has to make time to meet with the student and ensure that a safe and private area is available.

(Perry, 1995; Birman, 2005; Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture, 2011; Rousseau et al, 2005)

Teachers should not be "afraid to talk about the traumatic event; students do not benefit from 'not thinking about it' or 'putting it out of their head' (Perry, 1995). If a student does disclose, do not avoid discussion: listen to the student, answer questions, and provide comfort and support on a one-to-one

basis. Children and young people can be afraid of upsetting adults by displaying fear, sadness and anger, and therefore may be reluctant to show their feelings. The best possible response is to (Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture, 2011, p. 123):

- listen to what a student is saying without moving on to something else too quickly
- acknowledge that all children and young people feel sad or angry at times but that these feelings are all right
- appreciate that children mix fact and fantasy when they recall events and it is best not to correct fantasies."



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission All rights reserved.

#### **Cautionary note: Limitations of classroom and school interventions**

While teachers and schools can help refugee and war-affected learners heal and overcome the challenges of settlement by welcoming them and attending to their educational, social, and other needs, it is important to recognize the limitations: classroom teachers are not therapists, social workers, or clinicians. Teachers and schools need to help learners and their families identify and access mental health and other services when they are required. It is important to refer these learners and their families to appropriate agencies and supports. The companion document *Life After War: Professional Learning, Agencies, and Community Supports* will be helpful in this regard.

As well, teachers should follow their divisional policies and protocols for referring students for assessment and other student services.

In situations where these types of disclosures occur often, the development of classroom rules or practices/traditions may be developed for times when a student shares something significant. The teacher may invite students to participate in a sharing circle or to show their support for the person who has revealed something painful. Teachers can help refugee students to express their feelings in other ways (Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture, 2011, p. 124) as follows:

**Letterbox:** Students can 'post' letters to their teacher; the teacher then writes back, 'posting' letters to their students.

**Journal:** A journal is a writing book with the student's name in it. It is used to write personal things such as 'what makes me sad', with the teacher writing comments. The student can ask for their journal at any time to convey messages. If a student desires, they should be able to write in their own language and translate some or all of it with their teacher.

**Story writing and diaries:** These can be integrated with artwork, photography, and other media to express feelings and narrate personal history.

Art: For students with language difficulties, as well as for others, artwork is extremely effective for expressing feelings and depicting aspects of life in the past, present, or future.

It is also helpful to explain to these students that they may approach the teacher in private, at an appropriate time and place to talk.

While the literature on working with refugee and war-affected children points to the healing power of storytelling, it is not generally helpful for teachers to probe or request students to share their stories of personal traumatic events in class or in private. Students generally appreciate others' interest about them, their cultures, and their background. The sharing of personal experiences and perspectives is welcomed; however, it must be clear that the students' right to privacy is respected and they must not feel compelled or required to share or reveal anything about their background and past. Therefore, it is important that learning activities and classroom discussions allow for and invite the sharing of diverse cultures and the experiences and backgrounds of students, if they choose to do so: choice is extremely important.

See the following resource documents: In the Setting of War: Teachers' Guide for Talking to Your Students and Talking to Children about War and Terrorism.

#### What is the importance of play and creative activities?

Play is the work of children: parents need to encourage children to play, especially during stressful times. Play allows children to relate to events around them and to express these events in their own simplified way. Their participation in community activities can raise their spirits and occupy them in meaningful ways.



© United Nations Photo. Sarhan, S. July 22, 2010. UNRWA attempt Guinness record for biggest basketball bounce. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/detail.jsp? id=442/42425&key=0&query=Guinness RecordforBiggestBasketballBounce&sf=>.

#### As Richman (1998) states:

... many refugee children have been denied opportunities for play and have had little fun in their lives. Creative activities have a special relevance for all children who are deprived or who have special needs.

When we realize how important play is for the development of a child, we can recognize the need for providing traumatized children with a place to play, an opportunity to play, and things to play with.

They can thus re-enter their development cycle, which has been so violently interrupted. It would seem that the sooner we can intervene with play in the life of a traumatized child, the sooner the child can appropriate the healing effects of the play environment and the sooner hope will re-enter the child's world. (Aguilar and Retamal, 1998)

Richman (1998) notes the following benefits for refugee (and other) children of play and creative activities:

- provides relaxation and enjoyment, and improves motivation to learn
- encourages integration into a group
- develops social skills and friendships
- enables success even if not good at English, raises selfesteem, and does not overemphasize academic skills
- affirms a positive identity through activities related to the children's culture
- explores sensitive issues such as anger and bullying
- allows expression of feelings in a safe way

Although Richman refers only to children in her book, it has been very clear that adolescents also benefit from creative activities such as being in an African drumming group, creating a video, playing on a school team, being part of a school musical, learning to juggle, or writing/drawing about their own experiences. Other types of beneficial activities for refugee children and youth include drama programs, oral history projects, photo stories, art, singing, dancing, sports, weaving, and gardening.

An example of the use of art in a successful initiative for traumatized children and youth is Real Life Heroes: A Developmental, Attachment-Centered Curriculum for Children with Traumatic Stress. Real Life Heroes is an activity-based workbook that helps children experiencing traumatic stress acquire and expand their skill and resource set in order to cope with painful memories and to proceed

One EAL literacy class became responsible for the school's garden which was at the front entrance to the school. The teacher noted that many unexpected sharings of past experiences came about as the students worked in the garden. They talked about the plants in their countries and drew comparisons between what they knew as gardeners in their countries with what they were learning about the plants and the climate in Manitoba. The students looked forward to working in the garden and took great pride in how lovely their garden looked in time for the school's yearend closing exercises. The teacher also noted that, for many students who came from rural environments and now were in urban settings, the garden project was very therapeutic and became a link to positive memories from their pasts.

(Isle Slotin, personal interview, 2011)

with their emotional healing. (See <www.reallifeheroes.net/Home\_Page.php>.)

Another example of an initiative that draws on play and the arts is International FACES: International Family Adult and Child Enhancement Services, Heartland Health Outreach. The IFACES initiative provides comprehensive community-based mental health services to refugee children, adolescents, and families. Some of the key components of the initiative are

client-centered and community-based, extensive outreach, and openness to problem-solving any barriers to treatment



© Nimzilvio. July 21, 2009. UNRWA school graffiti (1). Nahr El Bared Camp. CC license. <www.flickr.com/photos/nimzilvio/ 3787522213/>.

- multidisciplinary team includes psychotherapists; art, occupational, and dance therapists; psychiatrists; and ethnic mental health workers from refugee communities served
- multicultural ethnic mental health workers provide cultural and linguistic competence and work as part of a mental health team

(For more information on International Faces, click on the following link: <u>BRYCS: Promising Practices Program</u>.)

#### How does storytelling help in the healing process?

Newcomer youth, including those of war-affected backgrounds, will benefit from informal and formal opportunities to talk about their experiences regarding adjusting to a new culture, and experiencing culture shock and the effects of war and other traumas. Classroom themes, which focus on peace studies, human rights, and international development, provide opportunities for students to reflect on and process their experiences. They also provide opportunities for other students to develop some empathy and awareness of the situations and challenges newcomer youth face.

Creating an environment of trust is of utmost importance. "The refugee experience can impact on the capacity to trust; therefore, it is important to actively rebuild trust through interactions with the refugee young person." (Department of Victorian Communities, 2005)

#### Planning for and creating opportunities for sharing stories



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Teachers can facilitate the healing, peace, and community building by planning for and creating opportunities for refugee, war-affected, and other learners to be invited to share personal experiences and stories. Two examples of such attempts by educators in Winnipeg follow.

One was a teacher-initiated project at Gordon Bell, an inner city high school in Winnipeg School Division. The school has 57 different cultural groups represented in its student population. In spite of all these cultures, including Canadian-born students from Aboriginal and European origins, the students largely kept to themselves and their groups. From the teacher's perspective, they did not know very much about each other. During a summer institute on peace education and storytelling, the teacher, Marc Kuly, read Ishmael Beah's memoir *A Long Way Gone* (2007), which recounts the author's perilous story about his experiences as a boy soldier in Sierra Leone during the 1990s. Inspired by the book and the institute, Kuly decided to assign the book to his grade 12 class.

# Normally sceptical, the class came alive. Many of these kids, from disadvantaged core-area homes or from war-torn lands themselves, had their eyes opened. Here was a young man confessing to experiences vastly worse than their own. (Walker 2009)

Kuly used the book as a starting point for a storytelling project with volunteer students. Meeting once a week outside of regular class, the teens agreed to tell each other their stories and, more importantly, to listen to each other's stories, as a way of bridging the various solitudes that existed in the school (Walker, 2009). It was noted by the Manitoba Foundation for the Arts (2008) that through Marc's work, students learned to listen, respect each other's differences, and build bonds of friendship that cross the traditional lines found in most contemporary schools. (See <<u>http://artsfoundation.mb.ca/</u>>.) The students involved came to recognize that regardless of where they were born, how rich or poor they are, or what religion they practice, their story and the perspective it gives them on the world, matters. Furthermore, they have learned that it is possible for people from a stunning array of diverse backgrounds to come together, learn, and discover a common cause (Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism).

The second example is the Peaceful Village initiative specifically developed to improve educational outcomes for refugee and war-affected learners in two Winnipeg School Division schools. The initiative was developed through research as well as a consultative process with interested parties (students, schools, parents, and communities) by Manitoba School Improvement Program's consultant Alysha Sloane. The initiative involves two host-school communities and is aimed at creating positive peace/solidarity toward actualizing the community participants' best collective self and best individual selves. The Peaceful Village model is largely an after-school project that draws on creative school improvement strategies. Some of the elements of the Peaceful Village initiative include student photo voice projects, peace banners, storytelling, student voice documentary films, enrichment learning centres, literacy centres, passion projects, a village kitchen, and a forum theatre. These strategies overlap and are intended to contribute to a "web of support "or "blanket of care" that will envelop students and families in the community throughout the day and throughout the year (Manitoba School Improvement Program, <<u>www.msip.ca</u>>).

In Using Digital Narratives With Refugee and Immigrant Youth to Promote Literacy, Healing, and Hope (2010) a teacher in Saskatchewan, Koreen Geres, details how she used the Pharos resources with digital storytelling tools in her classroom. The study provides an opportunity to explore how digital storytelling may be incorporated into an EAL class to promote literacy, to assist in healing the effects of forced migration, and to build hope. See <<u>www.mcdowellfoundation.ca/main\_mcd</u> <u>owell/projects/research\_rep/200\_using\_</u> <u>digital\_narratives.pdf</u>>.

<u>LitWorld's Resilience Project</u> is focused on helping learners draw on their protective factors that create resilience. The approach is based on the understanding that reading, writing, and verbal storytelling skills are fundamental to stability and success. LitWorld's Resilience Project provides reading and writing workshops to help youth cope with traumatic experiences, including surviving war and living as a refugee, and use writing as a tool for rebuilding strength.

Another example of classroom approaches utilizing creative expression and storytelling is one from Montreal, where the transcultural psychiatry team at the Montreal's Children's Hospital (C. Rousseau *et al.*, 2005) partnered with schools in Montreal to implement creative expression workshops for kindergarten, elementary schools, and high schools to "help immigrant children and youth bridge the gap between past and present, culture of origin and host society". The creative expression workshops were sand play for preschoolers; storytelling and drawing in elementary school; and drama therapy workshops for adolescent immigrants and refugees.

Rousseau *et al.* (2005) noted that the following four aspects played a key role in all the workshops in Montreal schools:

- the construction of a safe place
- the acknowledgement and appreciation of diversity
- the establishment of continuity
- the transformation of adversity

Creative expression workshops or learning activities can be replicated and adapted to class programming for immigrant and refugee children as long as three key points are kept in mind.

- First, a verbal and non-verbal means of expression must always be paired, to offer the children more than one way of expressing themselves and to circumvent the inevitable language barrier.
- Second, the programming should metaphorically represent cultural diversity to allow a give-and-take between mainstream and minority cultures.

• Third, it is essential to provide a secure place for working through issues. This can be done by alternating opportunities for personal expression and small group discussions to foster empathy and solidarity.

The Montreal team's experience with the creative workshops also affirmed the importance of raising awareness and sensitizing the teachers to the children's life experiences and supporting them in the process of adapting and integrating in a new society and school.

#### Do after-school and summer programs matter?

After-school and summer learning programs are a critical strategy for improving educational opportunities and helping develop positive social networks for refugee youth. Refugee youth benefit from the additional academic opportunities, as well as the healthy recreational and social support that these initiatives provide. In Manitoba, Australia, and the United States, such initiatives are being recognized as a critical strategy in the effort to meet the educational and social supports required for newcomer learners to be successful.



Schargel and Smink, 2001, define mentoring and tutoring, service learning, and out-of-school enhancement (after-school and summer scholastic, recreation, and social initiatives) as

© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

**being basic core strategies** in preventing students from leaving school and in improving educational opportunities for low-income, disadvantaged, and newcomer youth.



© Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

After-school tutoring and recreational programming are also proving to be effective tools, especially for young learners from low-income and diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds. The Pathways to Education model provides support for youth throughout the academic year. The model provides academic support and tutoring, academic counselling and advocacy, scholarships, mentorships, as well as a variety of supports concerning personal finance, culture, and other issues important to low-income and refugee youth.

Initiatives such as the Community School Investigators (CIS) summer initiative offered by the Winnipeg Boys and Girls Club in the inner city of Winnipeg and after-school and summer initiatives offered by community based groups such as the Helping Hands Resource Centre for Immigrants, the Eritrean Community in Winnipeg, the Sierra Leone Refugee Resettlement, and the Congo-Canada Charity Foundation are examples. The latter have formed the *Newcomer Youth Education Support Coalition* to develop

initiatives, advocate, fundraise, and promote awareness of the profound need for educational supports. They work with approximately 250 youth from a total of 14 different African countries.

The *Coalition* encourages learning through sports and play as well as cultural and language immersion. It has recruited university students from the African community to serve as positive role models; developed teen mentors; and invited African elders to promote cultural and intergenerational learning. Parental involvement and support is also strong.

#### What are some examples of promising initiatives for higher needs refugee learners?

Newcomer children with EAL and significant academic gaps will benefit from more intensive EAL and content-based instruction. There is increasing evidence from Canada, the US, and Australia that such initiatives are the most effective in providing such learners with meaningful opportunities to develop literacy skills and access training and employment opportunities. All too often, a lack of such

programming supports results in students being frustrated and being "pushed" out of the educational system. Traditional EAL programming is not as effective for EAL learners with limited literacy skills and significant academic gaps. In addition, the organization and structure of high schools severely limit the opportunity for students to receive the attention they require.

Newcomer and EAL literacy initiatives, beyond the EAL and academic support, provide important career and psychosocial supports. They provide students of similar backgrounds with the opportunity to share experiences and to participate in group and classroom counselling and support activities. For

the opportunity to share experiences and to participate in group and classroom counselling and support activities. For some, it may be their first school experience. Transitional newcomer programming that initially places and clusters newcomer/refugee students in specialized and intensive EAL/ Literacy classroom settings provide the learners the opportunity to begin developing familiarity with the Canadian educational system in a comfortable and welcoming environment. Newcomer learners with limited school experiences need to learn the basic elements of school life such as everyday school routines, timetables, lockers, homework, the grading system, subjects, and co- and extra-curricular activities. Intensive newcomer programming and classrooms allow the learners to develop relationships with the teacher or teachers, and with other learners who share similar backgrounds and experiences. As a result, such programming acts as a *bridge* that allows them to successfully meet the challenges they face in overcoming their educational gaps and the adaptation to the Canadian educational system. These initiatives often operate as a school within a school, and offer a small, multigrade/ungraded classroom environment.



The chart that follows provides a brief outline of some of the projects as of February 2011.

Division	Outline of Programming Components
Borderland School Division www.borderlan d.ca	This initiative focuses on afterschool and family literacy supports. The main components are a Homework Club; evening and weekend activities that promote community and cultural awareness, academic language, and literacy growth; registration in recreational programming to encourage integration; strong effort to involve Canadian peers, mentors, and community volunteers.
Division scolaire franco- manitobaine (DSFM) www.dsfm.mb.c a	This initiative is intended to support francophone students from refugee and war-affected backgrounds. The main components of the initiative are building an inclusive, local school environment that is welcoming of new students through assessment and development of educational plans. Middle Years (MY) and Senior Years (SY) students receive specialized work on Literacy and Numeracy, EAL, and francisation, if necessary, through connections with community agencies, and learning plans. There is much professional development for staff. Also, cultural liaison workers and teaching assistants from same source countries who can give support and guidance to children in their first languages are hired. A summer program was added in 2009, and continued in 2010, and 2011.
Louis Riel School Division www.lrsd.net/	Intensive Literacy, Academics, Language, and Numeracy Programming: This programming includes clustering of students for intensive programming for newcomer MY and SY students from war-affected and refugee backgrounds. It is based on intake and assessment protocol with a reception centre and is educational. It is tied to stages of EAL development. There are individualized components: intensive Math classes, literacy issues, core academic skills, and socio-economic supports. At René Deleurme, Victor Mager, and St. George schools half the day is devoted to intensive programming and the other half is dedicated to other pathways, depending on individual needs and interests (home school, technical-vocational education, tutorial support). There are multiple exit routes. There is also enhanced social work support and additional PD to support high school transitions.
River East Transcona School Division www.retsd.mb.c a	Intensive EAL-Literacy classroom at Miles Macdonell Collegiate: There is a half day SY intensive classroom initiative focused on literacy, numeracy, and academic skills as well as language development. The classes are small which allows for individualized instruction tailored to individual needs. There is ongoing assessment and exploration of educational and career options. The length of time in the intensive classroom is flexible but usually goes from first semester and beyond, dependent on individual student's progress.
St. James- Assiniboia School Division www.sjsd.net	<i>Literacy, Academics and Language Centre at Collège Sturgeon Heights Collegiate:</i> This centre draws students from across the school division who are initially assessed and referred by their catchment area school and provides an intensive LAL "bridging" initiative for newcomer learners. The centre provides 2-68 minute LAL classes with direct instruction in literacy and numeracy (provincial and school-initiated course credits). The balance of the school day students are integrated into other subject area classrooms with EAL adapted programming (E-designated course credits). The length of programming is six months or longer, dependent on student needs.
Winnipeg School Division www.wsd1.org	EAL-Literacy Centres Initiative: Launched in September 2006, this includes four Senior High centres ( <i>Daniel McIntyre Collegiate, Grant Park High School, Gordon Bell High School, and St. John's High School)</i> and one Junior High centre ( <i>Gordon Bell High School</i> ). There are two other Jr. High classrooms supported by the INS grant due to the high number of LAL learners. Students are in centres from 50 to 75% of each day and in integrated options for the remainder of the day. Emphasis is on literacy, numeracy, language development, life skills, career education, and content area subjects. A combination of provincially-developed LAL curriculum and School-Initiated Courses (SICs) enable students to receive credit for learning as they prepare to enter regular high school and EAL-designated high school courses. Three-0.5 Community Support Workers, who speak a variety of African languages, provide the students with socio-emotional and settlement support.

#### What are some examples of promising initiatives from other jurisdictions?



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 480273. July 16, 2011. Mogadishu, Somalia. UN Photo/Stuart Price. Somalia suffers from severe drought. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo>.

In the last few decades, some very promising school and classroom initiatives have been developed specifically for refugee children in various parts of the world. There are many attempts to include preventative psychosocial supports in the language and educational programming developed for these learners. A few examples follow.

<u>Project SHIFA</u> provides culturally appropriate mental health care to Somali youth and their families in Boston, Massachusetts. In general, Somali youth are significantly affected by war and violence prior to their resettlement and face many difficulties related to trauma and to acculturation and the stress of resettlement. Many of them also experience symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Project

SHIFA's emphasis when working with these youth is on prevention, intervention, and resiliency.

Project SHIFA is comprised of three main components as follows:

- *Parent outreach*: Information is provided on how stress and mental health issues alter a child's ability to function and learn.
- School-based groups for students and training for teachers provided within the school: The goal of the early intervention groups is to help with acculturation and socialization, and to help identify youth who would benefit from more mental health services. The teacher training sessions and consultations create a supportive environment for the students and reduce the stress of acculturation within the school. It also informs teachers on how learning and behaviour may be altered by trauma and stress.
- *Direct intervention for youth using the Trauma Systems Therapy model of treatment*: This treatment is for students with significant mental health needs. They receive school- and community-based care under the Trauma Systems Therapy (TST) model, which incorporates home-based care, school-based therapy, and legal advocacy.

For further information on Project SHIFA, see <<u>http://healthinschools.org/Immigrant-and-Refugee-Children/Caring-Across-Communities/Boston.aspx</u>>.

Project SHIFA is expanding and has received community-wide acceptance. Parents are now more involved and there is 100% engagement in treatment among the youth that participate in the program. Early results indicate that the program has led to increased access to services, reduced mental health symptoms, and more academic success support.

The '*PHAROS' World United* and *Welcome to School* prevention initiatives are school-based and were developed in the Netherlands before being implemented in the United Kingdom and elsewhere. Within the PHAROS initiatives, schools serve as a link between the



 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  Goto, T. (photographer). 2011. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

refugee children and the new society and they have healing capacities because they provide personal attention and structure, and they encourage children to socialize with peers and build important relationships with meaningful adults. (Rousseau and Guzder, 2008)

The PHAROS initiatives focus on elementary and high schools. There is a training initiative for teachers at each level. "Both elementary and high school initiatives rely on combined verbal and non-verbal techniques (e.g., the creation of a personal book that brings together representations of family and home as well as representations of school through pictures, drawings, and stories). These activities cover a wide range of issues pertaining to both past and present (with a focus on daily life, school, and social relations). They also address identity issues, feelings of trust and safety, and the development of a sense of agency." (Rousseau and Guzder, 2008)

<u>Schools In for Refugees: A Whole School Guide to Refugee Readiness</u> was developed by Foundation House, the Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture, Victoria, Australia. The resource manual provides tools and strategies to help school communities support refugee background students as well as their schooling experience in Australia. *Schools In for Refugees* provides school staff with resources to create a supportive school environment, promote the mental health and well-being of students, and improve their educational outcomes.

*Klassroom Kaleidoscope* was also developed by Foundation House for middle years students. Though it initially was designed for students from refugee backgrounds, it has now grown to focus on the classroom and the school as a whole. The focus is on building relationships and connections between students and their school, embracing cultural and linguistic diversity, and promoting mental health and resilience. The initiative uses an approach that centres on connectedness, acceptance of difference, and empathy. Activities include role-playing, brainstorming, group discussions and decision making, writing in journals, individual artwork, retelling stories, cooperative games, listening to music, and an excursion. The first part of the initiative focuses on identity and culture (e.g., exploring diversity, self-identity), while the second part explores emotions (anger, fear, etc.) and how they might affect people as well as how to deal with them. The initiative also touches on communication with family and friends (e.g., difficulties in making friends and solutions to such difficulties, conflicts that can occur in families, and ways of dealing with such conflicts).

# Part 4: How do we support teachers and staff working with refugee children and families?

#### What is vicarious trauma?

Burnout, compassion fatigue (CF), and vicarious *trauma (VT)* are related conditions, which may develop and affect individuals in the helping professions. They can have significant and devastating effects on an individual's personal and professional life. (Trippany, Kress, & Wilcoxon, 2004) Educators and other helping professionals who work in emotionally, socially, and cognitively demanding jobs are susceptible to developing one or more of these conditions. (Simpson & Starkey, 2006) Recognizing the unique aspects of each of these conditions and differentiating between burnout, compassion fatigue, and vicarious trauma will be helpful in preventing the development of these conditions and addressing them when and if they do occur.

*Burnout* refers to the physical and emotional exhaustion that come from prolonged stress and frustration. (Freudenberger, 1980; Maslach, 2005) When the individual feels that they have too many demands, not enough support, and lack resources, they may begin to feel powerless and overwhelmed. Burnout is not specific to education or the helping professions, it can happen in any field or role.

Burnout is preventable and results from organizational factors such as inadequate support and supervision, lack of communication and positive feedback, as well as unmanageable workloads and inadequate training. (Bell, Kulkarni, & Dalton, 2003; Leiter & Maslach, 2005) The development of burnout is associated to a large degree with the work environment rather than with the presence of a history of trauma on either the part of the student/client or the educator/helping professional. (Hudek, 2007) The effects of burnout can be significant and include emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced feelings of accomplishment. (Maslach 2003) Following are links to resources for self-study and training, as well as in-depth information on vicarious trauma and its prevention and treatment:

- The Headington Institute supports humanitarian organizations by promoting the well-being of their staff. They offer online training resources and self-study guides, including one on vicarious trauma. See <<u>www.headington-institute.org/</u> <u>Default.aspx?tabid=2647</u>>.
- National Clearinghouse on Family Violence (2001). Guidebook on Vicarious Trauma: Recommended Solutions for Anti-Violence Workers (PDF) can be downloaded from <<u>http://publications.gc.ca/site/eng/327305/public</u> ation.html>.
- The Faculty of Social Work at Columbia University developed an online course called *Helping Students Cope with Trauma and Loss-Online Training for School Personnel*. Part 1 of the course includes information on self-care and vicarious traumatisation. Part 1 is available online for self-study. See
  - <<u>http://ci.columbia.edu/w0521/index.html</u>>.
- Helpguide.org is a not-for profit organization that provides resources to support good mental and emotional health. The web site offers online resources on post-post traumatic stress disorder and trauma. See

<<u>http://helpguide.org/topics/ptsd\_trauma.</u> <u>htm</u>>.

- Netce.com is the website of CME Resource, an organization that provides curricula that assists healthcare professionals in raising their levels of expertise while fulfilling their continuing education requirements. Free access to this course (Course # 6662) is available on the <u>Vicarious Trauma and Resilience</u> website and may be downloaded as a pdf. See <<u>http://www.netce.com/coursecontent.php?cours eid=1060</u>>.
- The National Institute for Trauma and Loss in <u>Children</u> offers online courses and a variety of resources on various topics related to trauma and loss in children.
- Compassion Fatigue Solutions (<<u>compassionfatigue.ca</u>>) is a Canadian organization offering training and educational resources.
- The Compassion Fatigue Awareness Project also offers original training materials, workbooks, and texts. See
  - <<u>www.compassionfatigue.org/index.html</u>>.

*Vicarious trauma and compassion fatigue* are conditions that are associated with the evolving concept in the field of traumatology known as *secondary traumatic stress*. (Figley, 2012) The term compassion fatigue was first used by C. Joinson in her 1992 article on nursing, *Coping with Compassion*, to describe the condition of nurses who were worn down by the daily demands of the hospital and emergencies.



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 21963. June 23, 2003. Algeria. UN Photo/Evan Schneider. Western Sahara refugees. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

(Figley, 2012, Coetzee & Klopper, 2010) Most often, this condition is associated with the "cost of caring" (Figley, 1982; Headington Institute) for individuals experiencing emotional pain. Other commonly used terms that describe this or related conditions are *empathic strain, secondary victimization* (Figley, 1982), *secondary trauma* (Pross, 2006), *vicarious trauma/traumatisation* (McCann & Pearlman, 1989; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995), and *secondary survivor* (Remer & Elliott, 1988a; 1988b).

*Vicarious trauma (VT)* and *compassion fatigue (CF)* are the result of the negative changes that occur to people in helping professions, usually over time or occasionally as the result of one single, but particularly challenging or

extreme case. (Cunningham, 2003; Panos, 2007) They develop because of the caregiver's strong ability to care for and empathize with those that they serve. (Figley, 1995) It is the 'cost of caring', and the result of sustained interaction with victims of trauma and frequent exposure to their traumatic stories, suffering, and pain. (Figley, 1995; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Stamm, 1999; Stamm, *et al.*, 2003; Pross, 2006; Headington Institute)

While some authors use the terms vicarious trauma and compassion fatigue interchangeably, others distinguish between the two (Trippany, Kress, & Wilcoxon, 2004). Compassion fatigue (CF) refers to "a state of exhaustion and dysfunction (biologically, psychologically, and socially) as a result of prolonged exposure to compassion stress" (Figley, 1995, p. 253) that takes place when helpers are unable to refuel and regenerate (Figley, 1992, 2002c, 2012). Compassion Fatigue is used to describe someone who regularly hears/witnesses very difficult and traumatic stories and loses their ability to feel empathy for their clients, co-workers, family, and partners. (Figley, 1992, 2002c) This is a condition of deep physical and emotional exhaustion that leaves the individual feeling drained and having nothing to give to others. Compassion-fatigue professionals find it difficult to maintain an appropriate balance of objectivity and empathy. Compassion fatigue may be reflected through a variety of behavioural, emotional, relational, physical, and spiritual symptoms. It can sometimes be misdiagnosed as depression; however, it is preventable and treatable through self-care and appropriate supports. (Figley, 2002c)

The term *vicarious traumatisation* was first used by McCann and Pearlman (1989, 1990) to describe the cumulative negative effects that those in helping professions experience over time as a result of their work with traumatized individuals. Vicarious trauma, like compassion fatigue, may develop specifically because of the individual's work with trauma victims/survivors (McCann and Pearlman, 1989). Usually, it is the result of the *cumulative* effect of contact and interaction with survivors of violence, war, and disasters. With repeated exposure to traumatic stories and imagery, helping professionals may begin to incorporate an accumulation of their students'/clients' traumatic material into their own view of self and the world. (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Stamm, 1999; Stamm, *et al.*, 2003; Pross, 2006; Headington Institute) Vicarious trauma thus is used to *describe the "life-changing effect on individuals, ultimately affecting their view of the world and their relationships and connections to families, friends and community."* (National Clearinghouse on Family Violence, 2001, p. 3)

Burnout, compassion fatigue, and vicarious trauma have features that overlap and have an interactional effect (Hudek, 2007; Pearlman and Saakvitne, 1995). Therefore, an individual may experience these conditions sequentially or simultaneously.

Most of the research and literature on compassion fatigue and vicarious trauma to date has focused on the experiences of trauma workers such as first responders (police, firefighters, emergency workers) and anti-violence workers such as social workers, counsellors who work with victims of torture and sexual assault, and therapists (National Clearinghouse on Family Violence, 2001). However, all educators, because of their close interaction and relationships with students and their families, may be exposed to the trauma that their students may have experienced. This is especially true for educators who specifically choose to work with war-affected and other traumatized children. Such educators often experience repeated exposure to traumatic stories in the form of direct disclosure by the student writings, classroom discussions, and reactions to events or learning materials.

For persons who work with trauma survivors, the most important part of coping with the intensity of the work is to acknowledge it will affect you. If you've been trained in crisis intervention and empathic, active listening skills, this work will affect you. If you really listen to what the client is telling you, this work will affect you. Recognizing that it is "normal" to be affected by this type of work is the most important coping skill that you can give to yourself. You're not alone. It's okay to feel outraged, horrified, shocked, saddened, or vulnerable.

(Nelson, 2012)

Teachers enter the profession because they enjoy working with children and youth and want to help them grow and develop. As a result, they tend be empathetic, compassionate, and caring people. Teachers, counsellors, and other educational staff who choose to work with survivors of trauma are no exception. However, the very qualities that can make them effective as educators of war-affected learners in combination with the intensity of their work in the classroom and school, and personal factors in their lives can put them at high risk for compassion fatigue and vicarious traumatisation.

#### How do I know if I am experiencing vicarious trauma?

Vicarious traumatisation should be considered a normal and common aspect of working with individuals and groups of people who have suffered major losses or experienced terrible events (Trippany, Kress, and Wilcoxon, 2004).

The personal characteristics of educators, their life experiences, the social context, and organizational factors can influence whether or not educators will experience vicarious trauma. Some of the factors that influence the development of vicarious trauma include the following (Headington Institute, <<u>http://headington-institute.org/Default.aspx?tabid=2650>; Bloom, 2003</u>):

<ul> <li>educators/caregivers with a personal history of</li></ul>	<ul> <li>the ability to engage in a supportive community</li></ul>
trauma experiences	and the access to such a community
<ul> <li>the degree of emotional connectivity to the</li></ul>	<ul> <li>dealing with a high percentage of traumatized</li></ul>
student(s) or victim(s) of trauma	children, particularly sexually abused children
<ul> <li>overextending oneself over and above the normal role or service expectations of their profession by overworking, ignoring healthy boundaries, or taking on too many trauma survivors</li> <li>limited training or experience with trauma and supporting victims of trauma</li> <li>the ability to nurture oneself through self-care, rest, and play</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>experiencing too many negative outcomes</li> <li>problematic or severe reactions by the affected students and community</li> <li>organizations that don't recognize the severity and pervasiveness of traumatic experience in the population they are serving and that fail to provide social support for educators/caregivers</li> </ul>

#### Symptoms or Signs of Vicarious Trauma

Vicarious traumatisation can be conceptualized as a form of infectious trauma or emotional infection (Pearlman & Maclan, 1995; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Pross, 2006). From this perspective, the student's/client's horrific stories, memories, nightmares, fears, despair, and distrust, infect the teacher or helping professional who, in turn, develops similar symptoms. Some of the common symptoms or signs of vicarious traumatisation, include the following (Pearlman and Saakvitne, 1995; Pross, 2006; Trippany, Kress, and Wilcoxon, 2004; Headington Institute, <<u>http://headington-institute.org/</u>Default.aspx?tabid=2650>)

<ul> <li>symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder— nightmares, sleeplessness, intrusions, avoidance behaviour, irritability</li> <li>denial of client's trauma</li> <li>over-identification with client</li> <li>no time and energy for oneself</li> <li>feelings of great vulnerability</li> <li>problems managing the boundaries between oneself and others (e.g., taking on too much responsibility, having difficulty leaving work at the end of the day, trying to step in and control other's lives)</li> <li>problems in relationships, disconnection from loved ones, and social withdrawal</li> <li>generalized despair and hopelessness</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>loss of feeling of security</li> <li>increased sensitivity to violence</li> <li>cynicism</li> <li>loss of meaning and hope, loss of confidence that good is still possible in the world</li> <li>feeling disillusioned by humanity</li> <li>disrupted frame of reference</li> <li>changes in identity, world view, spirituality</li> <li>diminished self-capacities</li> <li>impaired ego resources</li> <li>alterations in sensory experiences (intrusive imagery, dissociation, depersonalization)</li> <li>physical problems such as aches and pains, illnesses, and accidents</li> </ul>
--	---

#### Assessing Vicarious Traumatic Stress Reactions

Self-awareness is the starting point for preventing and addressing vicarious trauma. Assessment of one's own condition is a part of this process. There are a few resources that educators and other helping professionals may utilize for self-assessment of vicarious traumatisation. These are the Professional Quality of Life (ProQOL) Scale-R-IV (Stamm, 2009), the Secondary Trauma Scale (Motta, Kefer, Hertz, and Hafeez, 1999), and the Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale (Bride, Robinson, Yegidis, and Figley, 2004).

Of these three resources, the ProQOL is one of the commonly used measures. It provides an assessment of both the negative and positive effects of helping others who experience suffering and trauma. The ProQOL has sub-scales for compassion satisfaction, burnout, and compassion fatigue. The measure has been in use since 1995. The ProQOL 5 is the current version. Information and access to the ProQOL is available from <<u>http://proqol.org/ProQol\_Test.html</u>>.

### Self-Care for Educators

The National Child Traumatic Stress Network provides six tips for educators to help them identify vicarious trauma in themselves and be in a better position to seek help. The tips and their descriptions can be found on the National Child Traumatic Stress Network; however, the six tips are listed below for your convenience. Please refer to <www.nctsn.org/products/self-careeducators-dealing-secondary-traumatic-stress> for a detailed description of each item.

- 1. Be aware of the signs of vicarious trauma.
- 2. Don't deal with it alone.
- 3. Recognize vicarious trauma as an occupational hazard.
- 4. Seek help with your own traumas.
- 5. If you see signs of vicarious trauma in yourself, talk to a professional.
- 6. Attend to self-care.

#### What can I do to prevent burnout and vicarious trauma?

#### What can our school do to prevent vicarious trauma or help people cope with it?

The organization plays a large role in the prevention and management of vicarious trauma. It is critically important that the school be trauma-informed and supportive of school staff, especially those working with war-affected learners and other trauma survivors.

Schools can implement a number of strategies that will prevent or minimize the incidence of vicarious trauma and that will help address it when it affects school staff. A summary of the principal organizational strategies that have been suggested in the literature for both prevention and intervention follow (National Child Traumatic Stress Network, 2008; Hamilton, 2007; Mathieu, 2007a, 2007b; Trippany, Kress, and Wilcoxon, 2004; Bell, Kulkarn, and Dalton, 2003; National Clearinghouse on Family Violence, 2001):

- **1.** An organizational or school culture that 'normalizes' the effects of working with trauma survivors can provide a supportive environment for educators, social workers, and other personnel to address those effects in their own work and lives.
- 2. The organization or school provides a safe and supportive working environment.
- **3.** Trauma-specific education that addresses the impact of the refugee experience and other forms of trauma on student well-being and learning is an important aspect of preventing vicarious trauma. Teachers and all school staff will benefit from this type of training, as it will assist in providing a context for situations that may arise in the classroom or school. The provision of training for school administrators and staff with respect to vicarious trauma is an important aspect of trauma-specific training.
- 4. Measures are implemented to recognize and acknowledge the potential for vicarious trauma and to learn to identify early warning signs of vicarious trauma among self and colleagues.
- 5. Social support is offered within the organization or school for those coping with vicarious trauma. Opportunities for group debriefings and for staff to meet and discuss stressful situations on a regular basis are essential. This process is supportive of staff and it provides an opportunity to learn more about "what works". Reinforcement and an opportunity to discuss and share useful strategies are important in maintaining levels of confidence and skill. Support groups are an effective tool for educators and others who are exposed on a continuous basis to survivors of trauma.
- 6. School protocols are developed in advance for dealing with traumatic events or emergencies that may occur in the school. These need to include opportunities for debriefing. There are many models, both formal and informal, used to debrief responders and others. Critical Incident Stress Debriefing developed by Jeffery Mitchell is one of the frequently used crisis debriefing models for caregivers.
- 7. The presence of effective and positive supervision of teachers and other staff, within the organization or school, creates a relationship in which individuals feel safe and can express fears, concerns, and challenges. In addition to providing emotional support, school administrators can also teach staff about vicarious trauma in ways that are supportive, respectful, and sensitive to its effects.
- **8.** Clear delineation of roles, responsibilities, and boundaries within the school structure are important. Knowing when to refer a problem to someone else is critical and requires anticipation of distressing situations that are likely to arise.
- **9.** Support for self-care, therapy (if required), and provision of structured stress management and physical activities are offered on site by the organization or school.

The resource <u>Mental Health and the ESL Classroom: A Guide for Teachers Working with Refugees</u> (2000) produced by the International Institute of Boston and Immigration and Refugee Services of America is intended for teachers of adult learners. However, it has some very useful advice that is applicable to K to 12 settings.

## Part 5: Helping Refugee Children and Youth in Schools...

## How can we use a bioecological framework to support refugee and war-affected learners?

Urie Bronfenbrenner is a developmental psychologist and a co-founder of the Head Start preschool program in the United States. He has had a major impact on the study of child development and the education of children. In his work, Bronfenbrenner emphasizes the importance of the social environments in which children are raised and offers a holistic perspective on the development of human psychology that takes into account many interrelated factors.

Bonfenbrenner's ecological systems theory is based on the idea that a person's development reflects the influence of five environmental systems with which an individual child or person interacts. (Stewart, 2012; Betancourt & Kahn, 2008; Bronfenbrenner, 1979) The model is premised on the fact that "the person is both influenced by the environment and the person also influences the environment. Secondly, the environment is not a single entity; rather it is a compilation of several multilevel environments (systems) and the interconnections between them (Bronfenbrenner, 1989)." (Stewart 2011, p. 16) The systems include a microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem.

At the center of the **microsystem** is the individual child or person and the immediate setting in which they live. Therefore, the microsystem includes the individual characteristics and needs of the individual and of those individuals that interact with the person in the immediate environment. This includes the family and other caregivers, the teachers and the classroom, as well as sports/recreational teams and groups. It also includes the objects and symbols in the immediate environment. The microsystem reflects the patterns of activities, roles, and interpersonal relationships the student or person experiences in their immediate setting—home, school, child care facility, and neighbourhood. (Lewthwaite, 2011; Stewart, 2011)

The **mesosystem** is two microsystems (the student/person and people and objects in the student's/person's immediate environment) interacting, such as the connection between a child's home and school or the linkages of family to peers. Experiences in one microsystem may affect experiences in other microsysytems. (Stewart, 2011) For example, a child who experiences neglect by parents may have difficulty with school.

The **exosystem** is an environment in which the student/person is only indirectly involved and does not have an active role, but yet it may influence their immediate environment. For example, the student's parent's workplace and their experiences there can affect their family life, which in turn affects the student. The exosystem may include friends of the family, community members, social agencies, school boards, neighbours, and so on. For example, a school board may set policies or introduce programs that may have a positive or negative effect on individual learners. (Stewart, 2011)

The **macrosystem** is the larger cultural context. It refers to societal and cultural ideologies, practices, values, customs, and laws that impact on the individual. (Lewthwaite, 2011; Stewart, 2011)

The **chronosystem** refers to the patterns of environmental events and transitions over time in the student's/person's life. These developmental changes may be triggered by life events or experiences that occur both internally (within the individual), or externally, in the environment. (Stewart, 2011) For example, the onset of puberty (internal) or the divorce of one's parents (external).

Bronfenbrenner's theory and corresponding model have evolved since the original 1979 conceptualization of the environment in terms of nested systems ranging from *micro* to *macro*. (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006) Since the student's/person's own biology is often considered part of the microsystem, Bronfenbrenner's theory has more recently been called bioecological systems theory.

Stewart (2011) built upon Bronfenbrenner's model by adding an additional dimension or refinement to the concept of the microsystem. From her research with refugee youth, she noticed that, within the microsystem of a specific student, there appeared to exist several smaller and more "intimate systems" of relationships which provide support for the student. She calls these systems that operate within the microsystem and the student, nanosystems. From Stewart's perspective, microsystems describe the context within which the student lives and include possible relations, whereas the nanosystem describes the patterns and groups of **close** relationships that exist within the student's life. A nanosystem may be a relationship a student has with another person, or it may be a relationship with a circle or group of individuals.

Graphic representations of this theory are often identified as *Bronfenbrenner's bioecological model*. (Stewart, 2011; Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006) A graphic depiction of Bronfenbrenner's model, which includes Stewart's concept of a nanosystem, created by Tony Tavares (Consultant, Manitoba Education), follows.



A brief overview of the basic components of the revised bioecological model as described by Bronfenbrenner and Morris (2006) follows.

The core of the bioecological model is the idea of *proximal processes*. *Proximal processes* refer to the types and forms of interaction between the individual and the environment that operate over time and are considered to be the primary mechanisms that produce human development. "However, the power of such processes to influence development is presumed, and shown, to vary substantially as a function of the characteristics of the developing *Person*, of the immediate and more remote environmental *Contexts*, and the *Time* periods, in which the proximal processes take place." (Bronfenbrenner and Morris, 2006, p. 795)

The three additional defining properties of the model begin with the formulation of the qualities or biopsychological characteristics of the individual student/person. Bronfenbrenner and Morris (2006) identify three types of personal characteristics that they deem are "most influential in shaping the course of future development through their capacity to affect the direction and power of proximal processes through the life course." (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, p. 795) The three types of characteristics are *dispositions, bioecological resources,* and *demand.* These three forms of personal characteristics and their combination influence the nature of the proximal processes and their developmental effects. In addition, the three types of personal characteristics outlined above are also incorporated into the "definition of the *microsystem* as characteristics of parents, relatives, close friends, teachers, mentors, co-workers, spouses, or others who participate in the life of the developing person on a fairly regular basis over extended periods of time." (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006, p.796)

Bronfenbrenner's bioecological model also introduced a very significant aspect of the structure of the microsystem: that of the interaction with objects and symbols (whereas his earlier conceptualization focused on interactions with other humans). As well as his new conceptualisation, he introduces concepts and criteria that differentiate between those aspects of the environment that 'foster' in contrast with those that 'interfere' with the development of proximal processes. With respect to those that interfere, Bronfenbrenner points to the hectic nature of contemporary life, and the instability and chaos in the family, child-care facilities, schools, peer groups, and neighbourhoods. (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006, p. 796)

Stewart (2011) believes that the nanosystem helps the students adjust to school. The connections established with people in the school and the close relationships formed as a result of the nanosystem, help the students connect to other systems and navigate between systems and access them. The concept of the nanosystem is very much in keeping with the concept of proximal processes. The nanosystem is the result of the complex interactions that occur between the students and selected individuals in their microsystem. The people in the nanosystem have genuine connections with the students and, as a result, can play crucial roles in their lives.

For Bronfenbrenner, perhaps the most important aspect of the current bioecological model and the one that sets it apart the most from the initial conceptualization is the dimension of *time*. In the new conceptualization, *time* has a prominent place at three successive levels: micro-, meso-, and macro-. "*Microtime* refers to continuity versus discontinuity in ongoing episodes of proximal process. *Mesotime* is the periodicity of these episodes across broader time intervals, such as days and weeks. Finally, *macrotime* focuses on the changing expectations and events in the larger society, both within and across generations." (Bronfenbrenner and Morris, 2006, p. 796)

Stewart (2011) finds Bronfenbrenner's bioecological model a more useful tool than his earlier conceptualization for exploring the development of refugee and war-affected children and youth. In addition, she indicates that the bioecological model is further enhanced by the adaptations made by Anderson et al (2004) "to include three phases of migration: pre-migration, trans-migration, and post-migration, which acknowledge the disruptions in the individual's life in addition to other developmental or ecological changes (e.g., puberty, starting a new school year)." (Stewart, 2011, p. 17)

The bioecological model is useful for developing an understanding of the variables and factors that affect child and adolescent adaptation to armed conflict and resettlement. Researchers propose that in addition to the direct relationship between trauma and mental health, a range of additional factors or variables affect children's adaptation to traumatic events in the short- and long-term. (American Psychological Association, 2010) These variables can include both risk and protective factors. Bronfenbrenner's model "provides a helpful framework for understanding these risk and protective factors in children's lives by identifying the presence of individual, family, and community systems that overlap and interact as children develop and grow." (American Psychological Association, 2010, p. 21)

However, the model also indicates that when considering the individual refugee or war-affected learner, we need to go beyond the individual learner (microsystem) and the immediate school, family, and social environment (mesosystem) and also consider how the exosystem (broader community) and the macrosystem (the dominant culture and nature of society) impact on the learner.

Refugee children and youth's well-being, depends to a major degree on their school experiences, successes and failures. (Richman, 1998 as cited in Hek, 2005)

Educators working with refugee and war-affected learners

need to be aware of the many factors involved in the personality development of the learner, as well as the factors involved in that learner's behaviour and their successes or difficulties in school. The *bioecological model* emphasizes that there is a complex set of relationships that affect a child's behaviour, personality, acculturation, and adjustment. A learner's behaviour is not just the result of personal characteristics and choices, but also the result of a number of factors including, but not limited to, the learners relationships in the classroom, school, and home; the economic situation of the family; the appropriateness of the programming; the socio-economic status of the student and the student's family; and the status of the cultural or religious group to which the student belongs in the broader society. (Stewart, 2011)

Bronfenbrenner's model has very practical implications for educators and schools who seek to help and support refugee and war-affected learners. It reminds us when assessing learners that we need to go beyond the personal characteristics of the individual learner. It also reminds us that successful interventions, programming, and supports need to go beyond students and their immediate environment. Jan Stewart (2008, 2011), in her research focusing on teachers, and refugee and war-affected learners, found that the 'systems' were not working together and worked in relative isolation. She stressed that, in order to provide learners with appropriate educational programming, the microsystem, mesosystem, and exosystem must work together to improve the educational and life chances of these vulnerable learners and to support the work of the teachers in the classroom. She concluded on the basis of her research that

...a multi-ecological and coordinated program to support refugee children would likely ameliorate many of the challenges that they experience. Instead of working with children as isolated individuals, there need to be more culturally-appropriate and contextually-inclusive approaches that focus on children who are part of a much larger ecological system. (Stewart, 2008, p. 28)

Jan Stewart's 2011 book, *Supporting Refugee Children: Strategies for Educators*, provides a more detailed analysis of the issues and possibilities drawing on *Bronfenbrenner's bioecological model*.

# What do we need to consider in developing effective policies and plans for these learners?

Local governments, agencies, school boards, and schools need to develop policies and practices, which will compassionately and effectively support refugee children and youth in schools. Planning for EAL and newcomer programming and other supports is essential.

A whole-school commitment to the well-being of all students provides a supportive environment for learning and is built upon three layers or levels of support: providing universal care for all learners, providing additional support for individuals or groups, and providing tailored intervention for learners requiring intensive support.

Each of these layers may be conceptualized as being five areas of practice. For schools responding to students with refugee experience, these can be described as

- a learning environment which values cultural diversity, is supportive and understanding of refugee experiences, and promotes positive relationships
- curriculum and pedagogy which are inclusive and provide specific support for developing English or French language literacy skills
- policies and procedures which support transition, enrolment, and ongoing support, including the use of translators and interpreters when required
- partnerships, which are fostered with parents, communities, and outside agencies

It is important that school divisions and schools identify tools and strategies to strengthen the capacity of school communities to support immigrant refugee background students and their schooling experience in Canada. One such resource is the Australian resource, *School's In for Refugees* (see

<<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au/schools-in-for-refugees/</u>> or Part 4 of *Life After War: Education as a Healing Process for Refugee and War-Affected Learners* for additional details), that provides teachers, support staff, and school administrators with strategies to help build a supportive school environment that promotes the mental health and well-being of students from refugee backgrounds and that improves their educational outcomes. The resource takes a whole-school approach by focusing on the following five aspects of school management:

- school policies and practices
- school curriculum and programs
- school organisation, ethos, and environment
- partnerships with parents
- partnerships with agencies



© United Nations Photo. January 1, 1978. New York, United States. UN Photo/Marcia Weistein. International year of the child (IYC)— 1979. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.



iStock. Ethnic circle with handicapped people—paper concept. File 11778701.

A beginning point for schools and school divisions is to undertake a review of the existing policies and practices. To that end, <u>Black line Master 3: A Planning Checklist for Schools, Families, and</u> <u>Communities</u> is provided. It is intended to stimulate discussion and provide some ideas of things that should be considered. These should not be seen as special programming but simply as good education which is normal to a country and province such as Canada and Manitoba that support immigration to stimulate growth.

**UNESCO's** *Guidebook for Planning Education in Emergencies and Reconstruction* provides detailed information and guidance to support ministries of education in countries affected by conflict or natural disaster, as well as UN organizations, donor agencies, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) working in support of these ministries. See <<u>www.preventionweb.net/files/8401\_quidebook.pdf</u>>.

#### What is a whole-school approach?

A whole-school approach means that all members of the school community share responsibility for creating a positive and appropriate learning environment for all students and for collaboratively working to create and maintain such environments. In the context of this document, a whole-school approach is collective, connected, and collaborative action in and by the school community that has been strategically developed to improve student learning, behaviour, and well-being for all learners in general and specifically for refugee and war-affected learners.

From this perspective, the ultimate goal of a whole-school approach is the promotion of excellence and equity in the school, and the contribution to building an inclusive and democratic community. Schools that have adopted a whole-school approach consciously and systematically seek to identify and address the conditions that leave behind or exclude some learners.
The Whole Schooling Consortium (see <<u>www.wholeschooling.net/</u>>) sets out eight principles that are at the core of whole-school approaches. These have been adapted for this document and described as follows.

- **1.** Create learning spaces for all: Organize the school and the classrooms in ways that support effective teaching practice and learning for all students.
- 2. Empower citizens for democracy: Help learners become empowered citizens in a democracy by involving them in sharing power and decision-making in the daily life of the school and classroom. As well, include power sharing as an integral part of the culture of a school among adults. Also include the promotion of collaboration among staff in partnership with parents and the community.
- **3.** Include all in learning together: Welcome diversity in the school and create school and classroom contexts and conditions that allow learners to interact and learn together across cultures, ethnicities, languages, abilities, genders, and ages.
- **4. Build a caring community:** Build community. It is an essential aspect of creating effective schools and classrooms, especially in the presence of diverse learners. School staff care for and support learners, which are experiencing learning or other challenges in their school.
- **5. Support learning:** Utilize all resources available to the school, teachers, and learners to support learning. This includes utilizing specialized school and community resources to strengthen learning in all classrooms. It requires that support personnel collaborate with the classroom teachers to include children with differing or specialized needs in classroom activities and to design effective instruction for all students.
- 6. Partner with families and the community: Commit school leaders and staff to collaborate and partner together within the school and with families and the broader community to improve learning and community conditions. Engage students, parents, teachers, and others in decision-making and guide the direction of learning and school activities.
- 7. Teach all by using authentic, multi-level instruction: Students reflect a diversity of strengths and their development reflects different developmental paces and pathways. Schools must design instruction for diverse learners that engages them in active learning in meaningful, real-world activities at multiple levels of ability, providing scaffolding and adaptations as required.
- 8. Assess students to promote learning: Assessment as, for, and of learning is essential. Assessment for learning uses authentic, curriculum-based assessment tools and practices to determine what students know and do so that learning strategies can be targeted to help students progress. Assessment as learning tools and practices engages learners in the learning process and helps them develop ways in which they can improve their learning. Assessment of learning provides important information on the progress of learners within a classroom and across a school.

## Why do we need a whole-school approach?\*

While this resource focuses on refugee and war-affected learners, it is designed to complement the types of services and supports provided by schools to all students. Manitoba's policies on appropriate education and inclusion provide a framework that promotes a whole-school approach to student support that is based on the needs of students and the whole-school community. This framework acknowledges that students bring with them a wide range of skills and experiences that may influence their potential to learn and the ways in which they learn most effectively. Manitoba Education recognizes that all teachers have a responsibility to respond when students experience difficulty with their schooling. It is therefore important that teachers have access to tools that enable early identification and effective intervention for students.

A whole-school approach to student support should include strategies to help teachers identify students' needs, take action to meet these needs within the school program, and monitor and review progress. A key aspect of this process is enabling teachers to meet student needs by providing them with a planned, sequential, and detailed whole-school approach to student support with appropriate professional development to assist with the implementation of strategies.

The chart that follows highlights the key points of the whole-school approach to student support.



#### A comprehensive whole-school approach to student support

<sup>\*</sup> Text and image adapted from Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture. (2011). *School's In for Refugees*. 2nd ed. Victoria, Australia: Victoria Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc.

### What is a refugee readiness school audit and how can it help us develop a school plan?



iStock. Teacher and students in a classroom. File 3962686.

It is important that, from time to time, schools review their programming and support for their learners to ensure that the needs of all learners are being met. This is especially true for schools that have relatively minimal experience with refugee and war-affected learners or those that have not focused on this group of learners for a while. The Australian support document, *School's In for Refugees* (2011) developed by the Foundation House, in Victoria, provides extensive background information about the impact of the refugee experience on learners and offers numerous practical suggestions for supportive teacher practices.

The remainder of this Australian resource presents *refugee readiness audit* tools for assessing and building a school's capacity for supporting refugees. The *Refugee Readiness Audit* addresses five areas that are consistent with the comprehensive whole-school approach to student support services presented earlier. For each area, the document provides an overview of good practice and strategies as well as an audit tool.

#### The five areas are

- **1.** school policies and practices (p. 65)
- 2. curriculum, teaching, and learning (p. 91)
- 3. school organisation, ethos, and environment (p. 109)
- 4. partnerships with parents and careers (p. 129)
- 5. partnerships with agencies (p. 139)

Although specific suggestions clearly are for the Australian context, there are many useful ideas applicable to Manitoba schools. The *Refugee Readiness Audit* will be helpful in identifying gaps and developing strategies to address student needs and build capacity. It may be used by schools as part of their annual school planning process or as part of a more targeted divisional or school capacity building and planning initiative.

# Part 6: Learning More about Refugee and War-Affected Learners and Families—A Bibliography of Selected Web-Based and Text Resources

### Child soldiers—Children and war



© United Nations Photo. November 21, 2009. Panpandiar, Sudan. UN Photo/Tim McKulka. Special representative for children visits former child soldiers. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

- BBC World Service. *Children of conflict*. A BBC news site about child soldiers, wounded children, lost children, child workers, and child-headed households. See
   <www.bbc.co.uk/worldservice/people/features/childrensrights/childrenofconflict/>.
- Finken, H.A. (2003). Child soldiers. *Teaching module: Child labor research initiative*, University of Iowa. Center for Human Rights. A module developed for secondary students to explore the effects of the recruitment of child soldiers and the things being done to stop this from happening. Students learn about child soldiers through various activities. See
   <a href="https://www.continuetolearn.uiowa.edu/laborctr/child\_labor/materials/pdf/modules/child\_soldiers.pdf">www.continuetolearn.uiowa.edu/laborctr/child\_labor/materials/pdf/modules/child\_soldiers.pdf</a>>.
- Alfredson, L. (2002). Child soldiers, displacement and human security. *Disarmament Forums*, UNDIR. 17–27. See <<u>www.unidir.org/pdf/articles/pdf-art1728.pdf</u>>.
- Child Soldiers International. This is an organization that helps to stop the use of child soldiers and to reintegrate these children into society. The website features resources of interest to educators. See <<u>www.child-soldiers.org/home</u>>.
- COAV Children and Youth in Organized Armed Violence. This site includes research from
  organizations and groups all over the world with regard to child soldiers, gangs, and children's
  rights. See <<u>www.coav.org.br</u>>.
- Human Rights Watch—Child Soldiers. Human Rights Watch has several resources related to child soldiers. Reports, commentaries, and multimedia resources on a variety of human rights issues are available. See <<u>www.hrw.org/topic/childrens-rights/child-soldiers</u>>.
- Invisible Children. This organization was founded by the three filmmakers that produced the 2003 documentary "Invisible Children: Rough Cut," a film that exposes the realities of northern Uganda's night commuters and child soldiers. The organization is dedicated to activism. Through this documentary, the filmmakers hope to teach the people of the Western world about the situation regarding children in Uganda and to inspire them to use their voice for change. The site features video resources and information about the conflict. See <<u>http://invisiblechildren.com/</u>>.

- Peacebuild: The Canadian Peacebuilding Network. This organization seeks to promote the creation
  of peace groups in Canada in order to participate in creating international peace. There are excellent
  links to Canadian Initiatives for Youth. See <<u>www.peacebuild.ca/about-links-e.php</u>>.
- Save the Children U.K. This organization works in more than 120 countries on child poverty, children's rights, climate change, education, emergencies, health and HIV, hunger, and protection. See <<u>www.savethechildren.org.uk/</u>>.
- UNHCR refugee resources for teachers. There are lesson modules for three age groups that enable teachers to introduce refugee issues into History, Geography, Art, Human Rights, Language Arts, and Citizenship. See <<u>www.unhcr.org/pages/49c3646cbf.html</u>.
- UNICEF—Child recruitment by armed forces or armed groups. UNICEF helps secure the release of child soldiers, reunites them with their families, and reintegrates them into society by looking after their physical and mental health. They also help them build a better future by providing them with life skills, education, vocational skills, and livelihoods training. The site offers <u>Machel's 1996 study</u> of the impact of war on children as well as many other resources. See <www.unicef.org/protection/57929\_58007.html>.
- UNICEF Children in War. The United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund focuses on the following areas: child survival and development, basic education and gender equality, HIV/AIDS and children, child protection, and policy advocacy and partnerships. See <<u>www.unicef.org/children-in-war/feature-peaceed.html</u>>.
- War is not a game: The experiences of refugee children. Video, 32 min. Frameline Productions. It is
  a documentary video about the effects of war and violence on refugee children living in Canada.
  See <<u>www.framelineproductions.net</u>/>.
- *War Child Canada*: The mission of the organization is to help youth succeed within their communities and overcome the difficulties associated with living in war zones. War Child Canada fulfills its mission in these communities by
  - making it easier to go to school (especially for female youth)
  - helping them overcome obstacles related to poverty and marginalization
  - creating an environment that protects the rights of children and youth

War Child Canada has a strong school focus and students represent a big part of the War Child community. See <u>Get Involved</u> for further information.

Youth Advocate Program International. *Children in armed conflict: How girl soldiers are punished by their past*. This document broaches the issues surrounding girl child soldiers (as opposed to boy child soldiers) and their reintegration into society.
 See <www.yapi.org/rpgirlsoldiers.pdf>.

### **Articles and Books**

Brett, R., & Specht, I. (2004). Young soldiers. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers Inc.

Deng, W. D. (2001). A Survey of programs on the reintegration of former child soldiers. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.mofa.go.jp/policy/human/child/survey/index.html">www.mofa.go.jp/policy/human/child/survey/index.html</a>

Kaplan, S. (2005). *Children in Africa with experiences of massive trauma*. Stockholm: SIDA. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.enigma.se/kaplan/pdf/SIDAChildreninAfrica.pdf">www.enigma.se/kaplan/pdf/SIDAChildreninAfrica.pdf</a>>.

Keairns, Y. (2002). Child soldiers. Retrieved from <<u>www.afsc.org/issues/issue.php?id=315</u>>.

- Keairns, Y. (2002). *The voices of girl child soldiers*. New York: Quaker United Nations Office. Retrieved from <<u>www.quno.org/newyork/Resources/QUNOchildsoldiers.pdf</u>>.
- Machel, G. (1996). *Children at both ends of the gun. Impact of armed conflict on children.* United Nations/UNICEF. Retrieved from <www.unicef.org/graca>.

Peters, K. (2003). When children affected by war go home. London: Save the Children UK.

Pillsbury, A., & Lowicki, J. (2001). Against all odds: Surviving the war on adolescents: Promoting the protection and capacity of Ugandan and Sudanese Adolescents in Northern Uganda. New York: Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.forcedmigration.org/psychosocial/inventory/psychosocial-working-group-inventory-of-key-resources/pwg012/pwg012.pdf">www.forcedmigration.org/psychosocial/inventory/psychosocial-working-group-inventory-of-key-resources/pwg012/pwg012.pdf</a>>.

Singer, P.W. (2005). Children at war. New York: Pantheon Books.

- Stark, L. (unknown). *The reintegration of former child soldiers: Literature review and summary analysis*. United States Agency for International Development. Retrieved from <<u>http://protection.unsudanig.org/index.php?fid=child</u> >.
- Tsuchida, D. (2006). *Hidden among the shadows: A literature review of girl mothers associated with armed forces.* Retrieved from <<u>http://protection.unsudanig.org/index.php?fid=child</u>>.

Tutu, D. (1999). No future without forgiveness. New York: Doubleday.

### Children and creative interventions



© Nimzilvio. July 21, 2009. UNRWA school graffiti (2). Nahr El Bared Camp. CC license. <www.flickr.com/photos/nimzilvio/ 3789044589/in/photostream/>.

- *Communities 4 Families (C4F)* Communities 4 Families (C4F) helps support families living in downtown Winnipeg. It is funded by Healthy Child Manitoba. Of particular interest are their programming resources for families and facilitators' resources which could be adapted to suit other settings whether urban or rural. See <<u>http://communities4families.ca/facilitators/intro</u>>.
- Miller, V. W., & Friedrich W. A. *Helping children outgrow war*. This document includes examples of helping children outgrow war. It deals with the following post-conflict phases: emergency, recovery, rehabilitation, and reconstruction. See <<u>www.essex.ac.uk/armedcon/story\_id/000074.pdf</u>>.
- Playing with Rainbows. UNA: Canada Toronto Branch. "Playing with Rainbows" is a nontherapeutic program for children. Through recreation, children acquire skills such as self-confidence, teamwork, problem solving, safety, adaptability, understanding, and love of their heritage. See <<u>http://to.unac.org/projects/playing-with-rainbows/</u>>.
- The Centre for Multicultural Youth Issues. (2007). Playing for the future: The role of sport and recreation in supporting refugee young people to 'settle well' in Australia. Melbourne, Victoria, Australia: The Centre for Multicultural Youth Issues. This document broaches the use of sport and recreation as a tool to facilitate settlement and integration of refugee youth and to help them with their physical and mental recovery from trauma and war and to alleviate feelings of isolation. See <www.cmy.net.au/Assets/185/1/PlayingForTheFuture.pdf>.
- Harris, D. A. (2010). A 2010 postscript to: Pathways to embodied empathy and reconciliation after atrocity: Former boy soldiers in a dance/movement therapy group in Sierra Leone.
   See <www.child-soldiers.org/psycho-social/David\_Alan\_Harris\_2010\_Postscript\_linked.pdf>.
- Harris, D. A. (2009). Dance and child soldiers. *Foreign Policy in Focus: June 15, 2009*. See <<u>www.fpif.org/articles/dance\_and\_child\_soldiers</u>>.
- Malchiodi, C.A. (ed.). (2008). Creative interventions with traumatized children. New York, N.Y: The Guilford Press. This document details various means of facilitating the emotional recovery of children after trauma.

### Cultural diversity



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 450277. September 21, 2010. Alieu, Timor-Leste. UN Photo/Martine Perret. Timorese celebrate International Day of Peace. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

- *Cultural Orientation Center (COR).* This site includes orientation resources for refugees and service providers in the United States and abroad. See <<u>www.cal.org/co/index.html</u>>.
- Canadian Council on Social Development (CCSD). *Cultural Diversity: A CCSD Research Initiative*. This is an initiative of the Canadian Council on Social Development (CCSD) to help social service and community organizations, and the different levels of government to create culturally appropriate policies, programs, and services. See <<u>www.ccsd.ca/subsites/cd/about.htm</u>>.
- Cultural Competency for Kids. This site provides practical ideas for learning about oneself and others which, in turn, leads to cultural competency which entails the respect of others' values, beliefs, traditions, and customs.
   See <www.education.com/reference/article/Ref\_Cultural\_Competency/>.
- Gross Davis, Barbara. *Diversity and complexity in the classroom: Considerations of race, ethnicity and gender from tools for teaching*. Excellent suggestions of teaching practices to respond to ethnic, gender, and cultural diversity in the classroom. Though it is intended for post-secondary faculty, there are many appropriate ideas for various grade levels.
   See <<u>http://teaching.berkley.edu/bgd/diversity.html</u>>.
- Lee, Enid. *Coaching for equity*. In this article about coaching new teachers, there are several important points made that address one's perspective and approaches in a classroom of diversity. See <<u>www.newteachercenter.org/newsletters/ReflectionsSPO2.pdf</u>>.
- Sage Publications: Search "Multicultural" A selection of multicultural resources with an emphasis on counselling. See <<u>www.sagepub.com/</u>>.

# Mental health and supports for war-affected children and families



© United Nations Photo. February 9, 2010. Timor-Leste. UN Photo/Martine Perret. Children at play in Timor-Leste. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

- American Psychological Association. Resilience of refugee children after war. This is a summary of the report of the American Psychological Association (APA) Task Force on the psychosocial effects of war on children and families who are refugees from armed conflict residing in the United States. See <www.apa.org/pubs/info/reports/refugees.aspx>.
- The **Boston Center for Refugee Health and Human Rights** provides a free online course Caring for Torture Survivors. The course is for people who want to learn about survivors of torture and refugee trauma and how to help them. There are also links to legal and clinical documents, as well as other resources. See <www.bu.edu/bcrhhr/pro/course/course index.html>.
- *Canadian Centre for Victims of Torture (CCVT)*. The Canadian Centre for Victims of Torture helps survivors integrate into Canadian society and helps protect them. It also raises awareness surrounding torture and its consequences. See <<u>http://ccvt.org</u>>.
- The Center for Health and Health Care in Schools supports the health of youth through health initiatives at school. This web site includes a variety of resources related to immigrant and refugee students, including Caring Across Communities: Addressing the Mental Health Needs of Diverse Children and Youth. See <www.healthinschools.org/en/Immigrant-and-Refugee-Children.aspx>.
- The Ecological Approach to the Assessment of Refugee Children. According to the ecological approach, one must consider the environment in which one resides in order to understand one's behaviour and development. This environment includes family, community, and culture as well as experiences before and after migration.

See <www.ncb.org.uk/ncb-websites/arc/pdf-briefings/assessment-and-planning>.

- **Heal Torture** is a project of The Center for Victims of Torture. The site offers a variety of resources for service providers, survivors, and students. See <http://healtorture.org/> and <http://www.cvt.org/>.
- **Immigrant and refugee children and youth needs research study, Final report:** This is a 2008 report on the needs of immigrant and refugee children and youth in Alberta. Although there are differences between Alberta and Manitoba, this report is useful and helpful for understanding the issues and gaps in service provision in Manitoba.
- The International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies (ISTSS) shares information on the effects of trauma, and seeks to discover and distribute information to help reduce traumatic stressors and their consequences. The ISTSS website features a number of resources of interest including information on assessment resources (see ISTSS | Assessment Resources) and treatment guidelines (see ISTSS | Treatment Guidelines). See <www.istss.org/AboutISTSS.htm>.

- Mental Health in the ESL Classroom. This manual guides ESL teachers by detailing the burdens carried by refugee students and explaining how ESL teachers can turn their classrooms into effective and welcoming teaching and learning environments. The seven sections are as follows: (1) The Refugee and Mental Health; (2) The ESL Classroom; (3) The Multi-Faceted Role of the ESL Teacher; (4) Student Needs Assessment; (5) Curriculum and Instruction; (6) Bibliography and Internet Resources; and (7) Acknowledgements.
   See <<u>www.uscrirefugees.org/2010Website/5\_Resources/5\_1\_For\_Refugees\_Immigrants/5\_1\_1</u> Health/5\_1\_1\_3\_Mental\_Health/Mental\_Health\_and\_the\_ESL\_Classroom.pdf>.
- Chase, Robert, and Bush, Kenneth. The mental health of war-affected children: A community based rehabilitation and reconciliation program in Sri Lanka's Eastern Province. This document deals with the mental health effects of militarized violence on children. It details the Butterfly Peace Garden in Batticaloa, Sri Lanka, an after-school program provided to 600 children who have experienced trauma. See <<u>www.hhri.org/?keyword=12&region=209&search=Search</u>>.
- The National Center for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. *Post traumatic stress disorder in children and adolescents*. The National Center for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder provides a PTSD fact sheet which includes the events that cause PTSD in children; the risk factors for PTSD; the age-specific features for some symptoms; and other effects of trauma and treatment. See <www.ptsd.va.gov/public/pages/ptsd-children-adolescents.asp>.
- The National Institute for Trauma and Loss in Children (TLC) provides professional development, parental, and other resources. See <<u>www.starrtraining.org/home</u>>.
- UNESCO's Guidebook for planning education in emergencies and reconstruction offers in-depth information to help departments of education and similar organizations by providing detailed information and guidance to support ministries of education in countries affected by conflict or natural disaster, as well as UN organizations, donor agencies, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) working in support of these ministries. The guidebook has five sections, including one on teachers and learners. See <<u>www.iiep.unesco.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/Cap\_Dev\_Technical\_Assistance/pdf/Guidebook/Guideboook.pdf</u>>.
- U.S. Center for Victims of Torture (CVT). The CVT offers training related to the effects of torture and war trauma. There are links to other projects and information related to victims of torture. See <<u>www.cvt.org/</u>>.
  - U.S. Center for Victims of Torture (CVT). *New neighbors, hidden scars* (in PDF format, 45 pages). The examples are for Minnesota but are relevant to Manitoba. Also, the Storycloth newsletter features New Neighbors, Hidden Scars; Tales of the Self, an article about the value of storytelling. See <<u>www.cvt.org/new\_neighbors/index.htm</u>>.
- <u>Working with refugee students in secondary school—A counselor's companion</u>: This pdf format support document from the Minnesota Department of Education provides information on the following:
  - characteristics of refugee students and effects of trauma on education
  - placement and scheduling
  - evaluation of international transcripts
  - identification and assessment (language proficiency and level of former schooling)

See <<u>http://education.state.mn.us/mdeprod/groups/EnglishLang/documents/Manual/016630.pdf</u>>.

- Dowdney, L. (Ed.). (2007). Trauma, resilience and cultural healing: how do we move forward? *Coalition to Stop the Use of Child Soldiers*. See <<u>www.child-soldiers.org/psycho-social/</u> <u>Trauma\_Resilience\_and\_Cultural\_Healing\_2007.pdf</u>>.
- Miller, K. E., & Rasco, L. M. (Eds.). (2004). *The mental health of refugees; Ecological approaches to healing and adaptation*. Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

## **Refugees:** General information



© United Nations Photo. August 28, 1992. Knin, Croatia. UN Photo/John Isaac. United Nations protection force in Croatia and Bosnia and Herzegovina. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

- The Canadian Council for Refugees is a non-profit umbrella organization that promotes the settlement, sponsorship, and protection of refugees and immigrants. The organization's web site features many resources of interest to teachers. See <<u>http://ccrweb.ca/en/about-ccr</u>>.
- International Red Cross/Red Crescent Movement <<u>www.ifrc.org</u>>: Teachers will find the International Committee of the Red Cross, Children and War Report 2009 a useful resource as it provides an excellent overview of the effects of war on children. See <<u>www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/icrc\_002\_4015.pdf</u>>.
- Forced Migration Online (FMO) is a website featuring resources relating to refugees and forced migration. Among the resources featured on the site educators may find the resources related to research, the digital library, podcasts and media, and news particularly useful. See <www.forcedmigration.org/>.
- United Nations Association of Canada Resource. *Refugees: A Canadian perspective*. The site contains resources for kids, youth, and educators.
   See <<u>www.unac.org/learn/wrld/Refugees/REFeng.htm</u>>.

### Resiliency



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 138692. May 22, 2006. Kapisa Province, Afghanistan. UN Photo/Eskinder Debede. Young girl in Kapisa Province. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

- Queensland BRiTA Futures is programming for children and youth who have migrated to Australia from a non-English speaking country as well as for those who are second and subsequent generations of Australians from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds and those with a recent refugee background. There is a program for students in Grades 5, 6, and 7, and there is one for those aged 12 to 18 years. See the following:
  - <<u>www.health.qld.gov.au/pahospital/qtmhc/projects.asp</u>>
  - <<u>http://amh.e-contentmanagement.com/archives/vol/9/issue/3/article/4000</u>>
- CommunityMatters is a booklet that is part of the Mind Matters resource suite. Topics covered include identity, culture, and community as well as how these relate to students' mental health. See <a href="https://www.mindmatters.edu.au/whole\_school\_approach/community\_matters\_draft.html">www.mindmatters.edu.au/whole\_school\_approach/community\_matters\_draft.html</a>>.
- Resilience and recovery after war: Refugee children and families in the United States is a report from the American Psychological Association (APA) Task Force on the Psychosocial Effects of War on Children and Families Who are Refugees from Armed Conflict Residing in the United States. See <<u>www.apa.org/pubs/info/reports/refugees.aspx</u>>.
- Raymond, R. (2005). The mental health impacts of trauma on refugee young people and therapeutic interventions promoting resilience: A background paper for the Hopes Fulfilled or Dreams Shattered? From Resettlement to Settlement Conference, November 23 to 28, 2005. The Resilience Research Centre (RRC). This document deals with the psychological effects of trauma on refugee youth and the developmental issues that may arise. Resettlement issues are also discussed as well as therapeutic interventions to help these youth heal. See <www.crr.unsw.edu.au/media/File/Refugee Resilience.pdf>.
- The Resilience Project studies how young people cope with adversity; more specifically, the social and physical factors that increase the likelihood of resilience (e.g., family, neighbourhood, community, school, culture, political forces, and economic forces).
   See <<u>www.resilienceproject.org/index.html</u>>.

- Ungar, M. (2006). *Strengths-based counselling for at-risk youth*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Ungar, M. (Ed.). (2005). Resource for working with children and youth: Pathways to resilience across cultures and contexts. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. <u>ISBN 1412904056</u>
- Yohani, S. C., & Larsen, D. J. (2009). Hope lives in the heart: Refugee and immigrant children's perceptions of hope and hope-engendering sources during early years of adjustment. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 43(4). This document draws attention to the role of hope in the resettlement process and future life outcomes of refugee youth. See <<u>http://cjc-rcc.ucalgary.ca/cjc/index.php/rcc/article/viewFile/631/731</u>>.

# Stories and literary resources by and about refugees



© United Nations Photo. Photo ID 468142. March 27, 2011. Rounyn, Sudan. UN Photo/Albert Gonzalez Farran. Darfur village abaondoned after heavy clashes. CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

This section provides a selected bibliography of some of the literature and biographies that are available and may be of interest to teachers. It also provides information on a few bibliographies that are more detailed as well as other resources.

### **Bibliographies**

- Mason, E. (2009). Collecting children's refugee literature: A bibliography. This bibliography was created to help primary school teachers who work with refugee children and to suggest relevant documents. Retrieved from <<u>http://forcedmigrationguide.pbworks.com/w/page/7447744/</u> CollectingChildren%27s Refugee Literature>.
- Gangi, J. M., Ph.D. (2006). Annotated children's literature bibliography on the refugee experience. The bibliography was prepared for "Refugees in Recent Children's and Young Adult Literature: Sociocultural Considerations", a presentation for "Transformations" Children's Literature Association's 33<sup>rd</sup> Annual Conference, Claremont, California; June 8 to 11, 2006. Retrieved from <<u>http://faculty.mville.edu/gangij/refugee.htm</u>>.
- The Refugee Council of the United Kingdom provides information on books and resources pertaining to refugee experiences There are many resources including autobiographies, novels, anthologies, non-fiction, children's books, and alternatives.
   See <www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/practice/basics/books>.

### Individual Titles

- Akpan, U. (2008). *Say you're one of them*. New York, N.Y: Back Bay Books/ Little, Brown and Company. Short stories that show the resilience of children in horrible situations.
- Ali, A. H. (2007). *Infidel*. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster. The autobiography of Ayaan Hirsi Ali details how she escaped oppression in Somalia by immigrating. She became a member of Parliament in the Netherlands and then became a political activist and founded the AHA Foundation in the United States.
- Ali, A. H. (2010). *Nomad: From Islam to America: A personal journey through the clash of civilizations* New York, NY: Free Press, a division of Simon and Schuster. This is another Ayaan book. This one tells the story of her journey from pre-modern nomadic Somali life to modern life in the western world.
- Armstrong, S. (2002). Veiled threat: The hidden power of the women of Afghanistan. Toronto, ON: Penguin Books a division of Pearson Canada. Author Sally Armstrong tells the story of several women of Afghanistan who rebelled against the Taliban under whose regime they struggled to survive.

- Asgedom, M. (2002). Of beetles and angels: A boy's remarkable journey from a refugee camp to Harvard. New York, NY: Little, Brown and Company. This is the true story of a boy's journey from civil war in east Africa to a refugee camp in Sudan, to a childhood on welfare in an affluent American suburb, and eventually to a full-tuition scholarship at Harvard University.
- Bashir, H., & Lewis, D. (2008). *Tears of the desert: A memoir of survival in Darfur*. Toronto, ON: Harper Collins Publishers Limited. A woman caught up in the war in Darfur tells her story and the story of her people.
- Beah, I. (2007). *A long way gone: Memoirs of a boy soldier*. Vancouver, BC: Douglas and McIntyre. Ishmael Beah tells his story of becoming a child soldier and then being rehabilitated.
- Campano, G. (2007). *Immigrant students and literacy: Reading, writing, and remembering*. New York, NY: Teachers College, Columbia University. This book demonstrates how incorporating refugee students' own cultural resources, narratives, and identities into the curriculum can facilitate their learning.
- Eggers, D. (2006). What is the what: The autobiography of Valentino Achak Deng. Toronto, ON: Vintage Canada, a division of Random House. This is the story of Valentino Achak Deng's life as told to Dave Eggers. Deng was one of the lost boys, forced to leave his village at the age of seven, who travelled hundreds of miles by foot while being chased by militias, government bombers, and wild animals. Deng and his companions finally found freedom after crossing the deserts of three countries.
- Ellis, D. (Various) Deborah Ellis is an internationally acclaimed Canadian author who writes about the lives of children in less developed countries. Her novels include the following:
  - Ellis, D. (2001). *The breadwinner*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. This is the story of Parvana, an 11-year-old Afghani. Her parents are well-educated, prosperous people who have been forced to live in near poverty. Parvana dresses as a boy and goes out and makes money to feed her family after her father is arrested because he was educated overseas.
  - Ellis, D. (2002). *Parvana's journey*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. After Parvana's father's death, she once again dresses as a boy and tries to find her mother and siblings. While travelling through a war-torn, Taliban-ruled Afghanistan, she learns much about life and about herself as she meets and befriends others who have been affected by war.
  - Ellis, D. (2003). *Mud city*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. This is the story of fourteen-yearold Shauzia, Parvana's new friend, who wishes to leave the Afghan refugee camp where she lives and make a new life in France. Forced to leave because of the camp's leader, Shauzia does as Parvana did before her and dresses like a boy in order to earn money and escape. She's forced to beg and to pick through garbage, and she eventually ends up in jail where she is seemingly rescued by a well-meaning American family.
  - Ellis, D. (2006) *I am a taxi*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. With both of his parents in a Bolivian prison, and hoping to make a lot of money, twelve-year-old Diego and his best friend are tricked into making coca paste that will later be made into cocaine.
  - Ellis, D. (2007). *Sacred leaf*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. A sequel to *I am a taxi*. After being saved from slavery on an illegal cocaine operation, Diego is taken in by the Ricardo family. His recovery abruptly ends when the army moves in and destroys the family's coca crop (their livelihood). This story clearly shows how the war on drugs is having serious consequences on the people in Bolivia who have grown coca for legitimate purposes for hundreds of years.

- Ellis, D. (2010). *No safe place*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. This is the story of an orphaned fifteen-year old, Abdul, who travels from his war-torn home in Baghdad only to end up in "The Jungle," a poor migrant community in Calais. After the accidental stabbing of a police officer, Abdul heads to England in a small boat with other refugees and forms close bonds with three others on the boat: a young Romani girl who has escaped from the white slave trade; a young person who is away without leave from a Russian military school; and the ten-year-old nephew of the boat's pilot. About to be captured, the four young friends hijack a yacht and find refuge in a child's secret cave on the English coast.
- Ellis, D. (2009). *Children of war: Voices of Iraqi refugees*. Toronto, ON: Groundwood Books. This non-fiction work details, through interviews, the lives of Iraqi children, victims of war. While most of these children live as refugees in Jordan, there are a few who are trying to build new lives in North America.
- Fadiman, A. (1997). *The spirit catches you and you fall down: A Hmong child, her American doctors and the collision of two cultures.* New York, NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux. This book shows how a lack of understanding between a refugee family from Laos and American doctors led to tragedy.
- Hari, D. (2008). *The translator*. Canada: Doubleday, a division of Random House of Canada Limited. This memoir shows how Daoud Hari has helped inform the world about Darfur.
- Kamara, M. with McClelland, S. (2008). *The bite of the mango*. Buffalo, NY: Annick Press Ltd. This is the story of how a 12-year-old girl became a victim of one of the most brutal wars of the 20<sup>th</sup> century and overcame extraordinary odds.
- Mortenson, G. and Relin, D.O. (2006). *Three cups of tea*. New York, N.Y.: Penguin Books. In 1993, Greg Mortenson came to an impoverished Pakistan village in the Karakoram Mountains after failing to successfully climb K2. Touched by the villagers' kindness, he promised that he would return and build a school.
- Mortenson, G. (2009). Stones into schools: Promoting peace with books, not bombs, in Afghanistan and Pakistan. New York, N.Y: Viking published by the Penguin Group. This is the story of the men of the Central Asia Institute (CAI) who recognize the importance of girls' education and of having schools to accommodate them, and the successes of the young women who are now completing their studies at these schools.
- Naidoo, B. (2004). *Making it home: Real-life stories from children forced to flee*. NY: Dial Books. Each chapter of this book describes the conflict in a given country followed by the testimony of a refugee child or youth from that country, forced to flee because of that particular conflict. Countries referenced in this book are Kosovo, Bosnia, Afghanistan, Iraq, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Liberia, Sudan, and Burundi.
- Nemat, M. (2008). *Prisoner of Tehran: A memoir*. Toronto, ON: Penguin Canada. This is the author's story of being falsely arrested in 1982 at the age of 16 by Iranian Revolutionary Guards and tortured in Tehran's Evin prison. Condemned to die, one of the guards pleaded for her life. The price Ali exacted: she would have to marry him.
- Phan, Z. with Lewis, D. (2009). *Little daughter*. Toronto, ON: Penguin Group Canada. This is the true story of Zoya Phan who was born in the jungles of Burma and whose life was forever changed because of Burma's military junta. She is now a champion of the Burmese people's fight for freedom.
- Walters, E., & Bradbury, A. (2008). *When elephants fight: The lives of children in conflict in Afghanistan, Bosnia, Sri Lanka, Sudan and Uganda*. Victoria, BC: Orca Book Publishers. This is the story of five children living in conflict in five different countries.

# Schools helping students affected by trauma



© UNHCR. Brouwer, J. August 2011. Dadaab: World's biggest refugee camp turns 20. <www.flickr.com/photos/unhcr/6901530982/>. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

#### Web-based Resources

• *Calmer classrooms: A guide to working with traumatized children* is an Australian resource that was developed to help educators understand and work with children/youth whose lives have been affected by trauma. The booklet explains the effect of abuse on learning and attachment and it provides teachers with strategies that reflect relationship-based practices for dealing with challenges and conflicts in the classroom. The emphasis in this document is on the needs of children traumatized by abuse and neglect.

See <<u>www.ocsc.vic.gov.au/downloads/calmer\_classrooms.pdf</u>>.

The National Child Traumatic Stress Network (NCTSN) is an American organization that develops and disseminates research-based interventions, trauma-informed services, and public and professional education. Its academic and community-based service centers improve care and access to services for traumatized children and their families. See <<u>www.nctsn.org</u>/>.

The *Child trauma toolkit for educators* was developed by the National Child Traumatic Stress Network. It provides information for educators and caregivers, including facts, suggestions for supporting learners, psychological and behavioural impacts of trauma by grade level, and self-care for educators and caregivers.

See <<u>www.nctsnet.org/nctsn\_assets/pdfs/Child\_Trauma\_Toolkit\_Final.pdf</u>>.

The Learning Center for Child and Adolescent Trauma is intended for professionals and families. It provides various services and resources, including access to National Child Traumatic Stress Network experts and up-to-date information. See <<u>http://learn.nctsn.org/</u>>.

Creating sanctuary in the school is a paper by Sandra L. Bloom that applies knowledge derived from establishing and working in the context of The Sanctuary<sup>TM</sup> to education (an inpatient therapeutic milieu unit designed to treat adults who have been traumatized as children). It describes how to provide a safe and healing environment in the schools for children who need to recover from the effects of trauma, as well as for less traumatized children. See <<u>http://sanctuaryweb.com/PDFs\_new/Bloom%20Sanctuary%20in%20the%20Classroom.pdf</u>>. The website also provides additional information on the Sanctuary model and schools. See <<u>www.sanctuaryweb.com/schools.php</u>>.

Helping traumatized children learn is a report from the Massachusetts Advocates for Children. It explores the fact that many of the daily educational difficulties faced by teachers with regard to students may be the result of children's trauma from exposure to family violence as well as other forms of violence. The report provides a flexible framework for a school-wide approach to creating trauma-sensitive school environments.

See <<u>www.massadvocates.org/download-book.php</u>>.

- The heart of learning: Compassion, resiliency, and academic success is a handbook with information for educators who work with students whose learning has been negatively affected by trauma. See <<u>http://k12.wa.us/CompassionateSchools/HeartofLearning.aspx</u>>.
- The Australian Child and Adolescent Trauma, Loss and Grief Network's website provides information and resources about traumatized children for school communities, and refugee children and families. See <<u>www.earlytraumagrief.anu.edu.au/</u>>.
- The language of trauma and loss is a web-based resource for teachers about the effect of trauma and loss on children, and the teacher's role with regard to identifying and referring appropriate students. It also helps educators create safe classrooms and improve language arts skills. Web-streamed videos and other professional development information for teachers, as well as age-appropriate lessons for early, middle, and senior years students are included. See <<u>http://westernreservepublicmedia.org/trauma/></u>.
- School Mental Health from the UCLA Center for Mental Health in Schools is a web-based "Quickfind Clearinghouse" on topics related to mental health and schools such as PTSD, child abuse, immigrants and refugees, impulse control, traumatic brain injury, juvenile delinquency, eating disorders, physical and somatic complaints, homelessness, loss, grief, and bereavement. Included on this site are documents, web links, audio and video downloads, and fact sheets. See <<u>http://smhp.psych.ucla.edu/</u>>.

### Websites with Clinical Information

- The Child Trauma Academy works to improve the lives of vulnerable children by providing direct services, and undertaking research and education. The Academy advocates biologically-informed child and family respectful practice, programs, and policy. See <<u>www.childtrauma.org/</u>>.
- David Baldwin's Trauma Information Pages website is intended for clinicians and researchers in the traumatic-stress field. It focuses mostly on emotional trauma and traumatic stress. See <<u>www.trauma-pages.com/</u>>.
- The National Institute for Trauma and Loss in Children (TLC) is dedicated to improving the lives of traumatized children by creating environments where they can flourish. Information on trauma, as well as resources and training, are available. See <<u>www.starrtraining.org/home</u>>.
- The National Center for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder website is sponsored by the U. S. Department of Veteran affairs and provides materials and resources on trauma pertaining to young children, adolescents, adults, family, active military, and veterans. See <a href="https://www.ptsd.va.gov/index.asp">www.ptsd.va.gov/index.asp</a>>.
- The Jasper Mountain Center is a treatment facility for traumatized children and adults. The center's website contains several informative articles, including the following:
  - *Optimum learning environments for traumatized children* is an article by Dr. Dave Ziegler in which the performance of traumatized children in schools and the reasons for their behaviour, the functioning of the traumatized brain, and the enhancement of school supports for traumatized children are discussed. See <a href="https://www.jaspermountain.org/optimum\_learning\_environment.pdf">www.jaspermountain.org/optimum\_learning\_environment.pdf</a>>.

- Understanding and helping children who have been traumatized is an article by Dr. Dave Ziegler in which information about children who have been traumatized and suggestions on how to support them is provided. See <<u>www.jaspermountain.org/understanding\_helping\_children.pdf</u>>.
- Resilience and recovery from trauma is a paper on the Los Angeles Unified School District (LAUSD) Trauma Services Adaptation (TSA) Center for Schools and Communities website. It summarizes research findings concerning the relationship between mental health and academic achievement.

See <<u>www.tsaforschools.org/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=92&Itemid=81</u>>.

- Trauma in children and related learning problems is an article from the Emory University School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences. It describes the survival mode experienced by traumatized children and how it impacts on their ability to learn as well as on their behaviour. See <<u>www.psychiatry.emory.edu/PROGRAMS/GADrug/Feature%20Articles/Parenting/</u> 2006%20Trauma%20in%20Children%20and%20Related%20Learning%20Problems.pdf>.
- Healing the hurt: Trauma-informed approaches to the health of boys and young men of color is a paper that addresses the specific needs of Black and Latino male children and young adults. It examines the role of trauma and adversity in their lives and trauma-informed approaches to improving their health. See <<u>www.calendow.org/uploadedFiles/Publications/BMOC/</u>Drexel%20-%20Healing%20the%20Hurt%20-%20Full%20Report.pdf>.
- Healing the invisible wounds: Children's exposure to violence—A guide for families is a publication designed to help caregivers understand how children are deeply affected by exposure to violence. See <<u>www.safestartcenter.org/pdf/caregiver.pdf</u>>.
- *Teaching strategies: Emergency preparedness* offers two web resources intended to help educators respond to children after a natural disaster. They were developed after hurricane Katerina devastated Louisiana and other southern states.

See <<u>www.teachingstrategies.com/page/AU\_HurricianeRelief.cfm</u>>. The resources are

- Helping children rebound: Strategies for infant and toddler teachers after the 2005 hurricanes
- Helping children rebound: Strategies for preschool teachers after the 2005 hurricanes

#### Books

#### **Preschool and Early Years**

Koplow, L. (Ed.). (2007). *Unsmiling faces: How preschools can heal* (2nd edition). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

Koplow, L. (Ed.). (2008). *Bears, bears everywhere: Supporting children's emotional health in the classroom*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

#### **Middle Years**

- Craig, S. (2008). *Reaching and teaching children who hurt: Strategies for your classroom*. Baltimore, MD: Paul Brookes Publishing.
- Oehlberg, B. (2006). *Reaching and teaching stressed and anxious learners in Grades 4-8: Strategies for relieving distress and trauma in schools and classrooms*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

#### **Senior Years**

Horsman, J. (2000). Too scared to learn. New York, NY: Routledge.

Stien, Phyllis, et al. (2003). Psychological trauma and the developing brain: Neurologically based interventions for troubled children. New York, NY: Routledge.

#### **Pre-kindergarten to Senior Years**

- Greenwald, R. (2009). *Treating problem behaviors: A trauma-informed approach*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Koplow, L. (2002). *Creating schools that heal: Real-life solutions*. New York, NY: Teacher's College, Columbia University Press.

Supporting refugee children and youth, programming models, and resources



© United Nations Photo. January 15, 2010. Port-au-Prince, Haiti. UN Photo/Logan Abassi. "We need help": Haitians call for help after devastating quake. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

- Bridging Refugee Youth and Children's Services (BRYCS): BRYCS helps service providers from refugee resettlement agencies and other groups such as child welfare, schools, and ethnic community-based organizations. BRYCS offers expertise on how to best help refugee children and families. In addition, BRYCS offers thousands of resources, among which are <u>Refugee children in</u> <u>U.S. schools: A toolkit for teachers and school personnel</u> and <u>Growing up in a new country:</u> <u>A positive youth development toolkit for working with refugees and immigrants</u>.
- Daring to dream: Raising the achievement of 14 to 16 year old asylum-seeking and refugee children and young people. This report from the United Kingdom shows that asylum-seeking and refugee children and youth are highly motivated and can potentially be high achievers. This report also shows the marginalization of their parents. See <www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/policy/position/2005/children.htm>.
- Helping students cope with trauma and loss—Online training for school personnel. This online course by Columbia University deals with self-care and vicarious traumatisation. Part 1 is available online for self-study. See <a href="http://ci.columbia.edu/w0521/index.html">http://ci.columbia.edu/w0521/index.html</a>>.
- The *Refugee toolkit*. A toolkit for all practitioners is a website developed by The Children's Society Family Health Inclusion Project. It is funded by the United Kingdom Department of Health. See <<www.refugeetoolkit.org.uk/>.
- Hamilton, R. J., Anderson, A., Frater-Mathieson, K, Loewen, S., & Moore, D.W. (2005). *Interventions for refugee children in New Zealand schools: Models, methods, and best practice*. This document examines what works best when it comes to helping refugee children in New Zealand schools. See <<u>www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/schooling/5463</u>>.
- The La Trobe Refugee Research Centre (LaRRC). <<u>www.latrobe.edu.au/larrc/</u>> works to promote the overall well-being of refugees. Several of LaRRC's research projects have focused on refugee youth and education issues. A variety of publications and resources are available. However, the Good Starts for Refugee youth research is especially relevant. See <u>Good starts for refugee youth, La Trobe University</u>.
- Opening the school gate is a resource kit containing strategies to encourage parents and families from diverse and newcomer backgrounds to participate in the education experience of their children. (Centre for Multicultural Youth Issues, ph (03) 9340 3700, download from <<u>www.cmyi.net.au</u>>)

- **The Pharos School Prevention Programmes:** Since 1993, the Pharos National Knowledge and Advisory Centre on Migrants, Refugees and Health (formerly called Pharos Refugees and Health Knowledge Centre), a Netherlands-based agency, has developed a number of school initiatives for refugee and asylum-seeking children and youth, both in primary and secondary education. The overall aim of the initiatives has been the reduction of social-emotional problems and the reinforcement of children's intrapersonal strength. In addition, training initiatives and support materials for teachers have been developed to improve teacher's competencies in supporting these pupils in the classroom setting. The two most successful initiatives developed through Pharos are *The World United* and *Welcome to School*. The effectiveness of these initiatives has been demonstrated in large-scale effect studies. Resources from Pharos include the following:
  - (1) **The Pharos School Prevention Programmes** Manual: The manual was written to give British experts a global idea of the Dutch preventive school initiative for refugee and asylumseekers' children. The manual mainly focuses on the philosophies and theoretical framework behind the initiatives so that implementation in other contexts may be feasible.
  - (2) *The World United (F.C. De Wereld)* is an initiative for 10- to 12-year-old asylum-seeking and refugee children. It aims to strengthen these children's competencies with regard to self-esteem, coping and social skills, and behavioural adjustment. Necessary conditions for the initiative are a safe and familiar atmosphere in which children feel free to express themselves and their feelings. The initiative consists of eight weekly sessions of about one and a half hours. The topics are: me; my school; my home; my family; celebrating days; friendship; play and games; and me, you and we. Every session begins and ends with *The World United* song. During the sessions, the children make their own ME-book; a kind of diary in which they can write about themselves and collect the creations they have made during the sessions.

For further information on **The World United** and to download the teacher's manuals and related student documents, see the PHAROS website: <<u>www.pharos.nl/information-in-</u>english/school-programmes- for-refugee-youth-in-primary-education>.

*Welcome to School* is an initiative for secondary school pupils that can be used in a classroom setting for groups of new arrivals: asylum seeking, refugee, and migrant youngsters. This 21-lesson series aims to improve well-being and prevent psychosocial problems. The guiding principle of *Welcome to School* is building bridges between the past, the present, and the future. Classmates become companions and learn how to support each other. Themes for group discussions are: getting acquainted; where do I come from; my school; who are we; important days; living in the Netherlands; important people; friendship; being in love and marrying; leisure time; feeling excluded; on the road to the future; etc.

For further information about **Welcome to School** and to download the teacher's manuals and related student documents, see the PHAROS website: <<u>www.pharos.nl/information-in-</u>english/school-programmes-for-refugee-youth-in-secondary-education>.

Additional information on the implementation of *The World United* and *Welcome to School* initiatives is available as follows:

• The 2007 *Listen to them, Final report of the project supporting refugee and asylum-seeking children at school* is funded by the European Refugee Fund of the EC. It provides additional information on the two Pharos initiatives and their implementation in the United Kingdom, Austria, Germany, Italy, and Sweden. See <<u>www.pharos.nl/information-in-english/school-programmes-for-refugee-youth-in-primary-education</u>>.

- An article about implementing the project in the UK and who to contact for the English language version of the manual (Ingleby, D., & Watters C. (2002). Refugee children at school: Good practices in mental health and social care. *Education and Health*; 20(3): 43–45.) is available at: <<u>http://sheu.org.uk/sites/sheu.org.uk/files/imagepicker/1/eh203di.pdf</u>>.
- A report by Koreen Geres, a teacher in Saskatchewan who undertook an action research project on the use of digital storytelling with immigrant and refugee youth that utilized the PHAROS Welcome to School materials, is also a source of information. The authors' action research project took place in a secondary school, in a beginner level English as an additional language (EAL) classroom in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, over one, five-month semester. Her 2010 report to the Dr. Stirling McDowell Foundation provides some insights as to how these resources may be applied in a Canadian setting. See Using digital narratives with refugee and immigrant youth to promote literacy, healing, and hope (2010) available at: <www.mcdowellfoundation.ca/main\_mcdowell/projects/research\_rep/200\_using\_digital\_narrati

<<u>www.mcdowellfoundation.ca/main\_mcdowell/projects/research\_rep/200\_using\_digital\_narrati</u> ves.pdf)>.

- A presentation used for a one-day course for teachers and managers from several European countries titled *Educating new arrivals: teacher, therapist or integration expert?* by Bram Tuk of the PHAROS Knowledge Centre, a key person in the development of both programs, provides information on PHAROS and its initiatives, as well as contact information. It is available at:<a href="https://www.carmelcollegegouda.nl/site\_me/docs/grundtvig/GrundtvigEurope%20Carmelcollege%20Gouda%20vml.%20St.Antoniuscollege/Meeting%20in%20The%20Netherlands%20March%202009/Pharos%20Presentation%20maart%202009.pdf>.</a>
- Foundation House (Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture) creates resources to facilitate the understanding of the specific needs of refugees among health and other professionals, (in government and outside of government). They have also created some school and education resources, as well as curriculum materials. *Schools in for refugees: Whole-school guide to refugee readiness* is one such resource. Its purpose is to aid schools in identifying and meeting the needs of refugee students. It can be downloaded from <<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au</u>>. Other relevant resources from Foundation House include the following:
  - A guide to working with young people who are refugees (1996 and 2000) includes strategies for providing individual counselling and group work. download
  - *The Rainbow program for children in refugee families (2002)* is a seven-session structured group program for primary-aged children (ages 9 to 12). download
  - HealthWize—health literacy teaching resource for refugee and other ESL students (2004) is health literacy programming for secondary school students from refugee and other culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. **download**
  - *Taking action—Human rights and refugee issues teaching resource (2005)* is an eleven-lesson curriculum unit that aims to develop attitudes and behaviours that promote human rights. download
  - *Klassroom kaleidoscope: A program to facilitate connectedness and well-being in the culturally diverse classroom (2007)* is a ten-lesson unit adapted from the Kaleidoscope program for classrooms comprised of both refugee and non-refugee students. **download**

- *Education and refugee students from Southern Sudan* provides information on the background and experiences of South Sudanese students. Its purpose is to help schools understand the needs of South Sudanese students in order to provide a more supportive educational environment. download
- Talk's in. Families of refugee background and schools in dialogue is a resource to help school communities provide a supportive and inclusive environment for families of refugee backgrounds. The resource includes background information, practical suggestions, and resources for workshops with school staff and families. Talk's in (booklet) download Workshop for families (PowerPoint presentation) download
- A three part guide to working with students from refugee backgrounds is a resource that includes
  - a teacher's guide
  - a school counselling guide
  - a school's guide

It is published by QPASTT (Queensland Program of Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma). It can be downloaded from <<u>www.qpastt.org.au/resources\_index.html</u>>.

- Bigelow, M. H. (2005). The social and cultural capital of a Somali teenage girl by LESLLA. Adolescent immigrants and refugees to the Unites States need access to good quality schooling. Too often though, there is a focus on what these young people don't know. Instead, we need to not only determine what they don't know but also concentrate on their strengths and assets. The author recommends doing this by learning about the home- and community-based aspects that they bring to their schooling. See <<u>www.theliteracyinstitute.org/projects/pdf/LESLLA%20Research1.pdf</u>>.
- Stewart, J. (2011). Supporting refugee children: Strategies for educators. Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press. This document deals with the experiences of refugee children who have come to North America; the systems, structures, and programs in place to help them and the strategies and activities that help them adjust.
- Dunn, B., & Adkins, M. A. *The multicultural classroom: Teaching refugee and immigrant children*. A short paper that talks about the multicultural classroom and common misconceptions. See <<u>http://jtp.ipgkti.edu.my/map/resource/kplspm/sumber/KB/NewHorizon/www.newhorizons.org/</u> <u>strategies/multicultural/adkins\_dunn.htm</u>>.
- Rutter, J. (2006). *Refugee children in the UK*. New York, NY: McGraw Hill Education. This book takes a closer look at factors that have an effect on refugee children's education, such as social policies.
- De Capua, A., Smathers, W., & Tang, L. F. (2009). *Meeting the needs of students with limited or interrupted schooling*. Ann Arbor, MI: The University of Michigan Press. This book deals with some of the issues surrounding English language learners who have limited or interrupted formal schooling. Practical guidance is given throughout the book to help teachers meet the needs of these students.
- Hamilton, R., & Moore, D. (Eds.). (2004). Educational interventions for refugee children: Theoretical perspectives and implementing best practice. New York, NY: Routledge Falmer. This document focuses on the education of refugee children.

- Rutter, J. (2001). Supporting refugee children in 21<sup>st</sup> century Britain: A compendium of essential information. Sterling, VA: Trentham Books Limited. This document, even though it is intended for educators in the United Kingdom, provides useful information for all educators of refugee students; of particular interest is part two (Refugees in Schools).
- Rousseau, C., & Guzder, J. (2008). School-based prevention programs for refugee children. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *17*(3), pp. 533–549. This article was written by two doctors from the Department of Psychiatry at McGill University. Its purpose is to review school initiatives developed to improve the mental health of refugee children; more specifically, their overall adaptation and well-being as well as the psychological consequences of trauma or loss. See <<u>www.nps.uqam.ca/prevention/rousseau.pdf</u>>.
- Manitoba Education. (2011). *Teaching refugee and war-affected students*. Winnipeg, MB: Manitoba Education. This is a bibliography that lists resources for teachers who teach refugee or war-affected students, especially those with interrupted schooling and trauma related to their war-affected situations. See <<u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/iru/library\_publications/bibliographies/index.html</u>>.
- Ngo, H.V. (2004). *Immigrant children in focus: A map of needs, strategies and resources*. Calgary, Alberta: Coalition for Equal Access to Education. See <<u>www.eslaction.com</u>>.
- UNICEF. (2000). Helping children cope with the stresses of war: A manual for parents and teachers. See <<u>www.unicef.org/publications/index\_4398.html</u>>.

## Talking to children



© United Nations Photo. October 16, 2009. New York, United States. UN Photo/Paulo Filgueiras. UNIS students gather for "Stand up against poverty". CC license. <www.unmultimedia.org/photo/>.

- Helping traumatized children: A brief overview for caregivers by Dr. B. D. Perry: This booklet is one in a series created to assist parents, caregivers, teachers, and various professionals working with maltreated and traumatized children to help them understand the reactions that often follow traumatic events in children. This booklet could also be helpful to caseworkers, teachers, and other family members and adults working and living with traumatized children.
- David Baldwin's Trauma Information Pages deal with emotional trauma and traumatic stress; of note is the *Principles of Work with Traumatized Children* section under the *Childhood Trauma* section. See <<u>www.trauma-pages.com/</u>>.
- Birman, D. (2002). *Mental health of refugee children: A guide for the ESL teacher*. Denver, Colorado: Spring Institute for Intercultural Learning. This resource for English as a second language educators deals specifically with cultural and mental health issues for refugee youth. See <<u>www.springinstitute.com</u>>.
- Genogram exercise with older students. This exercise should be used with caution because certain questions may seem invasive for newcomer youth.
   See <www.uky.edu/Classes/FAM/357/fam544/genogram.html>.

### Vicarious trauma, secondary trauma, and compassion fatigue



© United Nations Photo. May 15, 2004. Burgenstock, Democratic Republic of Congo. UN Photo/A. Burridge. Fighting continues in DRC and UN fears humanitarian catastrophe. CC license. <www.un.org/av/photo/>.

- American Counseling Association: The website offers many resources on counselor wellness. See <<u>www.counseling.org/wellness\_taskforce/index.htm</u>>.
- Bloom, S. L. (2003). Caring for the caregiver: Avoiding and treating vicarious traumatization. This text provides an overview of the nature and treatment of vicarious trauma.
   See <www.sanctuaryweb.com/PDFs\_new/Bloom%20Caring%20for%20Caregiver.pdf>.
- Columbia University, Faculty of Social Work. *Helping students cope with trauma and loss—Online training for school personnel*. Part 1 of the course includes information on self-care and vicarious traumatisation. See <<u>http://ci.columbia.edu/w0521/index.html</u>>.
- The Compassion Fatigue Awareness Project© offers original training materials, workbooks, and texts. See <<u>www.compassionfatigue.org/index.html</u>>.
- Compassion Fatigue Solutions. This Canadian organization offers training and educational resources. See <<u>www.compassionfatigue.ca</u>>.
- The Headington Institute supports humanitarian organizations by promoting the well-being of their staff. They offer several online training resources and self-study guides, including one on Understanding and Addressing Vicarious Trauma.
   See <www.headington-institute.org/Default.aspx?tabid=2647>.
- Helpguide.org is a not-for profit organization that provides resources to support mental and emotional health. The web site offers online resources on Post-Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and Trauma. See <<u>http://helpguide.org/topics/ptsd\_trauma.htm</u>>.
- Mathieu, F. (2007). Transforming compassion fatigue into compassion satisfaction: Top 12 self-care tips for helpers. This website offers some useful tips for educators and other caregivers. See <<u>www.compassionfatigue.org/pages/Top12SelfCareTips.pdf</u>>.
- Meichenbaum, D. (2012). Self-care for trauma psychotherapists and caregivers: Individual, social and organizational interventions. This document provides a good overview of prevention strategies. See <<u>www.melissainstitute.org/documents/Meichenbaum\_SelfCare\_11thconf.pdf</u>>.

- National Clearinghouse on Family Violence. (2001) *Guidebook on vicarious trauma: Recommended solutions for anti-violence workers*. Although this resource was created for those who work with women and victims of family violence, it is useful for anyone that provides services or support to those who have experienced violence and trauma. This guidebook also provides a copy of the Figley Self-Awareness Exercises, which may be helpful in determining if one is suffering from vicarious traumatisation. See <<u>www.crvawc.ca/documents/guidebook%20on%20vicarious.pdf</u>>.
- The National Institute for Trauma and Loss in Children offers online courses and a variety of resources on various topics related to trauma and loss in children. See <<u>www.starrtraining.org/trauma-and-children</u>>.
- Netce.com is the website of CME Resource, an organization that provides challenging curricula to help health care professionals raise their levels of expertise while meeting their continuing education requirements. A course on <u>Vicarious Trauma and Resilience</u> is available. See Palm, K. M., Polusny, M. A., & Follette, V. M. (2004). Vicarious traumatization: Potential hazards and interventions for disaster and trauma workers. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, *19*, pp. 73–78.
- Richardson, J. I. (2001). *Guidebook on vicarious trauma: Recommended solutions for anti-violence workers*. Ottawa, Canada: Health Canada. Retrieved from <<u>www.phacaspc.gc.ca/ncfv-cnivf/familyviolence/pdfs/trauma\_e.pdf</u>>.
- Trippany, R. L., Kress, V. E. W., & Wilcoxon, S. A. (2004). Preventing vicarious trauma: What counselors should know when working with trauma survivors. Retrieved from <<u>http://static.ow.ly/docs/Preventing%20Vicarious%20Trauma\_1LX.pdf</u>>.

# **Blackline Masters**

# Blackline master 1: Common stress and protective factors affecting young people of refugee background

**Stress Factors:** The most common stress factors which can hinder refugee young people's capacity for resilience can be divided into three groups: familial, community and environment, and individual. The factors in the familial group include things that directly impact the family dynamics such as having only one parent, being abused or isolated, and having an unemployed parent. The second group, community and environment, is comprised of factors that directly impact the social integration of the youth such as poverty, discrimination, and an absence of role models and support. The individual factors which comprise the third group are factors that are specific to a particular individual such as health factors at birth, suffering from depression, and social deficiencies.\*

**Protective Factors Promoting Resilience:** Studies show that protective factors are similar across different cultures and despite different experiences. Similarly to stress factors, the most common protective factors promoting resilience which can further young people's capacity for resilience can also be divided into three groups: familial, community and environment, and individual. The factors in the familial group include things that directly contribute to the family dynamics such as good relationships, supportive family environments, and so on. The second group, community and environment, is comprised of factors that directly contribute to the social integration of the youth such as help in school, good relationships outside the home, a strong cultural identity, and access to the necessities of life such as food, clothing, shelter, and so forth. The individual factors which comprise the third group are factors that are specific to a particular individual such as self-esteem, a sense of belonging, problem-solving skills, and other similar factors.\*\*

A more extensive list of stress factors and protective factors can be found at <<u>www.crr.unsw.edu.au/media/File/Refugee\_Resilience.pdf</u>> on pages 37 and 38.

<sup>\*</sup> Adapted from Raymond, Rebecca. (2005). The Mental Health Impacts of Trauma on Refugee Young People and Therapeutic Interventions Promoting Resilience. The Resilience Research Centre (RRC). A Background Paper for the Hopes Fulfilled or Dreams Shattered? From resettlement to settlement Conference, November 23-28, 2005. 37. <www.crr.unsw.edu.au/media/File/Refugee Resilience.pdf>.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Adapted from Raymond, Rebecca. (2005). The Mental Health Impacts of Trauma on Refugee Young People and Therapeutic Interventions Promoting Resilience. The Resilience Research Centre (RRC). A Background Paper for the Hopes Fulfilled or Dreams Shattered? From resettlement to settlement Conference, November 23-28, 2005. 38. <www.crr.unsw.edu.au/media/File/Refugee Resilience.pdf>.

# Blackline master 2: Common strengths and challenges reflected by immigrant youth

Immigrant youth have many common strengths that enable them to adjust and thrive when settling in a new country such as Canada. According to information found on the National Mentoring Partnership website at <<u>www.mentoring.org</u>>, some of these strengths include cultural and family values, bilingualism, two-parent families, community bonds, health, and value of education.

The National Mentoring Partnership website also details many of the challenges and risks that immigrant youth face when settling in a new country. These include separation, adjustment, traumatic experiences, living in poverty, student disconnect from education, parent disconnect from education, discrimination, and inter-generational conflict.

For detailed explanations of these common strengths and challenges, go to <<u>www.mentoring.org/downloads/mentoring\_457.doc</u>>.

# Blackline master 3: A planning checklist for schools, families, and communities

Local governments, agencies, school boards, and schools must develop policies and practices, which will compassionately and effectively support refugee children and youth in schools. Planning for EAL and other supports/programming for newcomers is essential. The checklist below will provide some ideas of things that should be considered. These should not be seen as "special initiatives" but simply as good education which is normal to a country and a province such as Canada and Manitoba that support immigration to stimulate growth.

#### **Policies and Protocols**

- Do local governing bodies have a corporate policy for the settlement of refugees and claimants? Such a policy might include housing, social services, and education as well as funding and in-kind support for refugee community organizations. Some areas of the province and cities have formed multicultural task forces to ensure that the needs of newcomers are met in a holistic and interagency cooperative manner.
- Do the local schools and school boards have policies for supporting newcomer children and youth? Such policies can draw on experiences of working with bilingual and multilingual children, promoting diversity education, and working with families with transitory accommodations.
- Are schools working cooperatively regarding supports needed by youth that are without parents or adequate family resources?
- Are there identified staff members in the school who are responsible for refugee children and youth? Has the school started to develop an information bank about cultural backgrounds, countries of origin, and local resources for referral and assistance? Who listens to the needs of newcomer children and youth as they identify them for themselves?

#### **Professional development**

- Do school counsellors, teachers, educational assistants, and parent groups support specialized learning and counselling initiatives for the needs of newcomer children and youth? Do they have access to the training, resources, teaching materials, and continued learning opportunities needed to develop local responses to the influx of newcomers into the neighbourhood and schools? What policies support these changes?
- Are there appropriate in-service training opportunities on meeting the needs of newcomer children and youth? Are there opportunities for further training and professional growth for staff and volunteers in the areas of trauma recovery for children and youth, multicultural settlement issues, and personal and corporate support of existing and new initiatives?

### **Extended Opportunities for Learning and Recreation**

Are there opportunities for specialized or inclusive play, recreation, and cultural and social pursuits in the area? Are there any after school clubs, school year initiatives, summer months camps, and holiday initiatives and projects for newcomer and bilingual children and youth in their specialized needs? Is there local cooperation with these initiatives offered regionally, including financial and resource allocations as a school?

#### **School Environment and Supports**

- □ What is the quality of hospitality for newcomers in a particular school or neighbourhood? The school support staff personnel are often the first point of contact for new students who are accessing the education system.
  - □ Is your school newcomer/refugee friendly?
  - □ Is there a reception protocol in place?
  - □ Are staff members aware of the reception protocol?
  - □ Are certain staff members identified as being responsible for carrying out the protocol?
- □ Is there a "buddy" system for newly arrived students in their first days? Are buddies briefed for the job, which should include making sure that the new students know where the toilets and water fountains are and how to use them, as well as what to do about lunch and making sure that the new students know where to go for different classes and that they are introduced to their teachers? Are the teachers given appropriate and timely information about the new students as well?
- What encouragement can newcomer children and youth find to speak their language and celebrate their culture?
- Does the school acknowledge different religious and family holidays, special occasions, grieving ceremonies, and inclusive attitudes in more mainstream community observations?
- How does the school act to counter hostility and the racist bullying of refugees? Are their learning opportunities to help with hospitality, communication skills, and conflict resolution skills that include these situations for newcomers?
- Do teachers, school counsellors, and administrative staff have a good working knowledge of the range of programming and referrals available, and gaps in services for the needs of refugee newcomer children and youth? Do these include language, mental health, settlement needs, conflict resolution skills, communication skills, family cultural assumptions and differences, and opportunities for advocacy for mainstream and newcomer children and youth to develop together that acknowledge their experiences of war and organized violence in the world?
- ❑ What is the quality of newcomer student assessments for past educational experiences and gaps in education? Is there an individual assessment about primary modes and preferred styles of learning (e.g., kinæsthetic, auditory, and visual) that will assist the teacher(s) in accelerating learning in order to close gaps in past and present learning?
- What provisions does the school make for tutoring, language acquisition, and ongoing assessment to monitor progress toward student and school educational goals and expectations?
- Are there alternatives to normal disciplinary actions that take into account the emotional needs of students who are survivors of war, multiple traumas, multiple losses, and missing resources? What supports do teachers require in these special circumstances so that the needs of all students are met? What impact do suspensions have on the family?

#### **Parental and Community Involvement**

- How does the school work make links with refugee parents, including those with beginning English or French skills, to assist in their children's learning?
- Does the local school have access to materials developed in languages spoken at home for caregivers and parents to help them understand the Canadian school systems, family law, and school work assumptions? Could these materials be developed and shared by schools and districts?
- Are there linkages with local cultural, religious, and language community groups appropriate to newcomer students?
- Do parents receive information about the schools' particular requirements and policies? Is this information translated? Do you have the opportunity to talk to parents about school rules and requirements? What expectations do parents have of the school?

# References

- Abedi, J. (2011). Language issues in the design of accessible items. In S. N. Elliott, R. J. Kettler, P. A. Beddow, & A. Kurz, *Handbook of accessible achievement tests for all students: bridging the gaps between research, practices, and policy.* New York: Springer Publisher.
- Abedi, J. (2012). Validity issues in designing accommodations. In G. Fulcher & F. Davidson, *The Routledge handbook of language testing in a nutshell*. Florence, KY: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Abedi, J. & Gándara, P. (2006). Performance of English language learners as a subgroup in large-scale assessment: Interaction of research and policy. In *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practices,* 36, 4. <<u>http://m.freedomfromtorture.org/sites/default/files/documents/</u>summerfield-childhood%202000.pdf>.
- Achren, L. (1991). Do we assume too much? Measuring the cross-cultural appropriacy of our teaching aids. *Prospect*, *6*(2), 25–38.
- Adams, S. A., & Riggs, S. A. (2008). An exploratory study of vicarious trauma among therapist trainees. *Training and Education*, 2(1), 26–34. Retrieved from <<u>http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/1931-3918.2.1.26</u>>.
- Aguilar, P. & Retamal, G. (1998). Rapid educational response in complex emergencies: A discussion document. Geneva, Switzerland: International Bureau of Education. Retrieved from <<u>http://eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED431675.pdf</u>>.
- Ahearn, F. L., & Atley, J.L. (Eds.). (1991). *Refugee children: Theory, research, and services*. Baltimore, MD: The John Hopkins University Press.
- Ali, A. H. (2010). *Nomad: From Islam to America*. New York, NY: Free Press: a division of Simon and Schuster, Inc.
- Allender, S.C. (June 1998). Adult ESL learners with special needs: Learning from the Australian perspective. *ERIC Digest*.
- American Psychological Association. (2010). *Resilience and recovery after war: Refugee children and families in the United States.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Anderson, A., Hamilton, R., Moore, D., Loewen, S., & Frater-Mathieson, K. (2004). Education of refugee children: Theoretical perspectives and best practice. In R. Hamilton & D. Moore (Eds.), *Educational interventions for refugee children* (pp. 1–12). New York: Routledge.
- August, D., Beck, I. L., Calderón, M., Francis, D.J., Lesaux, N.K., & Shanahan, T. (2008). Instruction and professional development. In D. August & T. Shanahan (Eds.), *Developing reading and writing in second-language learners. Lessons from the report of the National Literacy Panel on Language-Minority Children and Youth.* New York, NY: Routledge.
- Barbanel, K.W. Saakvitine, & B.H. Stamm. (2003). *Fostering mental health workers' resilience in response to terrorism*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. <a href="https://www.georgiadisaster.info/MentalHealth/MH16%20SecondaryStress/Fostering%20Resilience%20Mental%20Health%20Workers.pdf">www.georgiadisaster.info/MentalHealth/MH16%20SecondaryStress/Fostering%20Resilience%20Mental%20Health%20Workers.pdf</a>>.
- Beah, I. (2007). A long way gone. Vancouver, British Columbia: Douglas and McIntyre Ltd.
- Bell, H., Kulkarni, S., & Dalton, L. (2003). Organizational prevention of vicarious trauma. *Families in Society*, 84(4), 463–481.

- Betancourt, T.S. (2011). Sierra Leone's war-affected youth: A longitudinal study of risk and resilience. Harvard School of Public Health. Retrieved from <<u>www.iom.edu/~media/Files/Activity%20Files/Global/ViolenceForum/</u> 2011-APR-28/Betancourt-War-affectedyouthinSierraLeone.pdf>.
- Betancourt, T. S., Borisova, I. I., Williams, T. P., Brennan, R. T., Withfield, T. H., de la Soudiere, M., Williamson, J., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Sierra Leone's former child soldiers: A follow-up study of psychological adjustment and community reintegration. *Child Development*, 81(4), 1077–1095.
- Betancourt, T.S., & Khan, K.T. (2008). The mental health of children affected by armed conflict: Protective processes and pathways to resilience. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 20(3), 317–328.
- Birman, D. (2005). *Refugee children with low literacy skills or interrupted education: Identifying challenges and strategies*, 24. Denver, CO: Spring Institute for Intercultural Learning. Retrieved from <<u>www.springinstitute.org/Files/refugeechildrenbehavior3.pdf</u>>.
- Birman, D., & Chan, W. Y. (2008). Screening and assessing immigrant and refugee youth in schoolbased mental health programs. *Issue Brief 1*, Center on Health and Health Care in Schools, George Washington University.
- Birman, D., Weinstein, T., Chan, W. Y., & Beehler, S. (2007). Immigrant youth in U.S. schools: Opportunities for prevention. *The Prevention Researcher*, *14*, 14–17.
- Bloom, S. L. (2003). Caring for the caregiver: Avoiding and treating vicarious trauma, in sexual assault, victimization across the lifespan. A. Giardino, et al. (Eds.). (pp. 459–470). Maryland Heights, MO: GW Medical Publishing.
- Bonanno, G., & Mancini, A. (2008). The human capacity to thrive in the face of potential trauma. *Pediatrics*, *121*, 369–375.
- Boyden J., & de Berry, J. (2004). *Children and youth on the front line: Ethnography, armed conflict and displacement*. Berghahn Books.
- Bremner, J. D. (1999). Does stress damage the brain? *Biological Psychiatry*; 45(7): 797–805. Retrieved from <<u>http://homepage.psy.utexas.edu/homepage/faculty/Salinas/PTSD.BioPsychia/</u> <u>26BrnDmge%3F.pdf</u>>.
- Bride, B. E. (2004). The impact of providing psychosocial services to traumatized populations. *Stress, Trauma and Crisis*, 7(1), 29–46.
- Bride, B. E. (2007). Prevalence of secondary traumatic stress among social workers. *Social Work*, 52(1), 63–70.
- Bride, B. E., Robinson, M. M., Yegidis, B. L., & Figley, C. R. (2004). Development and validation of the secondary traumatic stress scale. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *14*(1), 27–35.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2006). The bioecological model of human development. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology, Volume 1: Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed.) (pp. 793–828). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Inc., xx, 1063 pp. Retrieved from <<u>www.columbia.edu/cu/psychology/courses/3615/Readings/Bronfenbrenner ModelofDevelopment.pdf</u>>.
- Brooks, R. B. (1994). Children at risk: Fostering resilience and hope. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 64, 545–553.
- Calderón, M. E (2007). *Teaching reading to English language learners, Grades 6-12: A framework for improving achievement in the content areas.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Canadian Council for Refugees. *Talking about refugees and immigrants: A glossary of terms*. Montréal, QC. Retrieved from <<u>http://ccrweb.ca/glossary.PDF</u>>.
- Cassity, E., & Gow, G. (2006). *Making up for lost time: Young African refugees in Western Sydney high schools*, Centre for Cultural Research, University of Western Sydney, Sydney. Retrieved from <<u>www.uws.edu.au/\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0016/46321/MakingUpForLostTime\_complete.pdf</u>>.
- Christiansen, J., Christiansen, J. L., & Howard, M. (1997). Using protective factors to enhance resilience and school success for at-risk students. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 33(2).
- Citizenship and Immigration Canada. (2011). *Canada: Facts and figures: Immigration overview: Permanent and temporary residents: 2010.* Ottawa, ON: Citizenship and Immigration Canada.
- Cleave, C. (2009). Little Bee. Canada: Anchor Canada a division of Random House of Canada Limited.
- Cloninger, C. R. (2004). Feeling good: The science of well-being. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Coetzee, S. K. & Klopper, H. C. (2010). Compassion fatigue within nursing practice: A concept analysis. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *12*, 235–243.
- Craig, S. (2008). *Reaching and teaching children who hurt: Strategies for your classroom*. Baltimore, MD: Paul Brookes Publishing.
- Crawford, E., Wright, M. O., & Masten, A. (2005). Resilience and spirituality in youth. *Roehlkepartain*. In P. E. King, L. Wagener, & P. L. Benson (Eds.), *The resource of spiritual development in childhood and adolescence* (pp. 355–370). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cunningham, M. (2003). Impact of trauma work on social work clinicians: Empirical findings. *Social Work*, *48*(4), 451–459.
- DeCapua, A., & Marshall, H. W. (2010a). Limited formally schooled English language learners in U.S. classrooms. *Urban Review*, 42, 159–173.
- DeCapua, A., & Marshall, H.W. (2010b). Serving ELLs with limited or interrupted education: Intervention that works. *TESOL Journal*, *1*, 49–70.
- DeCapua, A., & Marshall., H. W. (2011a). *Breaking new ground: Teaching English learners with limited or interrupted formal education in U. S. secondary schools.* Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- DeCapua, A., & Marshall, H.W. (2011b). Reaching ELLs at risk: Instruction for students with limited/interrupted formal education. *Preventing School Failure*, 55, 35–41.
- DeCapua, A., Smathers, W., & Tang, F. (2007). Addressing the challenges and needs of students with interrupted formal education (SIFE). *Educational Policy and Leadership*, 65, 40–46.
- DeCapua, A., Smathers, W., & Tang, F. (2009). *Students with limited or interrupted schooling: A guide for educators*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Department for Victorian Communities. (2005). *Good practice principles: A guide for working with refugee young people*. Victoria, Australia: Department for Victorian Communities. Retrieved from <<u>www.education.vic.gov.au/studentlearning/programs/esl/refugees/safewsupp.htm</u>>.
- Edmonds, R. (October 1979). Effective schools for the urban poor. The Association for supervision and curriculum development. *Educational Leadership Archives*, 15–24.

- Eggerman, M., & Panter-Brick. C. (July 2010). Suffering, hope, and entrapment: Resilience and cultural values in Afghanistan, *Social Science and Medicine*, *71*(1–2), 71–83.
- Figley, C. (1982, February). *Traumatization and comfort: Close relationships may be hazardous to your health*. Keynote presentation at the conference, Families and close relationships: Individuals in social interaction, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas.
- Figley, C. (Ed.). (1985). Trauma and its wake: The study and treatment of post-traumatic stress. In the *Psychosocial Stress Book Series*. New York: Brunner/Mazel.
- Figley, C. (1992). Secondary traumatic stress and disorder: Theory, research, and treatment. Paper presented at the First World Meeting of the International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies, Amsterdam, June 1992.
- Figley, C. (Ed.). (1995). Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized. London: Brunner-Routledge.
- Figley, C. (2002). Compassion fatigue: psychotherapists' chronic lack of self care. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 58(11), 1433–1441. Retrieved from <www.impact.arg.org/doc/kennisbank/1000011070-1.pdf>.
- Figley, C. (2012). *Compassion fatigue: An introduction*. Retrieved from <<u>www.giftfromwithin.org/html/What-is-Compassion-Fatigue-Dr-Charles-Figley.html</u>>.
- Flynn R. J., Dudding P. M., & Barber J. G. (Eds.). (2006). *Promoting resilience in child welfare*. Ottawa, ON: University of Ottawa Press.
- Fraser, Mark (Ed.). (2004). The ecology of childhood: A multisystems perspective *Risk and resilience in childhood. An ecological perspective*. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers.
- Freeman, Y. & Freeman, D. (2002). Closing the achievement gap: How to reach limited-formalschooling and long-term English learners. Portsmouth, N.H.: Heinemann.
- Freeman, Y., & Freeman, D. (2003). Struggling English language learners: Keys for academic success. *TESOL Journal*, *12*(3), 18–23.
- Freudenberger, H. J. (1980), Burn-out: The high cost of high achievement. London, UK: Anchor Press.
- Freudenberger H. J. (1984). Impaired clinicians: Coping with burnout. In P. A. Keller & L. Ritt (Eds.), *Innovations in clinical practice: A source book* (Vol. 3) (pp. 223–227). Sarasota, FL: Professional Resource Exchange.
- Garmezy, N. (1988). Stressors of childhood. *Stress, coping, and development in children* (pp. 43–84). N. Garmezy & M. Rutter (Eds.). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Garmezy, N., Masten, A. S., & Tellegen, A. (1984). The study of stress and competence in children: A building block for developmental psychopathology. *Child Development*, 55, 97–111.
- Geltman, P. L., Augustyn, M., Barnett, E. D., Klass, P. E., & Groves, B. M. (2000). War trauma experience and behavioral screening of Bosnian refugee children resettled in Massachusetts. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 21(4), 255–261.
- Geres, K. (2010). Using digital narratives with refugee and immigrant youth to promote literacy, *healing, and hope.* Saskatoon, SK: Stirling McDowell Foundation.
- Gerhardt, S. (2004). Why love matters. New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge.

- German, M. (2008). Educational psychologists promoting the emotional well-being and resilience of refugee parents. *Educational and Child Psychology*, 25(2), 91. © The British Psychological Society.
- Gibbons, P. (2009). *English learners academic literacy and thinking: Learning in the challenge zone*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Gladstone, M.J., Lancaster, G.A., Jones, A.P., Maleta, K., Mtitimila, E., Ashorn, P., & Smyth, R.L. (2008). Can Western developmental screening tools be modified for use in a rural Malawian setting? *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, *93*, 23–29.
- Gokiert, R. J., Chow, W., Parsa, B., Rajani, N., Bisanz, J., & Vandenberghe, C. (2010). Early childhood screening in immigrant and refugee populations. In *Community-University Partnership for the Study of Children, Youth, Families (CUP)*. Edmonton, AB: Faculty of Extension, University of Alberta, Yvonne Chui Multicultural Health Brokers Co-Operative.
- Gordon K.A. (1995). The self-concept and motivational patterns of resilient African American high school students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 21, 239–255.
- Greenwald, R. (2009). *Treating problem behaviors: A trauma-informed approach*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gunderson, Lee. (2009). *ESL (ELL) Literacy instruction: A guidebook to theory and practice*. (2nd ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Hamilton, M. 2007. *What school leaders need to know about secondary traumatic stress*. Retrieved from <<u>http://beyond-balance.com/documents/leaders\_article.pdf</u>>.
- Hek, R. (2005). *The experiences and needs of refugee and asylum seeking children in the UK: A literature review*. Birmingham, UK: National Education Children's Fund, University of Birmingham.
- Herbert, P., & McFeeter, J. (Eds.). (1994). Classroom considerations: A practical guide to teaching beginning language and literacy. Melbourne, Australia: AMES Victoria. ERIC No. ED 394 360
- Hiffeldt, C. (1985). Picture perception and interpretation among pre-literate adults. *Passage: A Journal of Refugee Education*, 1(1), 27–30. ERIC No. ED 254 099
- Hood, S., & Kightley. (1991). *Literacy development: A longitudinal study*. Sydney, Australia: NSW Adult Multicultural Education Services (AMES).
- Horsman, J. (2000). Too scared to learn. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hudek, C. (2007). Dealing with vicarious traumatization in the context of global fear. *The Folio*, 20(1). Retrieved from <<u>www.focusing.org/folio/Vol20No12007/12\_DealingWith\_R.pdf</u>>.
- Huntington, M. (1992). A late start: A literacy program for non-literate adult migrants. Melbourne, Australia: AMES Victoria.
- International Committee of the Red Cross. (2009). *Children in war*. Retrieved from <www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/publication/p1015.htm>.
- Jackson, E. (1994). *Non-language outcomes in the adult migrant English program*. Sydney, Australia: National Centre for English Language Teaching and Research (NCELTR).
- Kanu, Y. (2008). Educational needs and barriers for African refugee students in Manitoba. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 31(4), 915–940.

- Kenardy, De Young, Le Brocque, and March. (2011). Teacher self-care: Teacher-childhood trauma. *Reactions: Tip Sheet Series*, CONROD, University of Queensland. Retrieved from <<u>www.uq.edu.au/conrod/docs/TipSheet\_teacherselfcare\_CONROD.pdf</u>>.
- Killian, K. D. (2008). Helping till it hurts? A multimethod study of compassion fatigue, burnout, and self-care in clinicians working with trauma survivors. *Traumatology*, *14*(2), 32–44.
- Klingman, A. (2002). Children under stress of war. In A. La Greca, W. K. Silverman, E. Vernberg, & M. C. Roberts (Eds.), *Helping children cope with disasters and terrorism* (pp. 359–380). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Koplow, L. (2002). *Creating schools that heal: Real-life solutions*. New York, NY: Teacher's College, Columbia University Press.
- Koplow, L. (Ed.). (2007). *Unsmiling faces: How preschools can heal* (2nd edition). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Koplow, L. (Ed.). (2008). Bears, bears everywhere: Supporting children's emotional health in the classroom. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Kugler, E. (2009). Partnering with parents and families to support immigrant and refugee children at school. *Issue Brief 2*. Center for Health and Health Care in Schools. Retrieved from <<u>http://v5.healthinschools.org/Immigrant-and-Refugee-Children/~/media/</u> <u>48FDB9013C3C454AB6EC9E491D752AA0.ashx</u>>.
- Kugler, E. G., and Price, A. O. (2009). *Helping immigrant and refugee students succeed: It's not just, what happens in the classroom.* Center for Health and Health Care in Schools. Retrieved from <<u>www.embracediverseschools.com/images/Helping-immigrant-students-succeed-article.pdf</u>>.
- Langlois J. A., Rutland-Brown W, & Wald M. M. (2006). The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: A brief overview. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *21*, 375–378.
- Lau, W., & Thomas, T. (2008). Research into the psychological well-being of young refugees. *International Journal of Psychiatry*, 5(3), 60–62.
- Leiter, M. P., & Maslach, C. (2005). *Banishing burnout: Six strategies for improving your relationship with work*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lewis, T., Amini, F., & Lannon, R. (2001). A general theory of love. New York: Vintage Books.
- Lewthwaite, B. E. (Ed.). (2011). University of Manitoba Centre for Research in Youth, Science Teaching and Learning: Applications and utility of Urie Bronfenbrenner's bio-ecological theory (pp. 18–23). Winnipeg, MB: MERN.
- Lucey, M., Chaffee, M., Terry, D., Le Marbre, J., Stone, B., & Wiencek, D. (2000). *Mental health and the ESL classroom: A guide for teachers working with refugees*. Boston, MA: International Institute of Boston.
- Luthar, S.S., Cicchetti, D., & Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Development*, 71(3), 543–562.
- Lyman, D.R., Njoroge, W.F.M., & Willis, D.W. (2007). Early childhood psychosocial screening in culturally diverse populations: A survey of clinical experience with the ages and stages questionnaires: social-emotional (ASQ: SE). *Zero to Three*, *27*(5), 46–54.
- Mace-Matluck, B., Alexander-Kasparik, R., & Queen, R.M. (1998). *Through the golden door: Educational approaches for immigrant adolescents with limited schooling.* McHenry, IL: Center for Applied Linguistics and Delta Systems Co., Inc.

- Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism. *Welcoming communities Manitoba*. Retrieved from <<u>www.gov.mb.ca/immigration/programs/communities.html</u>>.
- Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism, Immigration Division. (2011). *Manitoba immigration facts: 2011 statistical report*. Winnipeg, MB: Manitoba Immigration and Multiculturalism. Retrieved from <<u>www.gov.mb.ca/immigration/pdf/mpnp-manitoba-immigration-statistics-facts-2011.pdf</u>>.
- Manyak, P. C. (2004a). Literacy instruction, disciplinary practice, and diverse learners: A case study. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, *4*, 129–149.
- Manyak, P.C. (2004b). What did she say? Translation in a primary-grade English immersion class. *Multicultural Perspectives*, *6*, 12–18.
- Maslach, C. (2005). Burnout—The cost of caring, Cambridge, MA: ISHK.
- Masten, A. S. (2001). Ordinary magic. Resilience process in development. *American Psychologist*, 56(3), 227–238.
- Mathieu, F. (2007a). Running on empty: Compassion fatigue in health care professionals. *Rehabilitation and Community Care Medicine*, 8–10.
- Mathieu, F. (2007b). Transforming compassion fatigue into compassion satisfaction: Top 12 self-care tips for helpers. *Rehabilitation and Community Care Medicine*. Retrieved from <<u>www.compassionfatigue.org/pages/Top12SelfCareTips.pdf</u>>.
- McCann, I. L., & Pearlman, L. A. (1990). Vicarious traumatization: A framework for understanding the psychological effects of working with victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *3*, 131–149.
- McEwen, E.P. (2007). *Risk and resilience in refugee children*. (Unpublished master's thesis.) Saskatoon, SK: University of Saskatchewan.
- Meichenbaum, D. (2007). Understanding resilience in children and adults: Implications for prevention and interventions. Retrieved from <<u>www.melissainstitute.org</u>>.
- Meichenbaum, D. (2012). Self-care for trauma psychotherapists and caregivers: Individual, social and organizational interventions. Retrieved from <<u>www.melissainstitute.org</u>>.
- Middlebrooks, J. S., & Audage, N. C. (2008). *The effects of childhood stress on health across the lifespan*. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Retrieved from <<u>www.cdc.gov/ncipc/pub-res/pdf/childhood\_stress.pdf</u>>.
- Miller, K. E., & Rasco, L. M. (Eds.). (2004). *The mental health of refugees; Ecological approaches to healing and adaptation*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Mollica R.F. (2006). *Healing invisible wounds: Paths to hope and recovery in a violent world*. NY: Harcourt, Inc.
- Montgomery E. (2005). Traumatised refugee families—The child's perspective. In P. Perliner, J. G. Arrenas, & J. O. Haagensen (Eds.), *Torture and organised violence*. Dansk Psykologis Forlag, København.
- Montgomery E. (2010). Trauma and Resilience in young refugees: A 9 year follow-up study. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22, 477–489.
- Montgomery E., & Foldspang A. (2008). Discrimination, mental problems and social adaptation in young refugees. *European Journal of Public Health*, 18(2), 156–61. (electronic prepublication, 2007).

- Moore, H., Nicholas, H., & Deblaquiere, J. (2008). Opening the door: Provision for refugee youth with minimal/no schooling in the adult migrant English program. *Project 2.1: Modes of Delivery for SPP Youth*. Commonwealth of Australia: AMEP Research Centre.
  <www.ameprc.mq.edu.au/docs/research reports/research report series/Opening the door.pdf>.
- Morgan, J., & Behrendt, A. (2009). *Silent suffering: The psychosocial impact of war, HIV and other high-risk situations on girls and boys in West and Central Africa*. Plan International. Retrieved from <www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ViolenceAgstChildren/Silent\_Suffering\_200409.pdf>.
- Motta, R.W., Kefer, J.M., Hertz. M.D, & Hafeez, S. (1999). Initial evaluation of the secondary trauma questionnaire. *Psychological Reports*. 85, 997–1002.
- Nambaje, Dr. A. (1994). *The trauma of war* (adapted from UNICEF's Children in war). Retrieved from <<u>www.unicef.org/sowc96/7trauma.htm</u>>.
- National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (n.d.). *Defining trauma and child traumatic stress*. USA: National Child Traumatic Stress Network. Retrieved from <<u>www.nctsnet.org/content/defining-trauma-and-child-traumatic-stress</u>>,
- National Child Traumatic Stress Network, Refugee Trauma Task Force. (2003). *Review of child and adolescent refugee mental health*. USA: National Child Traumatic Stress Network. Retrieved from <<u>www.nctsnet.org</u>>.
- National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (2008). *Child welfare trauma training toolkit*. USA: National Child Traumatic Stress Network. Retrieved from <www.nctsnet.org/products/child-welfare-trauma-training-toolkit-2008>.
- National Clearinghouse on Family Violence. (2001). Guidebook on vicarious trauma: Recommended solutions for anti-violence workers. Retrieved from <<u>http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2008/phac-aspc/ H72-21-178-2000E.pdf</u>>.
- National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). (Revised 2006) *Helping children and adolescents cope with violence and disasters: What parents can do* (p. 3). Retrieved from <<u>www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/helping-children-and-adolescents-cope-</u> <u>with-violence-and-disasters-parents/index.shtml</u>
- Nelson, T.S. *Vicarious trauma: Bearing witness to another's trauma*. Retrieved from <<u>www.uic/edu/orgs/convening/vicariou.htm</u>>.
- Newman, T., & Blackburn, S. (2002). *Transitions in the lives of children and young people: Resilience factors*. Retrieved from <<u>www.scotland.gov.uk/topics/research</u>>.
- New Zealand Immigration Service. (2004). *Refugee voices: A journey towards resettlement*. New Zealand Department of Labour. Retrieved from <<u>www.immigration.govt.nz/NR/rdonlyres/18C717C0-0720-4CFA-A81D-672BBDE406CF/0/RefugeeVoicesExecutiveSummary.pdf</u>>.
- Northwood, A. Secondary Traumatization and Stress Management. *Report from the Center for Victims of Torture*.

Retrieved from <<u>http://cvt.hutman.net/files/pg114/Secondary%20Traumatization%20and%20</u> <u>Stress%20Management-upd</u>>.

Oehlberg, B. (2006). *Reaching and teaching stressed and anxious learners in Grades 4–8: Strategies for relieving distress and trauma in schools and classrooms.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Padilla, A.M. (2001). Issues in culturally appropriate assessment. In L.A. Suzuki, J.G. Ponterotto, &
  P.J. Meller (Eds.), *Handbook of multicultural assessment: Clinical, psychological and educational implications* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Panos, A. (2007). Understanding and preventing compassion fatigue—A handout for professionals. Retrieved from <<u>www.giftfromwithin.org/html/prvntcf.html</u>>.
- Pearlman, L. A., & MacIan, P. S. (1995). Vicarious traumatization: An empirical study of the effects of trauma work on trauma therapists. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 23, 353–361.
- Pearlman L. A., & Saakvitne K. W. (1995). *Trauma and the therapist: Counter transference and vicarious traumatization in psychotherapy with incest survivors*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company.
- Perry, B. D. (1995) The child's loss: Death, grief & mourning: General guidelines for caretakers of children experiencing death. <<u>www.trauma-pages.com/s/perrylos.php</u>>.
- Persson, T. J., & Rousseau, C. (2009). School-based intervention programs for refugee children in war-exposed countries: A review of the evidence. *Torture*, *19*(2), 88–101.
- Potocky-Tripodi, M. (2002). *Best practices for social work with refugees and immigrants*. New York, New York: Columbia University Press.
- Pross, C. (2006). Burnout, vicarious traumatization and its prevention. *Torture*, *16*, 1–9. Retrieved from <<u>www.irct.org/Files/Filer/TortureJournal/16\_1\_2006/page\_1-9.pdf</u>>.
- Queensland Program of Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma (QPASTT). (2007). A school counselling guide to working with students from refugee and displaced backgrounds. Fairfield, Queensland: Queensland Program of Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma (QPASTT). Retrieved from <<u>www.qpastt.org.au/documents/Schoolcounselling2007.pdf</u>>.
- Ramm, J. (1994). Designing materials. In P. Herbert and J. McFeeter (Eds.), *Classroom considerations: A practical guide to teaching beginning language and literacy* (pp. 1–12). Melbourne, Australia: AMES Victoria. 1–12 (ERIC No. ED 319 929).
- Refugee Health Reserach Centre. (August 2007). *Good starts for refugee youth: Broadsheet #1*. Melbourne, AU: La Trobe Refugee Research Centre. Retrieved from <<u>www.latrobe.edu.au/larrc/research/completed/good-starts-study</u>>.
- Refugee Health Research Centre. (October 2007). *Good starts for refugee youth: Broadsheet #3*. Melbourne, AU: La Trobe Refugee Research Centre. Retrieved from <www.latrobe.edu.au/larrc/research/completed/good-starts-study>.
- Remer, R., & Elliot, J. (1988). Characteristics of secondary victims of sexual assault. *International Journal of Family Psychiatry*, 9(4), 373–387.
- Rhodes, R., Ochoa, S., & Ortiz, S. (2005). *Assessing culturally and linguistically diverse students: A practical guide*. New York, NY: Guildford Press.
- Richman, N. (1993). *Communicating with children; Helping children in distress*. London, UK: Save the Children.
- Richman, N. (1998). *In the midst of the whirlwind: A manual for helping refugee children*. Staffordshire, England: Trentham Books Limited.
- Rousseau, C., Benoit, M., Gauthier, M.-F., Lacroix, L., Alain, N., Viger Rojas, M., *et al.* (2007). Classroom drama therapy program for immigrant and refugee adolescents: A pilot study. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 12(3), 451–465.

- Rousseau, C., & Drapeau, A. (1998). The impact of culture on the transmission of trauma: Refugees' stories embodied in their children's lives. In Y. Danieli (Ed.), International handbook of *multigenerational legacies of trauma* (pp. 465–486). New York: Plenum Press.
- Rousseau, C., & Guzder, J. (2008). School-based prevention programs for refugee children. Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 17, 533–549 Retrieved from <www.nps.ugam.ca/prevention/rousseau.pdf>.
- Rousseau C, Lacroix L, Bagilishya D, et al. (2003). Working with myths: Creative expression workshops for immigrant and refugee children in a school setting. Journal of the American Art *Therapy Association*, 20(1), 3–10.
- Rousseau, C., Lacroix, L. Singh, A., Gauthier, M. F., & Benoit, M. (2005). Creative expression workshops in school: Prevention programs for immigrant and refugee children. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 14(3). Retrieved from <www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2542909/>.
- Rousseau, C., Said, T. M., Gagné, M., & Bibeau, G. (1998). Resilience in unaccompanied Minors from the North of Somali. Psychoanalytic Review, 85, 615-637.
- Rutter, Michael. (2000). Resilience reconsidered: Conceptual considerations, empirical findings, and policy implications. In J. P. Shonkoff & S. J. Meisels (Eds.), Resource of early childhood intervention. Cambridge University Press.
- Rutter, M., Giller, H., & Hagell, A. (1998). Antisocial behavior by young people. New York and London: Cambridge University Press.
- Saakvitne, K.W., Pearlman, L.A., & Staff of TSI/CAAP (1996). Transforming the pain: A workbook on vicarious traumatization. New York: W.W. Norton.
- Schargel, F. P., & Smink, J. (2001). Strategies to help solve our school dropout problem. Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.
- Schmidt, S., Morland, L., & Rose, J. (2006). Growing up in a new country: A positive youth development toolkit for working with refugees and immigrants. Retrieved from <www.brycs.org>.
- Scott, S. H. (2009). Executive summary—Resilience in undocumented, unaccompanied children: Perceptions of the past and future outlook. Washington, DC: The National Catholic School of Social Service, Catholic University of America.
- Seginer R. (2008). Future orientation in times of threat and challenge: How resilient adolescents construct their future. International Journal of Behavioral Development, 32(4), 272-282.
- Shields, M. K., & Behrman, R. E. (2004). Children of immigrant families: Analysis and recommendations. The Future of Children, 14(2), 4–15.
- Simpson, L. R., & Starkey, D. S. (2006). Secondary traumatic stress, compassion fatigue, and counselor spirituality: Implications for counselors working with trauma. Retrieved from <www.counseling.org/resources/library/Selected Topics/Crisis/Simpson.htm>.
- Sloane, A. (2010). Building a peaceful village: Enlarging the commons in Winnipeg's inner city. *M.A.S.S. Journal*, 11(1), 24.

Retrieved from <www.mass.mb.ca/documents/mass journal spring2010.pdf>.

- Slotin, I., & MacPherson, S. (2006). Teaching values in action: A content-based, activity-based human rights unit for adolescent ESL students. Planning and teaching creatively within a required curriculum for school-age learners. In P. McKay (Ed.), *TESOL Language Curriculum Development Series*. Alexandria, VA: Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Inc.
- Sommer, C. A. (2008). Vicarious traumatization, trauma-sensitive supervision, and counselor preparation. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 48, 61–71.
- Springer, J. F., & Phillips, J. L. (1997). *Individual protective factors index: A measure of adolescent resiliency*. Retrieved from <<u>www.emt.org/userfiles/ipfi.pdf</u>>.
- Stamm, B.H. (Ed.) (1996). *Measurement of trauma, stress and adaptation*. Lutherville, MD: Sidran Press.
- Stamm, B. H. (Ed.). (1999). Secondary traumatic stress: Self-care issues for clinicians, researchers, and educators (2nd ed.). Lutherville, MD: Sidran Press.
- Stamm B. H. (2010). The concise ProQOL manual. 2nd ed. Pocatello, ID: ProQOL.org.
- Stamm B. H., & Figley, C. R. (2009). Advances in the theory of compassion satisfaction and fatigue and its measurement with the ProQOL 5. Presented at the International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies Annual Conference. Atlanta, GA.
- Stewart, J. (2008). *Children affected by war: A bioecological investigation into their psychosocial and educational needs*. CCA, CASEA. Retrieved from <<u>www.uwinnipeg.ca/children-affected...war</u>>.
- Stewart, J. (2011). Supporting refugee children: Strategies for educators. Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.
- Stien, P., et al. (2003). Psychological trauma and the developing brain: Neurologically based interventions for troubled children. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Suárez-Orozco, C, Pimentel, A., & Martin, M. (2009). The significance of relationships: Academic engagement and achievement among newcomer immigrant youth. *Teachers College Record*, *111*(3), 712–749.
- Trang, T., & Lau, W. (2002). *Psychological well being of child and adolescent refugee and asylum seekers: Overview of major research findings in the past ten years*. Melbourne, Australia: Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission.
- Trippany, R. L., Kress, V. E. W., & Wilcoxon, S. A. (2004). Preventing vicarious trauma: What counselors should know when working with trauma survivors. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 82, 31–37.
- Tuchman, O. (2010). *Effective programs for English language learners (ELL) with interrupted formal education.* Office of English Language Learning and Migrant Education at the Indiana Department of Education.

Retrieved from <<u>www.brycs.org/documents/upload/ELLswithInterruptedFormalEducation.pdf</u>>.

- Ungar, M. (2004). *Nurturing hidden resilience in troubled youth*. Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.
- Ungar, M. (Ed.) (2005). *Resource for working with children and youth: Pathways to resilience across cultures and contexts*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Ungar, M. (2006). Strengths-based counselling for at-risk youth. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Ungar, M. (2008). Resilience across cultures. British Journal of Social Work, 38 (2), 218-235.

- Ungar, M., Clark, S., Kwong, W., Makhnach, A., & Cameron, C. (2005). Studying resilience across cultures. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Diversity in Social Work*, *14* (3/4), 1–19.
- UNICEF. (April 1997). Cape Town principles and practices on the recruitment of children into the armed forces and on demobilization and social reintegration of child soldiers in Africa. Cape Town, South Africa: UNICEF.

Retrieved from <<u>www.unicef.org/emerg/files/Cape\_Town\_Principles(1).pdf</u>>.

- UNICEF. (2009). The state of the world's children: Special edition: Celebrating 20 years of the convention on the rights of the child: Executive summary. New York, NY: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). Retrieved from <<u>www.unicef.org/rightsite/sowc/></u>.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (1951). *Convention relating to the status of refugees*. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Retrieved from <<u>www.unhcr.org/pages/49daOe466.html</u>>.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2012a). UNHCE global trends 2011. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Retrieved from <<u>www.unhcr.org/4dfa11499.html</u>>.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2011b). 2010 United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees statistical yearbook data. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Retrieved from <<u>www.unhcr.org/statistics</u>>.
- Vasquez, M., Han, A., & De Las Fuentes, C. (2006). Adaptation of immigrant girls and women. In J. Worell & C. D. Goodheart (Eds.), *Resource of girls' and women's psychological health: Gender* and well-being across the lifespan (pp. 439–446). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Victoria Department of Education and Early Childhood Development. (2008). *Strengthening outcomes: Refugee students in government schools*. Victoria, Australia: Department of Education and Early Childhood Development.
- Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture. (1996). A guide to working with young people who are *refugees*.

Retrieved from <<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications\_and\_resources.htm</u>>.

Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture. (2002). *The Rainbow Program for children in refugee families*.

Retrieved from <<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications\_and\_resources.htm</u>>.

Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture. (2004). *Healthwize health literacy teaching resource for refugee and other ESL students*.

Retrieved from <<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications\_and\_resources.htm</u>>.

- Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture. (2005). *Sexual violence and refugee women from West and Central Africa*. Retrieved from <www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications\_and\_resources.htm>.
- Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (2005). *Taking action—Human rights and refugee issues teaching resource*.

Retrieved from <<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications\_and\_resources.htm</u>>.

Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (2007). School's in for refugees: Whole-school guide to refugee readiness.

Retrieved from <<u>www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications\_and\_resources.htm</u>>.

- Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (2007). *The education needs of young refugees in Victoria*. VFST, Melbourne. Retrieved from <www.foundationhouse.org.au/resources/publications and resources.htm>.
- Vinogradov, P. (2009). *Principled preparation for teachers of adult low-literate learners*. Paper presented at the Sixth International Language Teacher Education Conference. Washington, DC, May 2009.
- Waaktaar, T, & Christie, H. J. (2000). Styrk sterke sider. Håndbok i resiliencegrupper for barn med psykososiale belastninger. Kommuneforlaget, Oslo.
- Waaktaar, T., Christie, H.J., Borge, A.I.H., & Torgersen, S. (2004). How can young people's resilience be enhanced? Experiences from a clinical intervention project. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 9(2), 167–183.
- Walker, M. (2009). *Skipping this Winnipeg class a mistake*. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Winnipeg Free Press. Retrieved from <<u>www.winnipegfreepress.com/arts-and-life/entertainment/movies/</u> <u>skipping-this-winnipeg-class-a-mistake-75721842.html</u>>.
- Werner, E. E., & Smith, R. S. (1992). *Overcoming the odds: High risk children from birth to adulthood*. New York: Cornell University Press.
- Wessells M., & Strang A. (2006). Religion as resource and risk: The double-edged sword for children in situation of armed conflict. In N. Boothby, A. Strang, & M. Wessells (Eds.), A world turned upside down: Social ecological approaches to children in war zones (pp. 199–222). Bloomfield, CT: Kumarian Press.
- Williams, N. (2010). Literature review ecological theory implications for research into the refugee parenting experience. *Journal of Child Health Care*, *14*(1), 1–17.
- Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction. *Resources for schools to help students affected by trauma learn.* <<u>http://dpi.wi.gov/sspw/pdf/mhtraumarsrcs.pdf</u>>.
- Yates, T. M., Egeland, B., & Sroufe, L. A. (2003). Rethinking resilience: A developmental process perspective. In. S. S. Luthar (Ed.), *Resilience and vulnerability: Adaptation in the context of childhood adversities*. Cambridge University Press.





